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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS DATA 2007 2008 2009

Revenues 253198 301576 $287468

Adjusted operating income 31439 36281 35455

Adjusted net income 25888 24530 25568

Adjusted net income
per

diluted share 0.78 73 0.76

BALANCE SHEET DATA

Cash and cash equivalents 29940 16450 15521

Total assets 221959 303542 288597

Total shareholders
equity 141956 140331 153343

in thousands except per
share data

Exdudes amortization of intangible assets stock-based compensation expense
and

non-recurring charges net ofgains

Net income and diluted income per share induding these items were $11.8 million and $0.36per share respectively

Excludes amortization ofintangible assets stock-based
compensation expense and non-recurring charges net ofgains

Net income and diluted income per share including these items were $11.0 million and $0.33
per share respectively

Exdudes amortization ofintangible assets stock-based compensation expense and non-recurring charges net ofgains

Net loss and diluted loss
per

share including these items were $9.4 million and $0.29 per share respectively

RECONCILIATION OF

ADJUSTED NET INCOME 2007 2008 2009

REPORTED NET INCOME LOSS 11843 11028 9398

Amortization of purchased intangibles 4301 7688 9265

Stock-based
compensation expense 3795 4646 4466

Impairment of goodwill 17008

Other charges and income net 67 1633 5044

Tax effect of adjusting items difference between the

Companys effective tax rate and cash tax rate 5882 465 817

ADJUSTED NET INCOME 25888 $24530 $25568

in thousands



FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

Radiants
technology redefines the customer

experience and greatly enhances revenue drivers

Speed of service consistent fast and accurate

service with an intuitive and reliable
point-of-

purchase Not just exceptionally fast

transactions but
systems so easy to use the

result is speed the first day on the job

Increased customer visits innovative

frequency programs exceptional convenience

and brand-building environment Its about

creating unique experience that compels the

customer to return again and again

Higher sales
per visit intelligent upselling

multi-profit center POS and point-of-purchase

promotions Its about providing customers with

greater value broad selection of products and

removing barriers to the sale

Reduction of shrink and fraud customer

order confirmation fraud detection and shrink

prevention Its about discovering ways revenue

is lost and ensuring that all revenue makes it to

the
top

line

Headquartered in Atlanta Radiant Systems Inc Nasdaq RADS is global provider

of innovative technology to the hospitality and retail industries For more than two

decades Radiants
point

of sale hardware and software solutions have helped to redefine

the consumer experience in more than 100000 restaurants retail stores stadiums

parks arenas cinemas convenience stores fuel centers and other

customer-service venues Radiant has offices in North America Europe Asia and

Australia For more information visit www.radiantsystems.com

Customers using its solutions include

7-Eleven Australia Alimentation Couche-Tard Archivers Batteries Plus Benihana

Brueggers Enterprises Burger King Corporation Cafe Rio Mexican Grill California

Pizza Kitchen CEC Entertainment Checkers Drive-In Restaurants Chick-fil-A

Chipotle Mexican Grill Choice Hotels International Churchs Chicken Clearview

Cinemas Clubcorp Financial Management Company Coors Field home of the

Colorado Rockies Cosi Cowboys Stadium Del Taco Dennys Diedrich Coffee

Dolphins Stadium Don Pablos Dunkin Brands Elvis Presley Enterprises Exxon

Mobil Corporation Family Express Fatburger Corporation FedEx Field home
of the Washington Redskins Focus Brands Harbor Freight Tools USA Harkins

Theatres Hess Corporation Highs of Baltimore Hillstone Restaurant Group

Holiday Stationstores Huddle House Invesco Field home of the Denver Broncos

Jamba juice Company Jasons Deli Joes Crab Shack Holdings Johnny Rockets

International Krispy Kreme Doughnut Corporation Kroger Corporation Landrys

Restaurants Larry Miller Megaplex Theatres Live Nation Mahoneys Garden

Center Maverik Country Stores Mortons of Chicago New World Restaurant Group

Noodles Company P.E Changs China Bistro Peets Coffee Tea Reading

International Red Robin International Relax the Back Corporation Repsol Rock

Bottom Restaurants Romanos Macaroni Grill Royal Dutch Shell Rutters Farm

Stores Sbarro Sheetz Shell Canada Showcase Cinemas Sizzler USA Restaurants

Smokey Bones Speedway SuperAmerica Staples Center home of the Los Angeles

Lakers and Los Angeles Clippers Teds Montana Grill Texas Roadhouse The

Athletes Foot The Field Museum and Wawa The Krystal Company The Marcus

Corporation United Center home of the
Chicago Bulls and Chicago Blackhawks

Wendys/Arbys Group Which Wich Wrigley Field home of the Chicago Cubs
Yankee Stadium Back Yard

Burgers Yoshinoya America and Zoes Kitchen



LETTER TO THE SHAREHOLDERS

If someone had told me year ago
that 2009 would be

the best in our companys history would have silently

questioned their ability to predict
the future and replied

How so In the aftermath of an unprecedented

economic storm Radiant now heads into its 25th

anniversary year riding wave of successes so great
that

the answers to that question are wide and deep

In the most adverse of times our performance was

remarkable We increased our leadership position

strengthened our business significantly and created

momentum in the business Financial highlights just

begin to speak to this success and they
include

In horrible economic climate revenues were relatively

stable down only 5%

Recurring revenues increased over 20% during the
year

We generated over $35 millionof adjusted operating

income and cash from operations

Of course these highlights are now in the
past

Our

highest priority at the beginning of the year was to get

stronger as company so that we could realize what we

continue to believe is an enormous growth opportunity

in front of us As will discuss below we became
stronger

than ever in virtually every area of the business And

because of the strength we built last year we know that

our best is yet to come

Some Perspective

At the beginning
of the

year
sites were closing

their doors businesses could not obtain capital

unemployment was soaring
and consumer confidence

had plunged We knew our business model provided us

with solid foundation but we also had to incorporate

lower demand into our business projections But we got

through the worst of the storm early in the
year

and we

soon started to hear stories that provided us with new

optimism

In hindsight the economic crisis led to larger success

that may not have been possible in healthier times For

example one customer told us that as they were forced

to shift their focus
away

from new store openings
due

to unavailable capital they began to focus on generating

greater profit from existing stores As their organization

looked at ways to better control inventory costs and

reduce employee theft they concluded that advanced

technology was the best way to achieve this Given

the strength of our relationship
with them and our

investment in new products they naturally looked to

Radiant In fact as many operators
reduced the number

of stores they opened they focused on driving more

revenues and profits out of their
existing

sites More than

ever they looked to Radiant

Last year our systems helped companies
handle nearly

eight billion consumer visits During those visits

consumers spent quarter of trillion dollars with

our customers Using the labor inventory and other

productivity tools built by Radiant our customers

realized more profit on their bottom lines The value we

deliver each day combined with the exceptional service

our people and
partners bring to our customers is

part

of the secret that led 2009 to be our best year ever Our

customer satisfaction new products new customer wins

recurring revenue growth and pipeline
of opportunities

are all leading
indicators that the best is yet to come



LETTER TO THE SHAREHOLDERS

Adding morevalue

pillar of our growth strategy
has been to add more

value to every one of our customers Our customers

face significant challenges in operating their sites and

we have an outstanding track record of delivering

them technology solutions to meet these challenges

While tracking returns on technology investments has

proven difficult for our customers over the
years

the

stories of what they have been able to do with Radiants

solutions continue to build It is increasingly common

for customers to see full payback within months of

installation Annual returns exceeding 50% are common

As we seek to continue to add even more value to our

customers we focus on two ongoing initiatives in our

businessinnovation and adoption

Innovation is made possible by the
amazing

work

of our RD teams Our teams understand that our

products must lead to improved profit performance for

our customers Radiant brought dozen new products

to market over the last few
years

The adoption rate of

some of these products is astounding Command Center

has
currently been adopted by over 20000 sites just 24

months after its release Other products which contribute

to significant profit margin gains
for our customers have

reached the multi-thousand site adoption rate within

two-year horizon as well For instance our Restaurant

Guard product has helped thousands of operators reduce

theft As we look into the
pipeline of new products

arriving in 2010 and 2011 we are very
excited about

our ability to add even more value to our customers and

tighten our partnership with each of them

We have innovated with our products and with our

revenue model to aid in the adoption of our solutions

An increasing percentage
of

existing customer sales are

structured to make our solutions easier to implement

maintain and afford Software as service SaaS is one

of the
ways

Radiant has delivered value to its customers

It is the fastest growing part of our recurring revenue

stream which provided Radiant with nearly half of its

revenues in 2009 Customers continue to embrace this

option more and more given
that

recurring revenues were

less than third of our sales three
years ago With no

upfront capital required this model allows customers to

match their payments with the realization of their profit

improvement

Of course every operator
is finding it more difficult to

access and rationalize capital investment Thus it has

become
increasingly important to create compelling

reason for an existing site to make switch to Radiant

We believe an emphasis on value-based sales tools and

more targeted bundles of our solution which directly

align to profit improvement will help companies not

looking for new system realize the timing to consider

change has never been better Judging from the early

returns our new customers have shown up in droves with

yes vote led by our specialty retail business which

actually grew revenues in 2009 using
these methods

Expanding and Penetrating Our Markets

In 2003 our addressable market was nearly $1 billion

based on our product fit and sales reach Today we

have increased our addressable market six-fold to over

$6 billion thanks to combination of acquisitions

new products and an entrepreneurial channel
partner

community employing more than 5000 people and

serving
small businesses around the globe



LETTER TO THE SHAREHOLDERS

Radiant has earned an approximate 5% share of this $6

billion market which makes the opportunity in front of

us very large at time when many of our competitors are

weakening There is little question that our aspiration

to become $1 billion company is achievable Our

leadership team has built
strategy to gain share grow

revenues and increase profit margins each
year even in

tough economic climate

Radiant possesses market leadership positions in the

following North American segments
table service

quick service movie theaters convenience stores

specialty retail shops stadiums and arenas We have

proven many times that when we apply our energy

to market amazing things happen Within these

markets we believe we can continue to gain significant

share through our value proposition our high levels of

customer satisfaction and the passion our entrepreneurial

employees and channel partners bring to our business

every day

In addition to gaining
share in North America we

have added over 500000 new sites to our addressable

international market over the last two years
50%

increase with several efforts including the Orderman

acquisition We now have the largest distribution

channel in Europe in the restaurant industry Our

product and sales teams are executing plans to deliver

products which will significantly increase our share with

their businesses Our hope is to quadruple our business

with each European partner over the next several
years

And we are eyeing expansion in Asia Pacific as well

Summary

This year marks our 25th anniversary We have

grown from five founders to team of over thirteen

hundred employees Our solutions are installed in over

100000 sites and our revenues and profits have grown

significantly driven by passion to deliver value to our

customers We are proud of this success but we also know

that over the next 25 years we can do even better and

that the opportunity in front of us is much larger than

the results we have realized to date

Our formula has evolved over the 25 years
of Radiants

existence Exceptional value of our products is delivered

by an unmatched distribution channel Investments in

innovation are enabled by predictability of revenues

Larger markets position
Radiant to grow for many years

to come And passionate
and capable workforce makes

this vision come to life
every day Those are the things

that led to our best
year ever at Radiant based on how we

keep score We are highly confident those are the same

things which led to substantial shareholder returns in

2009 and will continue to do so as far out as we can see

John Heyman

Chief Executive Officer

Mon Goren

Chairman and Chief

Technology
Officer
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Caution Regarding Forward-Looking Statements

This Annual Report on Form 10-K of Radiant Systems Inc and its subsidiaries Radiant Company we us or our contains forward-looking statements All

statements in this Annual Report on Form 10 including those made by the management of Radiant other than statcments of historical fact aie fotward.looking

statements Examples of forward-looking statements include statements regarding Radiants future financial results operating results business strategies projected

costs products competitive positions managements plans and objectives for future operations and industry trends These forward-looking statements are based on

managements estimates projections and assumptions as of the date hereof and include the assumptions that underlie such statements Forward-looking statements may
contain words such as may will should could would expect plan anticipate believe estimate predict potential and continue the

negative of these terms or other comparable terminology Any expectations based on these forward-looking statements are subject to risks and uncertainties and other

important factors including those discussed in this report including the sections titled Risk Factors and Managements Discussion and Analysis of Financial

Condition and Results of Operations Other risks and uncertainties are disclosed in Radiants prior Securities and Exchange Commission SEC filings These and

many other factors could affect Radiants future financial condition and operating results and could cause actual results to differ materially from expectations based on

forward-looking statements made in this document or elsewhere by Radiant or on its behalf Radiant undertakes no obligation to revise or update any forward-looking

statements

The following information should be read in conjunction with the Consolidated Financial Statements and the accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

included in this Annual Report

PART

ITEM BUSINESS

General

Founded in 1985 and headquartered in Aipharetta Georgia we are leading provider of innovative technology focused on the development installation and delivery of

solutions for managing site operations in the hospitality and retail industries Our
principal executive office is located at 3925 Brookside Parkway Alpharetta Georgia

30022 and our telephone number is 770 576-6000

We focus on delivering site systems including point-of-sale or POS self-service kiosks solution peripherals mobile ordering and payment devices back-office

systems site management technology and business services such as customer loyalty programs electronic gift card management comprehensive reporting systems

management electronic payment processing centralized data management and ongoing maintenance and support services designed specifically
for our two reportable

segments Hospitality and iiRetail For selected financial information about our business segments see Note 14 to the consolidated financial statements contained

elsewhere in this report Our offerings include software products site hardware professional services and support services Each product can be purchased

independently or as suite of integrated products to address the customers specific business needs We believe these products and services enable our customers to

drive
top-line growth and improve bottom-line performance

We offer best-of-breed solutions designed for ease of integration with operators existing infrastructures Our technology enables
hospitality and retail operators to

improve customer service while reducing costs Our solutions provide visibility and control at the site field and headquarters levels Additionally we focus on

addressing the unique requirements of the highly specialized environments in which our customers operate These environments require high degree of reliability

specialized functionality and peripheral compatibility Using our point-of-sale customer self-service back-office technology and business services our customers are

able to improve customer service and loyalty improve speed of service increase revenue per transaction and reduce fraud and shrink Our full line of open
standards-based hardware allows operators to deploy advanced technology built specifically for the environment in which they operate

We believe our current generation of point-of-sale customer self-service and hand-held ordering and payment devices which primarily utilize Windows Server

Windows Windows Embedded and Windows CE operating systems represents an innovative platform based on an open modular software and hardware

architecture that offers increased
functionality and stability compared to other systems in the marketplace

Recent acquisitions listed in order from most current to least current are summarized below

In July 2008 we acquired Orderman GmbH Orderman one of the leading manufacturers of wireless handheld ordering and payment devices for

the hospitality industry Orderman has provided innovative mobile solutions since 1994 and distributes its solutions through reseller network of

partners that have deployed their handheld devices predominately in Europe The results of these operations are reported under our Hospitality

segment

In May 2008 we acquired substantially all of the assets of Jadeon Inc Jadeon one of our resellers in California Jadeon had been delivering and

supporting our hospitality point-of-sale solutions since 2001 and offered full range of technology systems and implementation and support services

throughout the West coast The results of these operations are reported under our Hospitality segment

In April 2008 we acquired Hospitality EP0S Systems Ltd Hospitality EP0S technology supplier to the U.K
hospitality market Hospitality

EPoS provided capabilities for sales implementation and support services and represented our Aloha suite of hospitality products The results of

these operations are reported under our Hospitality segment

In January 2008 we acquired Quest Retail Technology Pty Ltd Quest global provider of point-of-sale and back office solutions to stadiums

arenas convention centers race courses theme parks restaurants bars and clubs The acquisition of Quest enables us to strengthen our presence in

the stadium park and arena marketplace while expanding our installed terminal base both domestically and internationally The results of these

operations are reported under our Hospitality segment

To the extent that we believe acquisitions joint ventures and business partnerships can better position us to serve our current segments we will continue to pursue such

opportunities in the future



Hospitality Segment

We provide integrated technology solutions that meet the needs of wide variety of hospitality businesses throughout the world Across the hospitality industry we

have multiple product lines that support the needs of restaurants movie theatres and large entertainment venues The majority of revenue in our Hospitality segment is

derived from restaurants using our Aloha suite of products

Food service operators of all sizes throughout the world face highly competitive and challenging environment in which consumers demand convenience and great

service while having an increasing number of dining options at their disposal To meet these challenges operators require new technology that enables them to improve

their operations while reducing the total cost of ownership for their technology solution We believe our technology precisely fills this need providing the hospitality

industry the most compelling and competitive solution offerings to date

Our hospitality solutions are comprehensive including store systems corporate systems and supporting services The store systems offering is comprised of innovative

hardware advanced point-of-sale software and related modules for automating store operations These modules include applications for processing payments serving

takeout and delivery customers improving kitchen production enhancing guest management and enabling self-service kiosks and handheld ordering and payment

devices The corporate systems solution includes world-class data center hosting capabilities and software platforms These provide enterprise-wide reporting and

alerting management of labor and inventory costs loss prevention store systems management stored value and loyalty applications When combined the store systems

and corporate systems solutions provide integrated functionality The resulting capabilities
allow operators of diverse sizes in both the U.S and international markets to

achieve what we believe to be superior operational performance while delivering exceptional consumer experiences In addition to being tightly integrated the

components of our hospitality solutions are also modular and open allowing operators to purchase components in stages incorporating them into existing systems This

maximizes both customer choice and our opportunities to engage new customers We believe this approach allows us to win the business of more customers and

increase our share of their technology spending over time

Support services include custom software development consulting help desk support and field services One or more of these services is utilized by many of our

customers in the hospitality industry promoting the development of long-term relationships with highly satisfied customers We sell our hospitality solution directly to

large multi-unit operations with sophisticated requirements for corporate support Smaller operators are served by our network of resellers valuable business partners

who best understand and serve the needs of local entrepreneurs

Our back-office solutions are known as some of the industrys easiest systems for customers to use The combination of our back-office applications and the Aloha suite

of products including Aloha Quick Service POS and Aloha Table Service POS Aloha Insight Aloha Stored Value and Aloha Loyalty create an end-to-end solution

designed to help operators minimize operational costs and maximize profits We have enhanced our back-office offerings in recent years through the products obtained

in the acquisitions of MenuLink and Quest

Within our entertainment business we believe we have proven track record of delivering enhanced value for cinema operators including offerings
such as expanded

concessions and foodservice self-service ticketing and concessions film management and
gift

card programs With over 36000 cinema screens at more than 6100 sites

in the United States cinema operators are focused on implementing cost controls from headquarters We believe that cinema operators can improve customer service

and profitability by implementing integrated site and film management systems that enable them to speed customer transactions reduce lines manage inventory and

schedule labor to meet variations in traffic Due to the lack of end user market growth and our high penetration in this market we do not expect growth to occur in the

cinema operator market over the near term but believe this market has synergies with the stadium park and arena marketplace

We believe that the international hospitality market represents continued growth opportunity in future years To service this market we have expanded our

international presence through adding resellers and direct customers For the fiscal years ended December 31 2009 2008 and 2007 approximately 15% 10% and 6%

respectively of our Hospitality segment revenues were from international customers

Customers who have licensed or purchased our Hospitality products and services include Back Yard Burgers Benihana Brueggers Enterprises Burger King

Corporation Cafe Rio Mexican Grill California Pizza Kitchen CEC Entertainment Checkers Drive-In Restaurants Chick-fil-A Chipotle Mexican Grill Choice

Hotels International Churchs Chicken Clearview Cinemas Clubcorp Financial Management Company Coors Field home of the Colorado Rockies Cosi Cowboys

Stadium Del Taco Dennys Diedrich Coffee Dolphins Stadium Don Pablos Dunkin Brands Fatburger Corporation FedEx Field home of the Washington

Redskins Focus Brands Harkins Theatres Hillstone Restaurant Group Huddle House Invesco Field home of the Denver Broncos Jamba Juice Company Jasons

Deli Joes Crab Shack Holdings Johnny Rockets International Krispy Kreme Doughnut Corporation Landrys Restaurants Larry Miller Megaplex Theatres Live

Nation Mortons of Chicago New World Restaurant Group Noodles Company Peets Coffee Tea P.F Changs China Bistro Reading International Red Robin

International Rock Bottom Restaurants Romanos Macaroni Grill Sbarro Showcase Cinemas Sizzler USA Restaurants Smokey Bones Staples Center home of the

Los Angeles Lakers and Los Angeles Clippers Teds Montana Grill Texas Roadhouse The Krystal Company The Marcus Corporation United Center home of the

Chicago Bulls and Chicago Blackhawks Wendys/Arbys Group Which Wich Wrigley Field home of the Chicago Cubs Yankee Stadium and Yoshinoya America

and Zoes Kitchen



Retail Segment

Our Retail segment provides store and office-oriented technologies for the automation of retail businesses spanning from specialized retailers to multinational

convenience store chains Solutions provided include software hardware and services either as complete turn key solutions or as point solutions in best-of bred

configuration Our retail solutions encompass point-of-sale systems integrated back-office systems fuel-dispenser controllers self-service kiosks site management

technology payment processing systems management and centralized data management

Our resellers in the specialty retail business deliver our hardware platforms in conjunction with our CounterPoint software which has been adapted to over 20 different

retail concepts ranging from home and garden warehouses to shoe stores In addition to full solution for the traditional management of retail sites CounterPoint also

includes substantial recurring revenue business based on service fees for credit card processing as well as internet retailing CPGateway provides retailers with

advanced high-speed credit processing while CPOnline enables retailer to quickly augment brick-and-mortar sales with online operations

Our technology for petroleum and convenience retailers is built to enable fuel operations merchandise sales foodservice electronic payments and customer loyalty

programs Our solutions are designed to enhance speed of service in an easy-to-use reliable format Self-service is an area of great interest for our customers

particularly touch-screen ordering stations in convenience stores with sophisticated food and coffee offerings Our fourth generation fuel control technology is helping

retailers deliver high performance and innovation for their customers Our software uses industiy standards to interface with leading third party back-office and

headquarters solutions

In response to gross margin pressure on traditional categories including fuel and tobacco and enhanced competition for the convenience dollar from non-traditional

sources convenience retailers are changing business models and pursuing new revenue channels including made-to-order food specialty coffee programs and

expanded services offerings These changes have resulted in new growth opportunities for us as implementation of these programs requires additional automation for

effective management

High-volume retailers such as grocery stores mass-merchants warehouse clubs and others continue to add fuel and made-to-order food to their offerings and represent

additional growth opportunities for us As result of the changes in the retail market we believe that there will continue to be demand for the foreseeable future for our

technology solutions Our management also believes that based on the success of technology in recent years and the positive return on investment seen by our

customers demand for new technology will continue from both new and existing customers

We believe that the international retail market represents an additional growth opportunity For the fiscal years ended December 31 2009 2008 and 2007

approximately 22% 25% and 25% respectively of our Retail segment revenues were derived from international customers

Our Retail segment serves over 6600 customers worldwide Customers who have licensed or purchased our retail products and services include 7-Eleven Australia

Alimentation Couche-Tard Archivers Batteries Plus Elvis Presley Enterprises Exxon Mobil Corporation Family Express Harbor Freight Tools USA Hess

Corporation Highs of Baltimore Holiday Stationstores Kroger Corporation Mahoneys Garden Center Maverik Country Stores Relax the Back Corporation Repsol

Royal Dutch Shell Rutters Farm Stores Sheetz Shell Canada Speedway SuperAmerica The Athletes Foot The Field Museum and Wawa



Products and Services

We serve the global retail and hospitality industries with technology solutions that address their greatest automation needs Managing businesses that range from

single store or restaurant all the way to expansive global chains and the worlds largest sports stadiums we provide software hardware and services through variety

of channels and products Our strategy is to provide targeted solutions for each market with the common goal of assisting our customers efforts to increase revenue

through more frequent consumer visits greater revenues per visit higher margins on each sale faster transactions and more efficient site operations

Point-of-Sale

Our point-of-sale systems increase speed and quality of service minimize user training and provide mission-critical reliability while delivering secure and personalized

service to the consumer The point-of-sale systems can be integrated with our back-office products or third
party

solutions Our point-of-sale software runs on multiple

open hardware platforms including IBM and NCR as well as our own hardware Additionally our point-of-sale
hardware supports third-party point-of-sale software

products that adhere to open standards Our point-of-sale terminals offer an open architecture retail-hardened design comprehensive support and return-to-service

programs and run on Windows Server Windows Windows Embedded and Windows CE Quest Back Office is based on Microsoft SQL and operates on Windows

Server products However the Quest POS terminals do not rely on commercial operating systems This secure environment creates simple effective POS platform

while reducing management and maintenance costs

In the retail market our point-of-sale solution has been adapted by resale partners for use in wide variety of business formats enabling tighter fit to each retailers

specific needs while expanding the possible market of buyers for our solution In addition this segment delivers value to retailers through an online store offering as

well as card payment processing service
Specifically for petroleum retail our point-of-sale products are adapted to the needs of major oil companies enabling them

to deploy best practices
in their multinational operations

The hospitality market point-of-sale solutions for table service restaurants quick service restaurants stadiums arenas and cinema/entertainment venues each offer

distinct value to our customers and resale partners Speed and accuracy of orders are paramount in restaurant formats as are labor and food production integration

Consumer preferences are driving automation for broad range of service models from drive-thru to curb-side pickup counter service and more Consumer loyalty

and gift cards are just two of the significant enhancements offered to our customers in recent years In addition to foodservice requirements the cinema segment has

specialized needs related to theater systems from management of internet ticket sales to reserved seating

Customer Self-Service

Within many markets of the hospitality and retail industries customer self-service has emerged as preferred ordering and transaction method Traditional capabilities

such as online shopping and pay-at-pump are distinct value propositions delivered by our products We have easy to use consumer-activated touch screen systems that

allow consumers to purchase tickets place food order pay with credit or debit card redeem loyalty rewards make product inquiries and view promotions Software

development and consumer experience authoring tools
integrate graphic media into consumer-friendly application

Our management believes consumer self-service kiosks allow hospitality and retail operators to accelerate speed of service increase revenues through suggestive

up-selling increase order accuracy capture consumer information at the point-of-sale increase labor productivity and respond quickly to changing consumer

preferences Our customer self-service products help operators create uniform and repeatable approach to customer service while improving revenue

Site-Management Systems

Operators in both of our segments have varying requirements for site-management systems from the most basic site-based technology to the most advanced centralized

back-office system Our products are differentiated based on the needs of the different operating models of our customers and integrated into other components of the

enterprise operation

MenuLink and Quest Enterprise Manager back-office solutions help operators run more profitable hospitality business through the delivery of tools and critical

information needed to help reduce food and labor costs and improve customer service and management efficiency Our enterprise site-management products offer

comprehensive back-office functionality that includes inventory and recipe management purchasing labor management cash management and reporting

In the retail segment products such as Radiant Site Manager and CounterPoint SQL focus on specific retailer needs such as multi-site inventory management or fuel

reconciliation while leveraging open standards for integration to other components of the retailer enterprise



Software Services

The delivery of software as subscribed service with recurring fee has become significant enhancement to our value proposition and business flexibility in support

of our customers This model allows -iistomers to use our software without mquiring them to use their own hardware system capacity or maintain the software

application on their own servers and is available on monthly fee basis Our Hosted Solutions product suite is designed to give restaurant operators tools to capitalize

on revenue opportunities and prevent unnecessary costs or losses Hosted Solutions is comprised of the following products and services Aloha Insight Aloha

Restaurant Guard Aloha Command Center Aloha Stored Value Aloha Loyalty Aloha Online Ordering CPOnline and Radiant Payment Services which are briefly

described as follows

Our Hospitality segment has large base of customers who subscribe to our proprietary gift card branding program Aloha Stored Value The

integrated card-based loyalty solution Aloha Loyalty is also offered to customers in the Hospitality segment on recurring fee basis

Aloha Insight is an intelligent
above-store application that offers multi-unit consolidated reporting for restaurants including business alerts

drill-down capabilities as well as accounting and payroll interfaces It specifically increases visibility and control of restaurants operations from

anywhere at any time

Building upon the intelligence
of Aloha Insight Aloha Restaurant Guard was created in 2009 as unique application designed to deter employee

theft The product imports and analyzes restaurants transaction data on daily basis and identifies potential theft by finding known scam patterns

and statistical variances We believe Aloha Restaurant Guard greatly improves upon restaurants operational intelligence and security

Aloha Command Center is considered the backbone for many new Radiant products as it provides real-time connection to all stores for support and

deployment services This powerful tool provides proactive alerts to solve many operational issues faster It also allows businesses to deploy new

software versions rapidly and automatically

Aloha Online Ordering is new integrated web ordering application for restaurants Consumers can place restaurant orders remotely in real-time

ensuring convenience and security and ultimately improving guest satisfaction

In the Retail segment the CPOnline product enables retailer to move from bricks-and-mortar to being full-featured online retailer through

simple managed service

Radiant Payment Services or RIPS is solution aimed at selling and servicing electronic payment processing in both our Hospitality and Retail

segments RPS enhances our current solutions by providing an integrated turnkey payment processing solution for wide variety of payment

methods including credit debit and gift card payments The objective of RPS is to raise the level of customer service that is provided to business

owners and operators by providing competitive and transparent pricing increased accountability from single vendor and the highest level of

security for customer data and credit card transactions

Professional Services

Professional services are an essential component of our solution for direct customers and include such service offerings as consulting custom development training

installation and integration Our professional services play critical role in the successful design implementation application installation and integration of our

solutions

The market for our professional services is competitive We believe that we excel in the principal competitive factors including product quality reliability performance

price vendor and product reputation financial stability features and functions ease of use quality of support and degree of integration effort as compared with

competitors systems

Maintenance and Customer Support

We offer customer support on 24-hour basis service that historically has been purchased by majority of our customers and which also entitles the customer to

product upgrades We can remotely access customers systems in order to perform quick diagnostics and provide on-line assistance Additionally we offer customers

hardware and software maintenance and unspecified software enhancements In some cases hardware support is provided by third parties We focus on providing

quality service and ensuring first-time fix for any technical issue with our hardware Our hardware maintenance program also provides flexible solutions and can be

customized to meet specific customer needs Our software maintenance program offers modifications and enhancements to our software products including updates and

corrections We have historically had high rate of renewal on these maintenance and support contracts



Sales and Marketing

We sell our products and services through two distinct channels direct and indirect To address the direct channel our sales personnel focus on selling our

technology solutions to large customers typically those with more than 50 locations or sites with more than 50 POS terminals both domestically and internationally

The indirect channel represents small to medium-sized customers and is addressed by third-party resellers whom we also refer to as channel partners

Through focused and dedicated sales effort designed to address the requirements of both business segments we believe our sales force is positioned to understand our

customers businesses trends in the marketplace competitive products and
opportunities

for new product development This allows us to take consultative approach

to working with customers

Over the last several years we have seen an increase in the portion of revenues derived from small businesses within both segments This increase is due to our

increased investments in developing relationships with third-party resellers to distribute our products to small to medium-sized operators We accelerated the

development of these relationships through acquisitions in both segments

While serving and meeting the expectations of direct customers remains top priority we intend to serve the needs of all operators within our segments To better serve

the small to medium-sized customer we will continue to develop the reseller charnel and package solutions in manner that is easy for operators to afford implement

and support Our
strategy

is to deliver feature-rich products that are easy to implement and support establish strong presence within critical franchised brands and

support resellers with strong operational tools

During the fiscal years ended December 31 2009 2008 and 2007 our international revenues accounted for approximately 16% 14% and 13% respectively of total

revenues Our management believes that this percentage can be increased substantially
in the coming years The growing number of large multi-national companies

which are among our major North American customers together with our successful record of implementing solutions with retailers in Western Europe Eastern Europe

and Asia position us to make additional progress internationally in the future Additionally the majority of our current business outside the United States has been in

the retail market Our management believes there is opportunity for
significant growth in the hospitality and retail markets outside the United States Currently we have

total of 227 employees in Europe Asia and Australia We have executed major projects
in Aruba Australia Brazil Canada Cayman Islands Chile Colombia the

Czech Republic El Salvador Guatemala Honduras Hong Kong Hungary Jamaica Japan Macau Malaysia Mexico Panama Poland Portugal Puerto Rico

Slovakia Spain Sweden Switzerland Thailand Trinidad and Tobago and the United Kingdom We currently have offices in Australia Austria China Czech

Republic Singapore Spain and the United Kingdom We have more than 600 international resellers who market and support one or more of our product lines in Africa

Asia Australia Europe Latin America the Middle East and South America

To date our primary marketing objectives have been to increase awareness of our technology solutions and generate sales leads To this end we attend industry trade

shows conduct direct marketing programs and selectively advertise in industry publications We intend to increase our sales and marketing activities both domestically

and internationally Additionally we intend to continue expanding an independent distribution network to sell and service our products to certain segments of the

domestic and international markets

Our business is usually seasonal and cyclical in nature based on the capital equipment investment
patterns

of our customers These expenditure patterns are based on

many factors including customer capital expenditure budget constraints the development of new technologies global and regional economic conditions changes in the

pricing and promotion policies of us and our competitors and domestic and international holidays

During the fiscal years ended December 31 2009 2008 and 2007 no one customer made up 10% or more of our revenues We are party to certain contracts with the

U.S Govermnent which contain standard termination for convenience clauses We do not anticipate any material adverse financial impact if the U.S Government

elects to exercise its rights under these termination clauses

Product Development

The products sold by us are subject to rapid and continual technological change Products available from us as well as from our competitors have increasingly offered

wider range of features and capabilities We believe that in order to compete effectively in our selected markets we must provide compatible systems incorporating

new technologies at competitive prices In order to achieve this we have made substantial ongoing commitment to research and development During the fiscal years

ended December 31 2009 2008 and 2007 we incurred approximately $26.3 million $28.9 million and $26.2 million respectively in product development costs

which includes software costs that were capitalizable
in nature

Our software architecture is based on open platforms and is modular thereby allowing it to be phased into customers operations We have developed numerous

applications ninning on Microsoft Windows-based platforms including Windows Server Windows Windows Embedded and Windows CE The software

architecture of many of our products incorporates Microsofts Component Object Model providing an efficient environment for application development

In order to remain competitive we are currently designing coding and testing number of new products and developing expanded functionality of our current products

In addition we strive to achieve compatibility between our products and products that are or that we believe will become popular and widely adopted

Manufacturing Raw Materials and Supplies

Our manufacturing activities consist primarily of assembling various commercial and proprietary components into finished systems in Georgia Austria and Australia

Manufacturing requires some raw materials including wide variety of mechanical and electrical components to be manufactured to our specifications We use

numerous companies to supply parts components and subassemblies for the manufacture and support of our products Although we strive to assure that parts are

available from multiple qualified suppliers this is not always possible Accordingly some key parts may be obtained only from single supplier or limited group of

suppliers We have sought and will continue to seek to minimize the risk of production and service interruptions and/or shortages of key parts by qualifying and

selecting alternate suppliers for key parts monitoring the financial condition of key suppliers maintaining appropriate inventories of key parts and

qualifying new parts on timely basis



Market Background and Trends

Successful hospitality and retail operators increasingly require information systems that capture detailed consumer activity data at the point-of-sale and store and

transport that data in an easy.to-access fashion Early technology innovators in the hospitality and retail industries deployed robust integrated information systems at

the point-of-sale and used the information to react quickly to changing consumer preferences ultimately gaining market share in the process in addition integrated

information systems helped these early innovators achieve operational efficiencies Many large national hospitality and retail companies have followed suit by investing

in proprietary information systems

For many types of hospitality and retail operators however this type of information system does not make economic or business sense In particular merchants with

large number of relatively small sites such as convenience stores petroleum retail sites restaurants and entertainment venues generally have not been able to develop

and deploy sophisticated enterprise-wide information systems on cost effective basis Economic and standardization problems for these businesses are exacerbated by

the fact that many sites operate as franchises dealerships or under other decentralized ownership and control structures Without an investment in technology these

operators continue to depend on labor and paper to process transactions Our management believes that high labor costs lack of centralized management control of

distributed sites and inadequate informational reporting together with emerging technology trends have caused many of these
hospitality

and retail businesses to

reexamine how technology solutions can benefit their operations

Typically the existing information systems in these industries consist of stand-alone devices such as cash registers or other point-of-sale systems with little or no

integration with either the back-office of the site or an enterprise-wide information system Implementation of information systems providing this functionality typically

involves multiple vendors and an independent systems integration firm The resulting proprietary solutions are often difficult to support and have inherently high risks

associated with implementation Our management believes that technology solutions that are highly functional and scalable and relatively inexpensive and easy to

deploy are critical for successful penetration in these markets

In the absence of an integrated solution operators in these markets typically rely on manual reporting to capture data on site activity
and disseminate it to different

levels of management Basic information on consumers i.e who they are when they visit and what they buy is not captured in sufficient detail at the right time or in

manner that can be communicated easily to others in the organization Similarly information such as price changes does not flow from headquarters to individual sites

in timely maimer In addition communications with vendors often remain manual involving paperwork delays and other process-related problems

Recent trends in the
hospitality

and retail industries have accelerated the need for timely information and have heightened demand for feature-rich operational systems

Based in part upon industry association reports and other studies as well as our experience in marketing our products we believe consumer preferences have shifted

away from brand loyalty toward value and convenience creating greater need for timely data concerning consumer buying patterns and preferences We also believe

that convenient consumer-activated ordering and payment systems such as automated kiosks ATM5 voice response units and pay at the pump systems have become

important to retailers food service providers and cinema operators that wish to retain and build customer base Additionally through the use of integrated systems

we believe hospitality and retail businesses can improve operational efficiencies through better management of inventory purchasing merchandising pricing

promotions and shrinkage control Our management believes that the ability to provide tight system integration to variety of industry standard back-office solutions

can enable customers to improve control and enforce best practices across operational sites Furthermore our management believes that the constant flow of

information among the point-of-sale back-office headquarters and supply chain has become key competitive advantage in the hospitality and retail industries

resulting in operators demanding more sophisticated and easily integrated solutions from their systems vendors In parallel development technological advances have

improved the capability of information systems that are available With the price of computing power declining technology investments have become economically

feasible for many hospitality and retail businesses Furthermore computing power has become increasingly flexible and distributable facilitating data capture and

processing by applications located at the point-of-sale Also front-end graphical user interfaces have made systems easier to use which reduces training
time and

transaction costs and facilitates more types of consumer-activated applications

The demand drivers for our products and services include new store openings change in store ownership and the upgrade of existing technology in existing locations

Changes in the economic climate have historically impacted these demand drivers For instance the current economic environment has resulted in fewer new store

openings and therefore demand has declined in this area In contrast greater emphasis on increasing performance of existing locations through revenue growth and

cost management has led to demand for technology replacement and for add-on sales of solutions to existing customers In addition to the above demand factors the

availability
of financing has become an important factor for many potential customers The tightened credit markets have made it more difficult for certain operators to

invest in technology and could result in reduced demand until the credit markets recover

Security has become driving factor in our industry as our customers try to meet ever escalating governmental requirements directed toward the prevention of identity

theft as well as operating safeguards imposed by the credit and debit card associations In September 2006 these card associations established the PCI Security

Standards Council to oversee and unify industry standards in the areas of credit card data security We believe we are leader in providing systems and software

solutions that meet the payment application requirements and will continue to help the industry define new standards across the payment process educate businesses on

how to reduce theft by meeting the Payment Card Industry Data Security Standard PCI DSS requirement process and build new technologies outside its point-of-sale

software to combat theft



Competition

The markets in which we operate are intensely competitive We believe the principal competitive factors include product quality reliability performance price vendor

and product reputation financial stability features and functions ease of use quality of support and degree of integration effort required with competitor systems

We believe we are uniquely positioned with our exclusive focus on providing site management systems for hospitality and retail businesses Further we believe our

ability to commercialize our technology and continually improve our products processes and services as well as our ability to develop new products enable us to meet

continually evolving customer requirements Our competitors include International Business Machines Corp NCR Corporation Casio Dell VeriFone Inc Dresser

Inc Retalix Ltd Pacer/CATS owned by Clarity Commerce Solutions plc Micros Systems Inc Par Technology Corporation POSitouch Panasonic The Pinnacle

Corporation Agilysys RetailPro IDA Software Epicore and others that provide point-of-sale and site management systems with varying degrees of functionality

We could also be faced with new market entrants attempting to develop fully integrated systems targeting the retail industry We believe the risk of this happening is

small due to the significant amount of time and effort required to create point-of-sale
and back-office headquarters-based management systems and due to the detailed

knowledge required of retailers operations at local sites and headquarters in order to duplicate the functionality of these products

In the market for consulting services we compete with various companies Many of our existing competitors as well as number of potential new competitors have

significantly greater financial technical and marketing resources than us

Proprietary Rights

Our success and ability to compete is dependent in
part upon our proprietary technology including our software source code To protect our proprietary technology we

rely on combination of trade secret nondisclosure copyright and patent law which may afford only limited protection In addition effective copyright and trade

secret protection may be unavailable or limited in certain foreign countries Although we rely on the limited protection afforded by such intellectual property laws we

also believe that factors such as the technological and creative skills of our personnel new product developments frequent product enhancements name recognition

and reliable maintenance are essential to establishing and maintaining technology leadership position We presently have five patents and six
patents pending The

source code for our various proprietary software products is protected both as trade secret and as copyrighted work We generally enter into confidentiality or license

agreements with our employees consultants and customers and generally control access to and distribution of our documentation and other proprietary information

Although we restrict customers use of our software and do not permit the unauthorized resale sublicense or other transfer of such software there can be no assurance

that unauthorized use of our technology will not occur

Despite the measures taken by us to protect our proprietary rights unauthorized parties may attempt to reverse engineer or copy aspects of our products or to obtain and

use information that we regard as proprietary Policing unauthorized use of our products is difficult In addition litigation may be necessary in the future to enforce our

intellectual property rights such as our trade secrets to determine the
validity

and scope of our or others proprietary rights or to defend against claims of infringement

or invalidity Such litigation could result in substantial costs and diversion of resources and could have material adverse effect on our business operating results and

financial condition

Certain technology used in conjunction with our products is licensed from third parties generally on non-exclusive basis These licenses usually require us to pay

royalties and fulfill confidentiality obligations We believe that there are alternative sources for each of the material components of technology licensed by us from third

parties However the termination of any of these licenses or the failure of the third-party licensors to adequately maintain or update their products could result in

delay in our ability to ship certain of our products while we seek to implement technology offered by alternative sources Any required alternative licenses could prove

costly Also any such delay to the extent it becomes extended or occurs at or near the end of fiscal quarter could result in material adverse effect on our business

operating results and financial condition While it may be necessary or desirable in the future to obtain other licenses relating to one or more of our products or relating

to current or future technologies there can be no assurance that we will be able to do so on commercially reasonable terms or at all

There can be no assurance that we will not become the subject of infringement claims or legal proceedings by third parties with respect to our current or future products

Defending against any such claim could be time-consuming result in costly litigation cause product shipment delays or force us to enter into royalty or license

agreements rather than dispute the merits of such claims Moreover an adverse outcome in litigation or similaradversarial proceeding could subject us to significant

liabilities to third parties require the expenditure of significant resources to develop non-infringing technology require disputed rights to be licensed from others or

require us to cease the marketing or use of certain products any of which could have material adverse effect on our business operating results and financial condition

To the extent we desire or are required to obtain licenses to patents or proprietary rights of others there can be no assurance that any such licenses will be made

available on terms acceptable to us if at all As the number of technology products in the industries we serve increases and the functionality of these products further

overlaps we believe that technology providers may become increasingly subject to infringement claims Any such claims against us with or without merit as well as

claims initiated by us against third parties could be time consuming and expensive to defend prosecute or resolve



Employees

As of December 31 2009 we employed 1310 people Other than our employees in Salzburg Austria who are represented by trade group none of our employees are

represented by collective bargaining agreement nor have we experienced any work stoppages We consider our relations with oiu employees to he good

Foreign Operations

For information regarding sales and long-lived assets attributable to domestic and foreign operations please refer to the information presented in Note 14 Segment

Reporting Data in the notes to our consolidated financial statements presented in Part II Item of this report

Environmental Matters

We believe that we are in compliance in all material respects with all applicable environmental laws and presently do not anticipate that such compliance will have

material effect on our future capital expenditures earnings or competitive position with respect to any of our operations

Available Information

Radiant maintains website at www.radiantsystems.com Radiant makes available free of charge its annual reports on Form 10-K quarterly reports on Form 10-Q and

current reports on Form 8-K on its website as soon as practicable after such reports are filed with the SEC These filings can be accessed through the Investor

Relations page on Radiants website at www.radiantsystems.com Radiants common stock is traded on The NASDAQ Stock Market under the symbol RADS
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ITEM 1A RISK FACTORS

In addition to the other information contained in this report the following risks should be considered carefully in evaluating us and our business

Risks Related to our Business

Global economic and market conditions could cause decreases in demandfor our products and related services

Our revenue and profitability depend on the overall demand for our products and related services We are impacted both directly and indirectly by declining global

economic conditions The retail and hospitality industries are cautious of investments in information technology during difficult economic times which often results in

reduced budgets and spending This impacts us through reduced revenues elongated selling cycles delays in product implementation and increased competitive margin

pressure The severe downturn in global economic and market conditions that began in the second half of 2008 resulted in decreases in demand for certain of our

products and related services as the tightening of credit in financial markets adversely affects the ability of our customers to obtain financing for significant purchases

and operations We are unable to predict with certainty the future impact which the most recent global economic conditions will have on the demand for our products

and related services

Volatility
and disruption of the capital and credit markets and adverse changes in the global economy could have negative impact on our ability to access the

credit markets in the future and/or obtain credit on favorable terms

The capital and credit markets have become increasingly tight as result of adverse economic conditions that have caused the failure and near failure of number of

large financial services companies There can be no assurance that there will not be further deterioration in the financial markets If the capital and credit markets

continue to experience crises and the availability of funds remains low it is possible that our ability to access the capital and credit markets may be limited or available

on less favorable terms at time when we would like or need to do so which could have an impact on our ability to refinance maturing debt pursue acquisitions

and/or react to changing economic and business conditions In addition if recessionary global economic conditions
persist

for an extended period of time or worsen

substantially our business may suffer in manner which could cause us to fail to satisfy the financial and other restrictive covenants to which we are subject under our

existing indebtedness

Fluctuations in currency exchange rates may adversely impact our cash flows and earnings

Due to our global operations our cash flow and earnings are exposed to currency exchange rate fluctuations Exchange rate fluctuations may also affect the cost of

goods and services that we purchase The recent volatility in the global capital and credit markets has increased the frequency and severity of exchange rate fluctuations

Changes from our expectations for currency exchange rates can have material impact on our financial results When appropriate we may attempt to limit our exposure

to exchange rate changes by entering into short-term currency exchange contracts There is no assurance that we will hedge or will be able to hedge such foreign

currency exchange risk or that our hedges will be successful

Our currency exchange gains or losses net of hedges may materially and adversely impact our cash flows and earnings Additionally adverse movements in currency

exchange rates could result in increases in our cost of goods sold or reduction in growth in international orders materially impacting our cash flows and earnings

An increase in customer bankruptcies due to weak economic conditions could harm our business

During weak economic times there is an increased risk that certain of our customers will file bankruptcy If customer files bankruptcy we may be required to forego

collection of
pre-petition amounts owed and to repay amounts remitted to us during the 90-day preference period preceding the filing The bankruptcy laws as well as

specific circumstances of each bankruptcy may limit our ability to collect pre-petition amounts We also face risk from international customers that file for bankruptcy

protection in foreign jurisdictions in that the application of foreign bankruptcy laws may be more difficult to predict Although we believe that we have sufficient

reserves to cover anticipated customer bankruptcies we can provide no assurance that such reserves will be adequate and if they are not adequate our business

operating results and financial condition would be adversely affected

Our revenues are signflcantly concentrated in the hospitality and retail markets and the demandfor our products and services in these markets could be

disproportionately affected by instability or downturn in either market

For the fiscal years ended December 312009 2008 and 2007 approximately 75% 75% and 68% respectively of our total revenues were attributable to the hospitality

segment and approximately 24% 24% and 31% respectively were attributable to the retail segment The hospitality and retail markets are affected by variety of

factors including global and regional instability governmental policy and regulation political instability natural disasters environmental and health disasters

consumer buying habits consolidation in the petroleum industry war terrorism and general economic conditions Adverse developments in either market could

materially and adversely affect our business operating results and financial condition In addition we believe the purchase of our products is relatively discretionary

and generally involves
significant conmiitment of capital because purchases of our products are often accompanied by large scale hardware purchases As result

demand for our products and services could be disproportionately affected by instability or downturns in the hospitality and retail markets which may cause customers

to exit the industry or delay cancel or reduce planned-for information management systems and software products
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We may be required to defer recognition of revenues on our software products which may have material adverse effect on our financial results

We may be required to defer recognition of revenues for significant period of time after entering into license agreement for variety of factors including the

following

transactions that include both currently deliverable software products and arrangements that include specified upgrades for which we have not

established vendor-specific objective evidence VSOE of fair value

transactions where the customer demands services that include significant modifications customizations or complex interfaces that could delay

product delivery or acceptance and

transactions that involve acceptance criteria that may preclude revenue recognition or if there are identified product-related issues such as

performance issues

Because of the factors listed above and other specific requirements under generally accepted accounting principles or GA.AP for software revenue recognition we

must have very precise terms in our license agreements in order to recognize revenue when we initially deliver software or perform services Although we have

standard form of license agreement that meets the criteria under GAAP for current revenue recognition on delivered elements we negotiate and revise these terms and

conditions in some transactions Negotiation of mutually acceptable terms and conditions can extend the sales cycle and sometimes result in deferred revenue

recognition well after the time of delivery or project completion

Our revenues and results of operations are difficult to predict and may fluctuate substantially from quarter to quarter which could adversely affect our business

and the market price of our common stock

Our revenues and results of operations are difficult to predict and may fluctuate substantially from quarter to quarter These fluctuations can adversely affect our

business and the market price of our common stock License revenues in any quarter depend substantially upon our total contracting activity and our ability to recognize

revenues in that quarter in accordance with our revenue recognition policies Our contracting activity is difficult to forecast for variety of reasons including the

following

our sales cycle is relatively long and varies as result of us expanding our product line and broadening our software product applications to cover

customers overall business

the size of license transactions can vary significantly

economic downturns are often characterized by decreased product demand price erosion technological shifts work slowdowns and layoffs which

can substantially reduce contracting activity

customers may unexpectedly postpone or cancel anticipated system replacements or new system evaluations due to changes in their strategic

priorities project objectives budgetary constraints or management

customer evaluations and purchasing processes vary significantly
from company to company and customers internal approval and expenditure

authorization process can be difficult and time consuming even after selection of vendor

changes in our pricing policies and discount plans may affect customer purchasing patterns

the number timing and significance of our and our competitors software product enhancements and new software product announcements may

affect purchasing decisions

the introduction of new research and development projects requires us to significantly
increase our operating expenses to fund greater levels of

product development and to develop and commercialize additional products and services

certain expenses including those over which we exercise little or no control such as health costs compliance with new legislation and property and

liability insurance may be difficult to manage and

fluctuations in the value of foreign currency exchange rates relative to the U.S dollar or weakening of the U.S dollar may adversely impact our

ability to purchase materials at competitive price

In addition our expense levels operating costs and hiring plans are based on projections of future revenues and are relatively fixed If our actual revenues fall below

expectations our net income is likely to be disproportionately adversely affected

Due to all of the foregoing factors in some future quarters our operating results may fall below the expectations of securities analysts and investors In such event the

market price of our common stock would likely decrease
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Our gross margins may vary signflcantly or decline

Since the gross margins on product revenues are significantly greater than the gross margins on services revenues our combined gross margin has fluctuated from

quarter to quarter and it may continue to fluctuate significantly based on revenue mix

Our success will depend on our ability to develop new products and to adapt to rapid technological change

The types of products sold by us are subject to rapid and continual technological change Products available from us as well as from our competitors have increasingly

offered wider range of features and capabilities We believe that in order to compete effectively in selected vertical markets we must provide compatible systems

incorporating new technologies at competitive prices To the extent we detennine that new software and hardware technologies are required to remain competitive or

our customers demand more advanced offerings the development acquisition and implementation of these technologies are likely to require significant capital

investments by us To the extent that such expenses precede or are not subsequently followed by increased revenues our business operating results and financial

condition may be materially and adversely affected

We can provide no assurance that we will be able to continue funding research and development at levels sufficient to enhance our current product offerings or be able

to develop and introduce on timely basis new products that keep pace with technological developments and emerging industry standards and address the evolving

needs of customers There can also be no assurance that we will not experience difficulties that will result in delaying or preventing the successful development

introduction and marketing of new products in our existing markets or that our new products and product enhancements will adequately meet the requirements of the

marketplace or achieve any significant degree of market acceptance Likewise there can be no assurance as to the acceptance of our products in new markets nor can

there be any assurance as to the success of our penetration of these markets or to the revenue levels or profit margins with respect to these products Our inability for

any reason to develop and introduce new products and product enhancements in timely manner in response to changing market conditions or customer requirements

could materially adversely affect our business operating results and financial condition

In addition we strive to achieve compatibility between our products and retail systems that we believe are or will become popular and widely adopted We invest

substantial resources in development efforts aimed at achieving such compatibility Any failure by us to anticipate or respond adequately to technology or market

developments could materially adversely affect our business operating results and financial condition

If the emerging platforms of Microsoft and others with which we integrate our products does not gain or retain broad market acceptance or we fail to develop

new software compatible with such emerging technologies we may not be able to compete effectively and our business operating results and financial condition

could suffer

Our software architecture is modular and based on open platfonns other than our Quest products which do not rely on commercial operating systems allowing it to be

phased into customers operations For example we have developed numerous applications running on Microsoft Windows-based platforms including Windows

Server Windows Windows Embedded and Windows CE operating systems To date the platforms we have chosen to integrate our products with have proven to be

popular and gained broad industry acceptance However the market for our software is subject to ongoing rapid technological developments and quickly evolving

industry standards and there may be existing or future platforms that achieve industry status which are not compatible with our software In addition when new or

updated versions of these platforms are introduced it is often necessary for us to develop updated versions of our software so that it operates properly with these

computing platforms We can provide no assurance that we will be able accomplish these developments quickly or cost-effectively In addition these development

efforts require substantial investment and the devotion of substantial employee resources The inability of our software to operate with popular third party platforms

may adversely effect our business operating results and financial condition

We may have d/ficulty implementing our products which could damage our reputation and our ability to generate new business

Implementation of our software products can be lengthy process and commitment of resources by our customers is subject to number of significant risks over which

we have little or no control Delays in the implementations of any of our software products whether by our business partners or us may result in customer

dissatisfaction disputes with customers or damage to our reputation Significant problems implementing our software can cause delays or prevent us from collecting

fees for our software and can damage our ability to generate new business

Errors or defects in our software products could diminish demand for our products injure our reputation and reduce our operating results

Our software products are complex and may contain errors that could be detected at any point in the life of the product We can provide no assurances that errors will

not be found in new products or releases after shipment Such errors could result in diminished demand for our products delays in market acceptance and sales

diversion of development resources injury to our reputation or increased service and warranty costs If any of these were to occur our operating results could be

adversely affected

Our failure to manage our growth effectively could have material adverse
effect on our business operating results and financial condition

The growth in the size and complexity of our business and the expansion of our product lines and customer base may place significant strain on our management and

operations An increase in the demand for our products could strain our resources or result in delivery problems delayed software releases slow response time or

insufficient resources for assisting customers with implementation of our products and services which could have material adverse effect on our business operating

results and financial condition We anticipate that continued growth if any will require us to recruit hire and assimilate substantial number of new employees

including consulting product development sales and marketing and administrative personnel

Our ability to compete effectively and to manage future growth if any will also depend on our ability to continue to implement and improve operational financial and

management information systems on timely basis and to expand train motivate and manage our work force particularly our direct sales force and consulting services

organization We can provide no assurance that we will be able to manage any future growth and any failure to do so could have material adverse effect on our

business operating results and financial condition
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Our acquisition of existing businesses and our failure to successfully integrate these businesses could disrupt our business dilute our common stock and harm our

operating results and financial condition

As part of our operating history and growth strategy we have acquired other businesses In the future we may continue to seek acquisition candidates in selected

markets and from time to time engage in exploratory discussions with suitable candidates We can provide no assurance that we will be able to identity and acquire

targeted businesses or obtain financing for such acquisitions on satisfactory terms The process of integrating acquired businesses into our operations may result in

unforeseen difficulties and may require disproportionate amount of resources and management attention In particular the integration of acquired technologies with

our existing products could cause delays in the introduction of new products In connection with future acquisitions we may incur significant charges to earnings as

result of among other things the write-off of purchased research and development

Future acquisitions maybe financed through the issuance of common stock which may dilute the ownership of our shareholders or through the incurrence of additional

indebtedness Furthermore we can provide no assurance that competition for acquisition candidates will not escalate thereby increasing the costs of making

acquisitions or making suitable acquisitions unattainable Acquisitions involve numerous risks including the following

problems combining the acquired operations technologies or products

unanticipated costs or liabilities

diversion of managements attention

adverse effects on existing business relationships with suppliers and customers

risks associated with entering markets in which we have limited or no prior experience and

potential
loss of key employees particularly those of the acquired organizations

For example until we actually assume operating control of the business assets and operations it is difficult to ascertain with precision the actual value or the potential

liabilities of our acquisitions We may not be able to integrate successfully any business technologies or personnel that we have acquired or that we might acquire in the

future and this could harm our business operating results and financial condition

Damage to our manufacturing site and/or office space could limit our ability to operate our business

We do not have redundant multiple-site manufacturing capacity nor do we have redundant capabilities
for our office space and key operating systems Therefore

damage to these sites from natural disaster or other catastrophic event such as fire flood terrorist attack power loss and other similar events could cause interruptions

or delays in our manufacturing process or render us unable to accept and fulfill customer orders We have not established formal disaster recovery plan and our

business interruption insurance may not be adequate to compensate us for any losses we may suffer

Our inability to obtain key manufacturing parts from our suppliers could have material adverse
effect on our business operating results and financial condition

Our manufacturing activities consist primarily of assembling various commercial and proprietasy components into finished systems Manufacturing requires some raw

materials including wide variety of mechanical and electrical components that are manufactured by third parties to our specifications Although we make reasonable

efforts to assure that parts are available from multiple qualified suppliers this is not always possible Accordingly some key parts may be obtained only from single

supplier or limited group of suppliers Our inability to obtain key manufacturing parts from these limited suppliers or from others suppliers in timely manner or at

all could have material adverse effect on our business operating results and financial condition

The loss of our key personnel could have material adverse effect on us

Our future success depends in
part on the performance of our executive officers and key employees We do not have employment agreements with any of our executive

officers The loss of the services of any of our executive officers or other key employees could have material adverse effect on our business operating results and

financial condition

Our inability to attract hire or retain the necessary technical and managerial personnel could have material adverse effrct on our business operating results and

financial condition

We are heavily dependent upon our ability to attract retain and motivate skilled technical and managerial personnel especially highly skilled engineers involved in

ongoing product development and consulting personnel who assist in the development and implementation of our total business solutions The market for such

individuals is intensely competitive Due to the critical role of our product development and consulting staffs the inability to recruit successfully or the loss of

significant part
of our product development or consulting staffs could have material adverse effect on us The software industry is characterized by high level of

employee mobility and aggressive recruiting of skilled personnel We can provide no assurance that we will be able to retain our current personnel or that we will be

able to attract assimilate or retain other highly qualified technical and managerial personnel in the future The inability to attract hire or retain the necessary technical

and managerial personnel could have material adverse effect upon our business operating results and financial condition
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Our success and ability to compete are dependent upon our ability to protect ourproprietary technology

Our success and ability to compete are dependent in part upon our ability to protect our proprietary technology We rely on combination of patent copyright and trade

secret laws and non-disclosure agreements to
protect

this proprietary technology We enter into confidentiality and non-solicitation agreements with our employees and

license agreements with our customers and
potential customers which limit access to and distribution of our software documentation and other proprietary information

We can provide no assurance that the
steps

taken by us to protect our proprietary rights
will be adequate to prevent misappropriation of our technology or that our

competitors will not independently develop technologies that are substantially equivalent or superior to our technology In addition the laws of some foreign countries

do not protect our proprietary rights to the same extent as do the laws of the United States

Litigation may be necessary in the future to enforce our intellectual property rights such as our trade secrets to determine the
validity and scope of our or others

proprietary rights or to defend against claims of infringement or invalidity Such litigation could result in substantial costs and diversion of resources and could have

material adverse effect on our business operating results and financial condition

Certain technology used in conjunction with our products is licensed from third parties generally on non-exclusive basis The termination of any of these licenses or

the failure of the third-party licensors to maintain or update their products adequately could result in delay in our ability to ship certain of our products while we seek to

implement technology offered by alternative sources and any required replacement licenses could prove costly While it may be necessary or desirable in the future to

obtain other licenses relating to one or more of our products or relating to current or future technologies we can provide no assurance that we will be able to do so on

commercially reasonable terms or at all

If we become subject to adverse claims alleging infringement of third-party proprietary rights we may incur substantial unanticipated costs and our competitive

position may suffer

There has been substantial amount of
litigation

in the software industry regarding intellectual property rights It is possible that in the future third
parties may claim

that our current or potential future software solutions infringe on their intellectual property We anticipate
that software product developers will increasingly be subject

to infringement claims as the number of products and competitors in our industry grows We can provide no assurance that we will not be subject to such third-party

claims litigation or indemnity demands or that these claims will not be successful If claim or indemnity demand were to be brought against us it could result in

costly litigation or product shipment delays or force us to stop selling or providing services or enter into costly royalty or license agreements

We operate in highly competitive market and can give no assurance that we will be able to compete successfully against our current or future competitors

The market for retail information systems is intensely competitive We believe the
principal competitive factors are product quality reliability performance and price

vendor and product reputation financial stability features and functions ease of use quality of support and degree of integration effort required with other systems

number of companies offer competitive products addressing certain of our target markets In addition we believe that new market entrants may attempt to develop fully

integrated systems targeting the retail industry In the market for consulting services we compete with various systems integrators Many of our existing competitors as

well as number of potential new competitors have significantly greater financial technical and marketing resources than we have We can provide no assurance that

we will be able to compete successfully against our current or future competitors or that competition will not have material adverse effect on our business operating

results and financial condition

Additionally we compete with variety of hardware and software vendors Some of our competitors may have advantages over us due to their significant worldwide

presence longer operating and product development history and substantially greater financial technical and marketing resources If competitors offer more favorable

payment terms and/or more favorable contractual implementation terms or guarantees we may need to lower prices or offer other favorable terms in order to compete

successfully Any such changes would
likely

reduce our margins

Our increased investment in the international market could expose us to risks in addition to those experienced in the United States

Our international revenues represented approximately $46.6 million $42.5 million and $33.5 million or 16% 14% and 13% respectively of our total revenues for the

fiscal years ended December 31 2009 2008 and 2007 respectively We will continue to invest in expanding our international operations The global reach of our

business could cause us to be subject to unexpected uncontrollable and rapidly changing events and circumstances in addition to those experienced in domestic

locations The following factors among others present risks that could have an adverse impact on our business operating results and financial condition

weaker protection of intellectual property rights

an inability to replicate previous international revenues

currency controls and fluctuations in currency exchange rates and the
potential inability to hedge the currency risk in some transactions because of

uncertainty or the inability to reasonably estimate our foreign exchange exposure

possible increased costs and development time to adapt our products to local markets

potential lack of experience in particular geographic market

legal regulatory social political labor or economic conditions in
specific country or region including loss or modification of exemptions for taxes

and tariffs and import and export license requirements which may have negative impact on us

higher operating costs in many foreign countries

anti-American sentiment due to American policies that may be unpopular in certain regions and

challenges of finding qualified personnel for our international operations

15



Our products and services could be vulnerable to unauthorized access and hacking and any security breach could have sign ficant effrct on our business and

could expose us to material liability

Our systems are used by our customers to collect store process and transmit sensitive and confidential information including credit card data and personally

identifiable information Credit card issuers have promulgated security guidelines as part of their ongoing effort to battle theft and credit card fraud We continue to

work with the credit card issuers to assure that our products and services comply with the credit card associations security regulations and best practices applicable to

our products and services While we believe that all of our current software complies with applicable industry security requirements and that we use appropriate security

measures to reduce the possibility of breach through our support and other systems we can provide no assurance that our customers systems will not be breached or

that all unauthorized access can be prevented In addition the confidential information processed by our systems may be compromised if our customers do not maintain

appropriate security procedures and configurations There can be no guarantee that our customers will implement all of the security features that we introduce or all of

the protection and procedures required by the credit card issuers or applicable laws or that our customers will establish and maintain appropriate levels of firewall

protection and other security measures and configurations The confidentiality of the information processed by our products and services is critical to the successful

operation of our business and when there is unauthorized access to such information that results in financial loss we could be exposed to litigation initiated by our

customers or third parties indemnity obligations and other material liability

We may be subject to additional tax liabilities

We are subject to income and sales taxes in the United States and all of the other countries in which we conduct business Additionally we may be subject to certain

tariffs imposed by the World Trade Organization and other governing bodies designed to tax U.S imports Significant judgment is required in determining our

worldwide provision for income taxes This determination is highly complex and requires detailed analysis of the available information and applicable statutes and

regulatory materials In the ordinary course of our business there are many transactions and calculations where the ultimate tax determination is uncertain We are

regularly under audit by tax authorities Although we believe our tax estimates are reasonable the final determination of tax audits and any related litigation could be

materially different from our historical income tax provisions and accruals If we receive an adverse ruling during an audit or we unilaterally determine that we have

misinterpreted provisions of the myriad tax regulations to which we are subject there could be material adverse effect on our income tax provision net income or cash

flows in the period or periods for which that determination is made

We have recorded large amount of goodwill and other acquired intangible assets on our balance sheet andfor the fiscal year ended December31 2009 we were

required to record non-cash charge to earnings

Under U.S GAAP we review our intangible assets for impairment when events or changes in circumstances indicate the carrying value may not be recoverable

Goodwill is required to be tested for impairment at least annually Factors that may be considered change in circumstances indicating that the carrying value of our

goodwill or intangible assets may not be recoverable and therefore need to be reduced or written off altogether include decline in stock price and market

capitalization reduced future revenues cash flows or growth estimates failure to meet earnings forecasts and reduction in use or discontinuation of purchased

products

In connection with our acquisitions we have goodwill and intangible assets on our balance sheet On January 2010 we determined that the carlying value of the

goodwill and other certain intangible assets was in excess of their fair values Therefore we were required to record non-cash charge to earnings in the amount of

$20.9 million This charge resulted in net loss of $9.4 million or $0.29 per share for the fiscal year ended December 31 2009 In future periods if we determine that

an impairment has occurred we will similarly be required to record charge to earnings in our financial statements during the period in which any impairment of our

goodwill or amortizable intangible assets is determined Any such charge will correspondingly reduce our results of operations perhaps materially

Our Enterprise Resource Planning ERP system upgrade could result infinancial statement errors and/or impact our ability to meet deadlines for future SEC

fdings

On January 2010 we completed an upgrade of our ERP system This is an integrated computer-based system used to manage internal and external resources

including tangible assets financial resources materials and human resources The system facilitates the flow of information between all business functions within the

Company and is ultimately our system of record for accounting and financial reporting We have thoroughly tested the system to ensure it is working properly and as

designed However we can provide no assurance that undetected errors will not occur including errors that are individually immaterial but that become material over

time when aggregated Further we can provide no assurance that errors that are detected will be corrected in timely manner to enable the Company to meet its future

SEC filing deadlines
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Risks Related to an Investment in Our Common Stock

Investment in our common stock involves risk and we do not expect to pay dividends on our common stock in the foreseeable future

The market price for our common stock has in the past experienced substantial price volatility and such volatility may occur in the future Our quarterly operating

results the results of other companies participating in the computer-based products and services industry changes in conditions in the economy or the financial markets

of the computer products and services industries natural disasters or other developments affecting us or our competitors could cause the market price of our common

stock to fluctuate substantially In addition the stock market has experienced extreme price and volume fluctuations that have affected the market price of many

technology stocks and have often been unrelated or disproportionate to the operating performance of these companies For the foreseeable future it is expected that

earnings if any generated from our operations will be used to finance the growth of our business and that no dividends will be paid to holders of our common stock

Our executive officers own sign flcant amount of our common stock and will be able to exercise sign jflcant influence on matters requiring shareholder approvaL

Our executive officers collectively owned approximately 15% of our outstanding common stock as of December 31 2009 Consequently together they continue to be

able to exert significant influence over the election of our directors the outcome of most corporate actions requiring shareholder approval and our business

Our articles of incorporation and bylaws contain anti-takeover provisions which could have the effect of making it more djfficultfor third party to acquire control

of us

Our articles of incorporation authorize our board of directors to issue up to 5000000 shares of preferred stock and to fix the rights preferences privileges and

restrictions including voting rights of the preferred stock without further vote or action by our shareholders The rights of the holders of our common stock will be

subject to and may be adversely affected by the rights of the holders of any preferred stock that may be issued in the future The issuance of any shares of preferred

stock while providing desired flexibility
in connection with possible acquisitions and other corporate actions could have the effect of making it more difficult for

third party to acquire majority of our outstanding voting stock For example an issuance of preferred stock could

adversely affect the voting power of the stockholders of our common stock

make it more difficult for third party to gain control of us

discourage bids for our common stock at premium

limit or eliminate any payments that the stockholders of our common stock could expect to receive upon our liquidation or

otherwise adversely affect the market price of our common stock

In addition our articles of incorporation divide our board of directors into three classes of directors with each class serving staggered three-year term Since the

classification of the board of directors generally increases the difficulty of replacing majority of the board of directors it is likely to discourage third party from

making tender offer or otherwise attempting to obtain control of us Our articles of incorporation and bylaws also provide that the provisions of our articles of

incorporation and bylaws can only be amended by supermajority vote at least 75% of shareholders In addition our bylaws prohibit us from engaging in certain

business combinations unless the business combination is approved in prescribed manner
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ITEM lB UNRItSOLVED STAFF COMMENTS

There are no unresolved written comments that were received from the SEC staff 180 days or more before the end of our 2009 fiscal year relating to our periodic or

current reportc under the Exchange Act

ITEM PROPERTIES

The Company currently conducts its operations from 17 locations and 18 different facilities With the exception of one property all of our facilities are leased The

facilities consist of assembly/warehouse and sales/administrative offices totaling approximately 398000 square feet In addition the Company subleases approximately

124000 square feet including two facilities in Alpharetta Georgia and one facility
in Aurora Colorado The long-term leases on the Companys facilities expire at

various dates through 2017 The Company also has two corporate apartment leases Both apartments are located in Shanghai China The leases expire on various dates

through July 2010 The Company believes its facilities are adequate for its current needs and does not anticipate any material difficulty
in securing facilities for new

space should the need arise See Liquidity and Capital Resources for summary of the Companys lease obligations summary of our principal
leased and owned

properties that are currently in use is as follows

Location Area sq feet Lease Expiration

Alpharetta Georgia Office space 106631 January 2013

Alpharetta Georgia Assembly and warehouse 101570 December 2017

Alpharetta Georgia Office space 75759 January 2013

Fort Worth Texas Office space 66882 July 2016

Alpharetta Georgia Office space 43715 December 2010

Salzburg Austria Office and warehouse space 25210 January 2017

Memphis Tennessee Office space 22678 December 2010

Irvine California Office and warehouse space 18000 July 2013

Geelong Australia Office and warehouse space 11900 October 2012

Adelaide Australia Office assembly and warehouse space 10721 March 2011

Huntington Beach California Office space 9706 February 2015

Alpharetta Georgia Warehouse 9600 April 2011

Prague Czech Republic Office space 8216 January 2011

Kent United Kingdom Office space 3757 Owned

Aurora Colorado Office space 4194 June 2013

Singapore Office space 1399 April 2010

Shanghai China Office space 1251 March 2010

The Company is subleasing 100% of this facility The sublease expires concurrent with the Companys primary lease agreement in January 2013

The Company is subleasing 100% of this
facility

The sublease expires concurrent with the Companys primary lease agreement in December 2010

The Company has two leased facilities in Geelong Australia One of the leases expires in October 2012 and the other is month-to-month lease

The Company is subleasing 100% of this facility The sublease expires concurrent with the Companys primary lease agreement in June 2013

ITEM LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

There are no material pending legal proceedings to which the Company is party or of which any of its properties are the subject nor are there material proceedings

known to the Company to be contemplated by any governmental authority There are no material proceedings known to the Company pending or contemplated in

which any director officer or affiliate or any principal security holder of the Company or any associate of any of the foregoing is party or has an interest adverse to

the Company

ITEM FREMOVED AND RESERVED1
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PART II

ITEM MARKET FOR REGISTRANTS COMMON EOUITY RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF EOUITY

SECURITIES

The Companys common stock is traded on The NASDAQ Stock Market under the symbol RADS The following table sets forth the high and low closing sales

prices of our common stock for the periods indicated as reported by The NASDAQ Stock Market

Year ended December 31 2009 High Low

First Quarter 5.17 2.25

Second Quarter 8.30 4.66

ThirdQuarter 1129 861

FourthQuarter 11.11 9.32

High Low

17.31 12.04

14.31 10.73

12.27 8.33

8.36 3.05

As of March 2010 there were 125 holders of record of the Companys common stock The closing price for the stock on this date was $12.01 Management of the

Company believes that there are in excess of 7110 beneficial holders of its common stock

Performance Graph

The following graph compares the performance of Radiants common stock with the performance of The NASDAQ Stock Market Index and The NASDAQ Computer

and Data Processing Stock Index for five year period by measuring the changes in common stock prices from December 31 2004 to December 31 2009

Year ended December 312008

First Quarter

Second Quarter

Third Quarter

Fourth Quarter

COMPARISON OF YEAR CUMULATIVE TOTAL RETURN

Amongkadiant Systems Inc The NASDAQ Composite Index

nd NASDAQ ontpukr Dati Pmocutng IndLx

t2104

itadhut Systcus Inc

N/SIAQ Conos4c

4kSfl\Q Consputer lists lroccsins

100 invested on 12/31/04 in stock or indexincluding

reinvestment of dividends
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Dividends

The Company currently anticipates that all of its earnings will be retained for development of the Companys business and does not anticipate paying any cash

dividends in the foreseeable future Future rash dividends if any will he at the discretion of the Companys Board of Directors and will depend upon among other

things the Companys future earnings operations capital requirements and surplus general financial condition contractual restrictions and such other factors as the

Board of Directors may deem relevant

The Companys credit agreement with JP Morgan Chase Bank N.A contains limitations on the Companys ability to declare and pay cash dividends Further

explanation of this agreement is presented in Note of the consolidated financial statements

Securities Authorized for Issuance Under Equity Compensation Plans

The following table provides information for all equity compensation plans as of the fiscal year ended December 31 2009 under which the equity securities of the

Company were authorized for issuance

Weighted-Average Number of Securities

Number of Securities Exercise Price of Remaining Available

to be Issued Upon Exercise Outstanding Options for Future Issuance

of Outstanding Options Warrants and Under Equity

in thousands except per share data Warrants and Rights Rights Compensation Plans

Equity Compensation Plans

Approved by Shareholders

1995 Stock Option Plan 2923 8.21

1997 Non-Management Directors Stock Option Plan 235 9.66

1998 Employee Stock Purchase Plan 932

2005 Long-Term Incentive Plan 2717 10.59 999

Not approved by shareholders
__________________

Total 5875 9.37 1931

Purchases of Common Stock

In the fourth quarter of 2007 the Board of Directors of the Company authorized re-commencement of the Companys stock repurchase program authorizing the

repurchase of up to 1.0 million shares of its common stock at price not to exceed $25.00 per share through November 2009 No such purchases were made during the

fiscal years ended December 31 2009 2008 or 2007
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ITEM SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

The following table sets forth selected consolidated financial data of the Company for each of its five most recent fiscal years which have been derived from the

consolidated fmancial statements of the Company The financial data as of and for the year ended December 31 2005 includes Radiants acquisition of MenuLink

which took place in October 2005 The financial data as of and for the year ended December 312006 includes Radiants acquisition of Synchronics which took place

in January 2006 The financial data as of and for the year ended December31 2008 includes Radiants acquisitions of Quest Hospitality EPoS Jadeon and Orderman

which took place in January 2008 April 2008 May 2008 and July 2008 respectively See Note to the consolidated financial statements for further explanation

regarding these acquisitions This selected consolidated financial data should be read in conjunction with Managements Discussion and Analysis of Financial

Condition and Results of Operations and the consolidated financial statements of the Company and the notes thereto included elsewhere herein in thousands except

per share data

Year Ended December 31

2009 2008 2007 2006 2005

Statement of Operations Data

Revenues 287468 301576 253198 222310 172042

Cost of revenues 151949 172514 141601 124451 102292

Gross
profit 135519 129062 112137 97859 69750

Net loss income 9398 11028 11843 18357 5562

Net loss income per share

Basic loss income per share 029 34 38 59 19

Diluted loss income per share 0.29 0.33 0.36 0.56 0.18

December 31

2009 2008 2007 2006 2005

Balance Sheet Data

Working capital 28790 41578 51720 29656 22822

Totalassets 288597 303542 221959 198655 142505

Long-term debt including current portion 62626 98466 20467 34194 18383

Shareholders equity 153343 140331 141956 115971 84433

Fiscal year ended December 31 2009 includes non-cash impairment charge of $20.9 million related to the goodwill and certain intangible assets associated

with our Quest acquisition See Note to the consolidated financial statements and Managements Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results

of Operations Fiscal year ended December 31 2006 includes an income tax benefit of approximately $10.3 million See Note 10 in the notes to the consolidated

financial statements and Managements Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

21



ITEM MANAGEMENTS DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Introduction

Managements Discussion and Analysis MDA is intended to facilitate an understanding of Radiants business and results of operations This MDA should be

read in conjunction with Radiants consolidated financial statements and the accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this report

MDA consists of the following sections

Overview summary of Radiants business financial performance and opportunities

Recent Acquisitions and New Businesses summary of recent acquisitions and new businesses

Results of Operations discussion of operating results

Liquidity and Capital Resources An analysis of cash flows sources and uses of cash contractual obligations and financial position

Critical Accounting Policies and Procedures discussion of critical accounting policies that require the exercise ofjudgments and estimates

Recent Accounting Pronouncements summary of recent accounting pronouncements and the effects on the Company

Overview

We are leading provider of technology focused on the development installation and delivery of solutions for managing site operations of
hospitality

and retail

businesses Our point-of-sale and back-office technology is designed to enable businesses to deliver exceptional customer service while improving profitability
We

offer full range of products and services that are tailored to specific hospitality and retail market needs including hardware software professional services and

electronic payment processing The Company offers best-of-breed solutions designed for ease of integration in managing site operations thus enabling operators to

improve customer service while reducing costs We believe our approach to site operations is unique in that our product solutions provide enterprise visibility and

control at the site field and headquarters levels

Our Companys growth continues to be driven by the long-term industry shift toward full system solution provider the
ability to have vertical solutions and

non-payment applications residing at the point-of-sale and new technology that enables operators to enhance their revenue drivers such as speed and consistency of

service customer loyalty programs order accuracy and loss prevention and providing customers with greater value and broader selection of products Most recently

there have been well publicized breaches of point-of-sale and back-office systems that handle consumer card details spurring widespread interest in more secure

payment terminals and end-to-end encryption technology We believe we are well positioned to meet the needs of our industry segments and the concerns around

security with our suite of product offerings which consist of hardware and software for point-of-sale and operational applications as well as our back-office application

offerings which include inventory labor financial management fraud management and other centrally hosted enterprise solutions

Security has become driving factor in our industry as our customers try to meet ever escalating governmental requirements directed toward the prevention of identity

theft as well as operating safeguards imposed by the credit and debit card associations In September 2006 these card associations established the PCI Security

Standards Council to oversee and unify industry standards in the areas of credit card data security We believe we are leader in providing systems and software

solutions that meet the payment application requirements and will continue to help the industry define new standards across the payment process educate businesses on

how to reduce theft by meeting the Payment Card Industry Data Security Standard PCI DSS requirement process and build new technologies outside its point-of-sale

software to combat theft

We manage our business in two reportable segments Hospitality which includes our food service and entertainment businesses and the recently acquired businesses

of Orderman Jadeon Hospitality EPoS and Quest and iiRetail which is comprised of our petroleum and convenience retail and specialty retail businesses Each

segment focuses on delivering site management systems including point-of-sale self-service kiosk and back-office systems designed specifically
for each of the core

vertical markets We believe our customers benefit from number of competitive advantages gained through our 25-year history
of success in our industry segments

These advantages include our globally trusted brand names large installed base customizable platforms and our investment in research and development of new

products for our industry segments

The point-of-sale hospitality and retail markets in which we operate are intensely competitive and highly dynamic categorized by advances in technology product

introductions and the ability to respond to security standards This competitive environment and the expectation in the marketplace that technology will continue to

improve while becoming less expensive results in
significant pricing pressures Our ability to compete generally depends on how well we navigate within this

environment To compete successfully we must continue to commercialize our technology develop new products that meet constantly evolving customer requirements

continually improve our existing products processes and services faster than our competitors and price our products competitively while reducing average unit costs

Our 2009 financial results reflected significantly reduced demand for point-of-sale software and equipment due to extremely unfavorable global economic and industry

conditions with the most significant declines seen in the first half of 2009 Negative trends in consumer spending and pervasive economic uncertainty led to slowed

new site openings and reduced capital spending from existing customers Although we saw declines in our systems and professional services revenue during 2009 we

continued to see increases in our recurring revenue sources such as hardware maintenance software support and maintenance hosted solution offerings and electronic

payment processing These higher margin sources of income which resulted in significant increase in our gross profit percentage over 2008 along with the fact that

these revenues are recurring in nature lead us to believe that although our revenues declined in 2009 the quality of our revenues has significantly improved

In the second half of 2009 demand began to increase and was recognized through new customer wins growing pipeline of opportunities and the stabilization of our

channel partners which resulted in fourth quarter growth over 2008 We expect this trend to continue in 2010 due to the number of significant new contracts signed in

the second half of 2009 the visibility of the pipeline available to us in 2010 our ability to work closely with our channel partners to help end customers realize the

benefits of new technology in their sites and the launching of several new products in hosted solutions mobile ordering and new point-of-sale terminal in Europe

Expecting that our revenues would decline in 2009 as result of the poor economic conditions we took actions to realign our cost structure with these expectations

This resulted in headcount reductions across our business including employees and temporary/contract workers which was necessary in order to maintain profitability

generate strong operating cash flows and protect our capital These proactive measures helped us generate record cash flows from operations and operating income

profitability as compared to our performance in 2008 excluding charges associated with the non-cash write off of goodwill and certain intangible assets that occurred in

the fourth quarter
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Recent Acquisitions and New Businesses

The following is brief summary of recent acquisitions in order from most current to least current followed by discussion of our electronic payment processing

business To the extent that we believe acquisitions joint ventures or new businesses can position us to better to serve our current segments we will continue to pursue

such opportunities in the future

Acquisition of Orderman On July 2008 the Company acquired Ordemian GmbH Orderman one of the leading manufacturers of wireless

handheld ordering and payment devices for the hospitality industry Headquartered in Salzburg Austria Orderman has provided innovative mobile

solutions since 1994 Orderman distributes its solutions through reseller network of partners that have deployed approximately 50000 handheld

devices predominately in Europe The
acquisition

enables Radiant to accelerate the adoption of mobile devices in the global hospitality sector The

total purchase price was approximately $33.0 million The operations of the Orderman business have been included in our consolidated results of

operations and financial position from the date of acquisition The results of these operations are reported under the Hospitality segment

Acquisition of Jadeon On May 2008 Radiant acquired substantially all of the assets of Jadeon Inc Jadeon one of the Companys resellers

in Califomia Headquartered in Irvine just outside Los Angeles Jadeon had been delivering and supporting Radiants hospitality point-of-sale

solutions since 2001 and offered full range of technology systems and implementation and support services throughout the West coast The

acquisition enables Radiant to strengthen its service capabilities and relationships with key accounts and serves as platform for Radiant to

strengthen its West coast market presence specifically in the Los Angeles and San Francisco markets allowing better penetration in the largest

market in North America The total purchase price was approximately $7.3 million The operations of the Jadeon business have been included in our

consolidated results of operations and financial position from the date of acquisition The results of these operations are reported under the

Hospitality segment

Acquisition of Hospitality EPoS On April 2008 the Company acquired Hospitality EPoS Systems Ltd Hospitality EP0S technology

supplier to the U.K hospitality market since 1992 Headquartered in Kent England just outside London Hospitality EPoS provided capabilities
for

sales implementation and support services and represented our suite of Aloha products The total purchase price was approximately $6.1 million

The operations of the Hospitality EPoS business have been included in our consolidated results of operations and financial position from the date of

acquisition The results of these operations are reported under the Hospitality segment

Acquisition of Quest On January 12008 the Company acquired Quest Retail Technology Quest privately held company based in Adelaide

Australia Quest is global provider of point-of-sale and back office solutions to stadiums arenas convention centers race courses theme parks and

various other industries The total purchase price was approximately $53.4 million The operations of the Quest business have been included in our

consolidated results of operations and financial position
from the date of acquisition The results of these operations are reported under the

Hospitality segment

Launch of Radiant Payment Services Radiant expanded its business services in 2008 with the launch of Radiant Payment Services RPS
business aimed at selling and servicing electronic payment processing RPS enhances Radiants current solutions by providing an integrated turnkey

payment processing solution for wide variety of payment methods including credit debit and gift card payments The objective of RPS is to raise

the level of customer service that is provided to business owners and operators by providing competitive and transparent pricing increased

accountability from single vendor and the highest level of
security

for customer data and credit card transactions
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Results of Operations

The following table sets forth for the periods indicated the percentage relationship
of certain statement of operations items to total revenues

Year ended December 31

2009 2008 2007

Revenues

Systems 41.9% 51.6% 57.1%

Maintenance subscription and transaction services 46.0 36.1 32.5

Professional services
12.1 12.3 10.4

Total revenues ioo.o 100.0 100.0

Cost of revenues

Systems 22.2 27.5 30.2

Maintenance subscription and transaction services 22.7 20.8 17.5

Professional services 8.0 8.9 7.9

Total cost of revenues 52.9 57.2 55.6

Gross profit 47.1 42.8 44.3

Operating expenses
Product development 7.8 8.2 9.3

Sales and marketing 14.7 12.1 11.4

Depreciation of fixed assets 1.7 1.6 1.6

Amortization of intangible assets 3.2 2.6 1.7

General and administrative 12.2 104 11.1

Impairment of goodwill 5.9

Other charges and income net o.s

Total operating expenses 47.3 35.4 35.1

Loss income from operations

Interest and other expense net 0.8 1.7 1.0

Loss income from operations before income tax provision

Income tax provision 2.4 2.0 3.5

Net loss income 3.7% 4.7%
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Year ended December 31 2009 compared to year ended December 31 2008

The Company had net loss of $9.4 million or $0.29 per basic common share in 2009 compared with net income of $11.0 million or $0.33 per diluted common share

in 2008 The net loss was fully attributable to $20.9 million non-cash charge relating to the impairment of goodwill and certain intangible assets of Quest as further

described in Note to the consolidated financial statements

The Companys revenues decreased during the year ended December 31 2009 by $14.1 million or 5% compared to the year ended December 31 2008 The decrease

in revenue was primarily due to the global economic downturn that began in the latter portion of 2008 The decrease in revenues was partially offset by full year of

operations from our electronic payment processing business and the acquisitions of Orderrnan Jadeon and Hospitality EPoS that were completed in the second and third

quarters of 2008

Systems Systems revenue is derived from sales and licensing fees for our point-of-sale hardware and software site management software solutions and peripherals

Systems revenue for 2009 was $120.5 million compared to $155.6 million in 2008 decrease of $35.1 million or 23% The decrease in systems revenue was primarily

due to the economic downturn noted above which slowed new site openings and reduced capital spending from existing customers The decrease was partially offset by

having full year of operations from Orderman Jadeon and Hospitality EPoS

Maintenance subscription and transaction servicesThe Company derives revenues from maintenance subscription and transaction services including hardware

maintenance software support and maintenance hosted solutions and electronic payment processing services The majority of these revenues are derived from support

and maintenance which is structured on renewable basis and is directly attributable to the base of installed sites majority of all subscription maintenance and

support contracts are renewed annually

Revenues from maintenance subscription and transaction services increased by $23.3 million or 21% to $132.3 million in 2009 as compared to 2008 The increase

was primarily due to the additional revenues generated in both software and hardware support and maintenance resulting from incremental systems sales in 2008 and

2009 which added to our site base for recurring revenue an increase in demand for our hosted solutions and full year of revenues resulting from our electronic

payment processing business which we launched in the second half of 2008

Professional services The Company also derives revenues from professional services such as consulting training custom software development and system

installations Revenues from professional services decreased by $2.3 million or 6%to $34.7 million in 2009 as compared to 2008 The decrease is primarily due to

lower installations revenue which fell in direct correlation to the lower systems sales The decrease was partially offset by increased revenue in consulting and custom

software development projects

Systems gross profit Cost of systems consists primarily of hardware and peripherals for site-based systems and amortization of capitalized labor costs for
internally

developed software All costs other than capitalized software development costs are expensed as products are shipped while capitalized software development costs

are amortized to expense on straight-line basis over the estimated useful life of the software Systems gross profit decreased during 2009 by $15.8 million or 22% to

$56.8 million while the gross margin percentage remained constant at 47% in 2009 compared to 2008

Maintenance subscription and transaction services gross profit Cost of maintenance subscription and transaction services consists primarily of personnel and other

costs to provide support and maintenance services hosted solutions and electronic payment processing services The gross profit on maintenance subscription and

transaction services revenue increased during 2009 by $20.9 million or 45% to $67.1 million while the gross margin percentage increased by eight points to 51% for

2009 compared to 2008 The increase in the gross margin percentage was primarily due to the launch of our electronic payment processing business and increased

revenues from hosted solutions both of which have higher margins Margins were also improved in support and maintenance services through the combination of

groups and streamlining of processes while maintaining high level of service

Professional services gross profit Cost of professional services consists primarily of personnel costs for consulting training custom software development and

installation services The gross profit on professional services revenue increased during 2009 by $1.4 million or 14% to $11.5 million while the gross margin

percentage increased by six points to 33% for 2009 compared to 2008 The increase in the gross margin percentage was primarily attributable to the removal of capacity

in the Company through the headcount reductions made in the fourth quarter of 2008 and the first quarter of 2009 as well as continued focus on improving margins

within our professional services through better utilization of personnel including temporary and contract employees

Segment revenues Total revenues in the Hospitality business segment were $215.7 million in 2009 compared to $225.0 million in 2008 decrease of $9.3 million or

4% The decrease was primarily due to the decline in systems sales throughout the segment but was partially offset by full year of operations for Orderman Jadeon

and Hospitality EPoS and an increase in maintenance subscription and transaction fees revenue

Total revenues in the Retail business segment were $68.8 million in 2009 compared to $73.1 million in 2008 decrease of $4.3 million or 6% The decrease was

primarily attributable to economic factors that have resulted in decrease in demand by convenience store operators This decrease was partially offset by an increase in

revenues within our specialty retail business

Segment net income before allocation of central Costs The Company measures segment profit based on net income before the allocation of certain central costs For

the year ended December 31 2009 total net income before allocation of central costs in the Hospitality business segment decreased by $20.0 million or 54%
compared to the same period in 2008 The decrease was primarily due to the non-cash charge relating to the impairment of goodwill and certain intangible assets of

Quest This decrease was partially offset by improved operating margins attributable to more efficient cost structure resulting from the headcount reductions

previously mentioned

For the year ended December 312009 total net income before allocation of central costs in the Retail business segment increased by $4.6 million or 44% compared to

the same period in 2008 The increase was primarily due to an increase in sales and profitability through our channel partners and more efficient cost structure

resulting from the headcount reductions previously mentioned
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Total operating expenses Total operating expenses for 2009 increased by $29.1 million or 27% as compared to 2008 Total operating expenses as percentage of

total revenues were 47% in 2009 and 35% in 2008 The components of operating expenses are discussed below

Product development expenses --- Product development expenses consist primarily of wages and materials expended on product development efforts

excluding any development expenses related to associated revenues which are included in costs of customer support maintenance and other services

Product development expenses decreased during 2009 by $2.4 million or 10% compared to 2008 primarily due to headcount reductions made in the

fourth quarter of 2008 and the first quarter of 2009 to adjust our cost structure during the economic downturn

Sales and marketing expenses Sales and marketing expenses increased during 2009 by $6.0 million or 16% compared to 2008 This increase was

primarily related to full year of sales and marketing expenses resulting from the acquisitions of Orderman Jadeon and Hospitality EPoS higher

bonus expense in 2009 as compared to 2008 due to the Company meeting its budgeted operating income and full year of costs associated with our

electronic payment processing business Sales and marketing expenses as percentage of total revenue were 15% and 12% in 2009 and 2008

respectively

Depreciation offixed assets and amortization of intangible assets Depreciation and amortization expense increased by $1.5 million or 12% in

2009 as compared to 2008 The increase was directly related to full year of amortization of certain intangible assets associated with Orderman

Jadeon and Hospitality EPoS Depreciation and amortization expenses as percentage of revenues were 5% and 4% during 2009 and 2008

respectively

General and administrative expensesGeneral and administrative expenses increased during 2009 by $3.7 million or 12% as compared to 2008

The increase was primarily due to the additional overhead expenses resulting
from the acquisitions completed in 2008 and additional bonus expense

associated with the Company meeting its budgeted operating income for the year General and administrative expenses as percentage of total

revenue were 12% and 10% in 2009 and 2008 respectively

Impairment of goodwill During the fourth quarter of 2009 the Company recorded $17.0 million non-cash impairment charge to write off

portion of the goodwill associated with the acquisition of Quest This charge was the result of our annual goodwill impairment analysis as further

described in Note to the consolidated financial statements

Other charges and income net The amounts contained under this heading are unlikely to occur again in the normal course of business and as

such it is not practical to compare amounts between the current period and previous periods However description of the items which comprise

these amounts follows See Note to the consolidated financial statements for further discussion of these items

During the fourth quarter of 2009 the Company recorded $3.9 million non-cash impairment charge to write off portion of certain

intangible assets associated with Quest This charge was the result of an appraisal of Quests intangible assets performed in

conjunction with the goodwill impairment analysis as further described in Note to the consolidated financial statements

During the first quarter of 2009 the Company determined that it would not use certain third-party software licenses and recorded

write-off charge of $0.5 million as result Also during the first quarter of 2009 the Company recorded charge of $0.7 million

related to severance costs and restructuring of the organization This charge resulted from efforts to align the Companys structure

with its revenues in light of the severe economic downturn that began in the second half of 2008 Additionally during the first quarter

of 2009 the Company sold building for cash proceeds of approximately $0.2 million net gain of approximately $0.1 million was

recognized as result of this transaction

During the fourth quarter of 2008 the Company recorded an impairment charge of$1.0 million related to the write down of

capitalized software product and charge of $0.4 million related to severance payments and the restructuring of the organization

These charges were offset by gain of $1.4 million on the sale of land near its corporate headquarters

During the third quarter of 2008 the Company recorded restructuring charge of $2.1 million related to amending sublease

agreement on facility in Alpharetta Georgia

During the second quarter of 2008 the Company recorded gain of approximately $0.5 million as result of entering into forward

exchange contract in preparation for the acquisition of Orderman

During the first quarter of 2008 the Company recorded gain of approximately $0.3 million as result of entering into forward

exchange contract in preparation for the acquisition of Quest This gain was offset by approximately $0.4 million in debt cost

write-offs and penalties associated with early termination of credit agreement as described in Note to the consolidated financial

statements

Interest expense net The Companys interest expense includes interest expense incurred on its long-term debt and capital lease obligations Interest expense

decreased from $4.9 million in 2008 to $2.3 million in 2009 This decrease was the result of the Companys continuing reduction of its debt which decreased by

approximately $35.8 million during 2009

Provision for income taxes The Companys effective income tax rate was 264.6% in 2009 5.4% in 2008 and 42.7% in 2007 In the fourth quarter of 2009 the

Company recorded non-cash charges related to the impairment of goodwill and certain intangible assets associated with Quest As result of these charges the

Companys effective tax rate fluctuated significantly during the 2009 year as compared to 2008 During 2009 valuation allowance of $6.6 million was recorded

related to the amortization and impairment of goodwill and certain intangible assets associated with the acquisition of Quest This compares to $0.5 million valuation

allowance related to the amortization of intangible assets associated with the acquisition of Quest recorded in 2008 The rate reconciliation table in Note 10 to the

consolidated financial statements illustrates the rate impact of the individual items referenced in this table Each of these items were calculated based on the tax impact

each item had on the Companys net income The charges from the impairment of goodwill and certain intangible assets associated with the Quest acquisition resulted

in loss for U.S GAAP purposes However these charges were not deductible for tax purposes which contributed to significant
fluctuation from the rate noted in

2009 compared to 2008 for each item as referenced in the rate reconciliation table Excluding the impairment charges the Companys effective tax rate would have

been 37.2% See Note 10 to the consolidated financial statements for additional discussion of income taxes
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Year ended December 31 2008 compared to year ended December 31 2007

The Company earned net income of $0.33 per diluted common share in 2008 compared with $0.36 per diluted common share in 2007 In addition the Companys

revenues increased during the year ended December 31 2008 by $48.4 million or 19% compared to the year ended December 31 2007 The increase in revenue was

primarily due to the acquisitions completed in 2008 in addition to new contracts within our direct channel in our Hospitality segment and new contracts within our

indirect channel in our Retail segment In addition continued market penetration of the products previously acquired through acquisitions and transaction fee revenue

resulting from our new electronic payment processing business contributed to the increase

Systems Systems revenue is derived from sales and licensing fees for our point-of-sale hardware and software site management software solutions and peripherals

Systems revenue for 2008 was $155.6 million compared to $144.6 million in 2007 an increase of $11.0 million or 8% The year over year increase was primarily due

to the additional revenues resulting from the acquisitions of Orderman Quest Hospitality EPoS and Jadeon and the continued expansion of direct sales in the

Hospitality segment The increase from 2007 to 2008 was partially offset by decrease in our Retail business segment

Maintenance subscription and transaction services The Company derives revenues from maintenance subscription and transaction services including hardware

maintenance software support and maintenance hosted solutions and electronic payment processing services The majority of these revenues are derived from support

and maintenance which is structured on renewable basis and is directly attributable to the base of installed sites significant majority of all subscription

maintenance and support contracts are renewed annually

Revenues from maintenance subscription and transaction services increased by $26.7 million or 33% from 2007 to $108.9 million in 2008 The increase was primarily

due to the additional revenues generated in both software and hardware support and maintenance resulting from increased systems sales in 2008 additional revenues

resulting from our electronic payment processing business and additional revenues resulting
from the acquisitions of Quest and Jadeon

Profrssional services The Company also derives revenues from professional services such as consulting training custom software development and system

installations Revenues from professional services increased by $10.6 million or 40% from 2007 to $37.0 million in 2008 The increase was primarily due to the

additional revenues resulting from the acquisitions of Quest and Jadeon the continued expansion of direct sales in the Hospitality segment and the continued growth of

new site installations in our hospitality
markets

Systems gross profit Cost of systems consists primarily of hardware and peripherals for site-based systems and amortization of capitalized labor costs for internally

developed software All costs other than capitalized software development costs are expensed as products are shipped while capitalized software development costs

are amortized to expense on straight-line basis over the estimated useful life of the software Systems gross profit increased during 2008 by $4.6 million or 7% to

$72.7 million while the gross margin percentage remained constant at 47% in 2008 compared to 2007

Maintenance subscription and transaction services gross profit Cost of maintenance subscription and transaction services consists primarily of personnel and other

costs to provide support and maintenance services hosted solutions and electronic payment processing services The gross profit on maintenance subscription and

transaction services revenue increased during 2008 by $8.5 million or 22% to $46.3 million while the gross margin percentage decreased by three points to 43% for

2008 compared to 2007 The decrease in the gross margin percentage was primarily the result of decrease in our hardware maintenance margin Specifically the

Jadeon business had lower margin on hardware maintenance than Radiant but we expect to be able to increase these margins as we continue our integration of Jadeon

into our core business

Profrssional services gross profit Cost of professional services consists primarily of personnel costs for consulting training custom software development and

installation services The gross profit on professional services revenue increased during 2008 by $3.9 million or 62% to $10.1 million while the gross margin

percentage increased by four points to 27% for 2008 compared to 2007 The increase in the gross margin percentage was the result of continued focus on improving

margins within our consulting and custom development services through better utilization of personnel

Segment revenues Total revenues in the Hospitality business segment were $225.0 million in 2008 compared to $170.5 million in 2007 an increase of $54.5 million

or 32% The increase was primarily due to the additional revenues resulting from the acquisitions of Orderman Quest Hospitality EPoS and Jadeon and an increase

within our direct sales channel

Total revenues in the Retail business segment were $73.1 million in 2008 compared to $80.5 million in 2007 decrease of $7.5 million or 9% The decrease is

primarily attributable to economic factors that resulted in decrease in demand by convenience store operators This decrease was partially
offset by an increase in

revenues within our indirect sales channel

Segment net income before allocation of central costs The Company measures segment profit based on net income before the allocation of certain central costs For

the year ended December 31 2008 total net income before allocation of central costs in the Hospitality business segment increased by $1.2 million or 3% compared to

the same period in 2007 The increase from 2007 was primarily due to the profitability driven by the acquisition of Quest and additional revenue and
profits

in our food

service operating unit This increase was partially offset by an expected decrease in our entertainment operating unit and net loss in our Orderman business

For the year ended December 31 2008 total net income before allocation of central costs in the Retail business segment decreased by $6.5 million or 38% compared

to the same period in 2007 The decrease from 2007 was primarily the result of reduction in revenue from the Retail business segment specifically our petroleum and

convenience store operating unit and decrease in gross profit due to changes in product mix
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Total operating expenses Total operating expenses for 2008 increased by $17.9 million or 20% as compared to 2007 Total operating expenses as percentage of

total revenues were 35% in 2008 and 2007 The components of operating expenses are discussed below

Product development expenses Product development expenses consist primarily of wages and materials expended on product development efforts

excluding any development expenses related to associated revenues which are included in costs of customer support maintenance and other services

Product development expenses increased during 2008 by $1.4 million or 6% compared to 2007 primarily due to the additional expense structure

assumed by the acquisitions made during the year Product development expense as percentage of total revenue was 8% and 9% in 2008 and 2007

respectively

Sales and marketing expenses Sales and marketing expenses increased by $7.5 million or 26% compared to 2007 This increase was primarily

related to the incremental sales and marketing expenses resulting from the acquisitions of Orderman Quest Hospitality EPoS and Jadeon and the

hiring of additional personnel to manage and support our sales growth Sales and marketing expenses as percentage of total revenue were 12% and

11% in 2008 and 2007 respectively

Depreciation offixed assets and anwrtizatwn of intangible assets Depreciation and amortization expense increased by $4.1 million or 49% in

2008 as compared to 2007 The increase from 2007 was directly related to the amortization of certain intangible assets related to the acquisitions of

Orderman Quest Hospitality EPoS and Jadeon as well as additional depreciation expense resulting from the growth in our fixed assets

Depreciation and amortization expenses as percentage of revenues were 4% and 3% during 2008 and 2007 respectively

General and administrative expenses General and administrative expenses increased by $3.3 million or 12% as compared to 2007 The increase

from 2007 was primarily due to the additional expense structure assumed by the acquisitions made during the year General and administrative

expenses as percentage of total revenue were 10% and 11% in 2008 and 2007 respectively

Other charges and income net The amounts contained under this heading are unlikely to occur again in the normal course of business and as

such it is not practical to compare amounts between the current period and previous periods However description of the items which comprise

these amounts follows See Note to the consolidated financial statements for further discussion of these items

During the fourth quarter of 2008 the Company recorded an impairment charge of $1.0 million related to the write down of

capitalized software product and charge of $0.4 million related to severance payments and the restructuring of the organization These

charges were offset by gain of $1.4 million on the sale of land near its corporate headquarters

During the third quarter of 2008 the Company recorded restructuring charge of $2.1 million related to amending sublease

agreement on facility in Alpharetta Georgia

During the second quarter of 2008 the Company recorded gain of approximately $0.5 million as result of entering into forward

exchange contract in preparation for the acquisition of Orderman

During the first quarter of 2008 the Company recorded gain of approximately $0.3 million as result of entering into forward

exchange contract in preparation for the acquisition of Quest This gain was offset by approximately $0.4 million in debt cost write-offs

and penalties associated with early termination of credit agreement as described in Note to the consolidated financial statements

During 2007 the Company recorded gain of $0.8 million as result of entering into forward exchange contract in preparation for the

acquisition of Quest In addition the Company recorded one-time expense of $1.2 million to write off accumulated transaction costs

for multiple corporate development activities that we elected not to pursue

During 2006 Radiant relocated its offices in Bedford Texas to facility in Fort Worth Texas The Company was contractually liable

for the lease payments on the abandoned Bedford facility through September 2007 lease expiration In accordance with FASB ASC

Topic 420 Exit or Disposal Cost Obligations ASC 420 the Company recorded lease restructuring charge based on the fair

value of the remaining lease payments and estimated maintenance costs at the abandonment date The restructuring charges were

attributable to the Companys Hospitality business segment The abandonment of the Bedford facility resulted in restructuring charge

of $1.4 million in 2006 which consisted of the fair value of the remaining lease liability and ongoing maintenance costs During 2007

the Company updated its restructuring reserve analysis and reduced the reserve by $0.1 million as the initial assumption regarding

ongoing maintenance costs changed

In 2005 Radiant decided to consolidate certain facilities located in Alpharetta Georgia in order to reduce future operating costs This

resulted in the abandonment of one facility which formerly housed the Companys customer support call center The restructuring

charges were not attributable to any of the Companys reportable segments In accordance with ASC 420 the Company recorded

lease restructuring charge based on the fair value of the remaining lease payments at the abandonment date less the estimated sublease

rentals that could reasonably be obtained from the property This consolidation resulted in restructuring charge of $1.5 million in

2005 which consisted of $1.2 million for facility consolidations and $0.3 million of fixed asset write-offs associated with the facility

consolidation The Company updated its restructuring reserve analysis in 2007 and reduced the reserve by $0.2 million as the initial

assumption regarding the ability to sublease the facility changed As of December 31 2008 the Company had accrued $1.6 million

related to these lease commitments

Interest expense net The Companys interest expense includes interest expense incurred on its long-term debt and capital lease obligations Interest income is derived

from the investment of our cash and cash equivalents Net interest expense increased from $2.4 million in 2007 to $4.9 million in 2008 This increase was directly

attributable to the debt assumed when the Company entered into the 1PM Credit Agreement and additional borrowings were obtained on its revolving loan during 2008

to finance the acquisitions of Orderman Quest Hospitality EPoS and Jadeon as further described in Notes and to the consolidated financial statements

Provision for income taxes The Companys effective income tax rate was 35.4% in 2008 42.7% in 2007 and 127.9% in 2006 See Note 10 to the consolidated

financial statements for additional discussion of income taxes
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Liquidity and Capital Resources

Prior to January 2008 the Company had senior secured credit
facility

with Wells Fargo Foothill Inc the WFF Credit Agreement The WFF Credit Agreement

provided for extensions of credit upon satisfaction of certain conditions in the form of revolving loans in an aggregate principal amount of up to $15 million and term

loan facility in an aggregate principal amount of up to $31 million The revolving loan amount available to the Company was derived from monthly borrowing base

calculation using the Companys various accounts receivable balances The amount derived from this borrowing base calculation was further reduced by the total

amount of letters of credit outstanding Loans under the WFF Credit Agreement bore interest at Radiants option at either the London Interbank Offering Rate

LIBOR plus two and one half percent or at the prime rate of Wells Fargo Bank N.A

The WFF Credit Agreement was scheduled to expire on March 31 2010 however it was refinanced in January 2008 upon the execution of the credit agreement with

JPMorgan Chase Bank NA as arranger and JPMorgan Chase Bank N.A SunTrust Bank Bank of America Guaranty Bank and Wachovia Bank as lenders

the JPM Credit Agreement The JPM Credit Agreement and subsequent amendments thereto provide for extensions of credit upon satisfaction of certain conditions

in the form of revolving loans in an aggregate principal amount of up to $80 million and term loan facility in an aggregate principal amount of up to $30 million An

amendment to the JPM Credit Agreement was signed in July 2008 whereby the Company has the
right to increase its revolving credit commitment by up to $25

million subject to the terms and conditions set forth in the JPM Credit Agreement As of December 31 2009 aggregate borrowings under this facility totaled $62.0

million comprised of $42.0 million in revolving loans and $20.0 million in term loan facility borrowings As of December 31 2009 revolving loan borrowings

available to the Company were equal to $38.0 million

The JPM Credit Agreement is guaranteed by the Company and its subsidiaries and is secured by the assets of the Company and its subsidiaries The maturity date of the

JPM Credit Agreement is January 2013 Interest accrues on amounts outstanding under the loan facility at the Companys option of either LIBOR plus margin

ranging between 1.25% and 2.00% based upon the Companys consolidated leverage ratio as defined or the higher of the administrative agents prime rate or

one-half of one percent over the federal funds effective rate plus margin ranging between 0.25% and 1.00% based on the Companys consolidated leverage ratio as

defined The leverage ratio covenant limits the Companys consolidated indebtedness to multiple of three times its consolidated earnings before interest taxes

depreciation and amortization EBITDA as determined on pro forma basis over the prior four quarters The fixed charge coverage ratio requires the Company to

maintain the ratio of its consolidated EBITDA as determined on pro forma basis less
capital expenses to its fixed charges which includes regularly scheduled

principal payments consolidated interest expense taxes paid or payable in accordance with GAAP and restricted payments to at least 1.2 to for periods ending in

2008 1.3 to for periods ending in 2009 and 1.35 to thereafter The 1PM Credit Agreement contains certain customary representations and warranties from the

Company In addition the 1PM Credit Agreement contains certain financial and non-financial covenants with which the Company was in compliance as of

December 31 2009 Further explanation of this agreement is presented in Note to the consolidated financial statements

The Companys working capital decreased by approximately $12.8 million or 31% to $28.8 million at December 31 2009 as compared to $41.6 million at

December 31 2008 This decrease was primarily attributable to the fact that approximately $30.0 million of working capital was utilized to reduce the outstanding

balance on the Companys revolving loan facility which is included in long-term debt during 2009 The Company has historically funded its business through cash

generated by operations

Cash provided by operating activities for 2009 was approximately $43.4 million Cash from operations in 2009 was mainly generated through income from operations

adjusted to exclude the effect of non-cash charges including depreciation amortization impairment of goodwill stock-based compensation and other income and

charges Changes in assets and liabilities increased operating cash flows during 2009 principally due to our continued focus on collections which resulted in

reduction in accounts receivable ii focus on inventory management which resulted in decrease in inventories and iiian increase in accounts payable bonus

accruals and accrued expenses which have positive impact on cash flow that was due to normal year over year fluctuations and the timing of payments completed

during the fourth quarter If near-term demand for the Companys products weakens or if significant anticipated sales in any quarter do not close when expected the

availability of funds from operations may be adversely affected

Cash provided by operating activities for 2008 was approximately $17.2 million Cash from operations in 2008 was mainly generated through income from operations

adjusted to exclude the effect of non-cash charges including depreciation amortization stock-based compensation and other income and charges In addition the

Company received significant amounts of cash for calendar year support and maintenance which has been deferred The cash received from support and maintenance

was offset by the fact that the Company did not purchase the related receivables of Quest in conjunction with the acquisition completed during the first quarter of 2008

see Note to the consolidated financial statements The increase in accounts receivables and inventory balances of approximately $2.3 million during 2008 was due to

normal year over year fluctuations and the growth of the business both organic and acquisition related as reflected in the year over year revenue increase The decrease

in accounts payable and accrued expenses was due to normal year over year fluctuations and the timing of payments completed during the fourth quarter to reduce

various payables and accruals

Cash provided by operating activities for 2007 was approximately $25.2 million Cash from operations in 2007 was mainly generated through income from operations

adjusted to exclude the effect of non-cash charges including depreciation amortization and stock-based compensation These increases in cash were offset by an

increase in accounts receivable and inventory balances The increase in receivables was due to normal year over year fluctuations and the growth of the business both

organic and acquisition-related as reflected in the year over year revenue increase The increase in inventory was also due to normal year over year fluctuations and the

increase in anticipated hardware shipments in future quarters There was also an increase in accounts payable and accrued expenses that were direct result of the

increase in inventory and the fact that payments to our vendors that supplied the Company with inventory were not due at year end
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Cash used in investing activities during 2009 was approximately $12.2 million Approximately $6.3 million was used to invest in property and equipment and $2.0

million related to the completion of the purchase of customer list related to our RPS business The Company continued to increase its investment in future products by

investing $4.0 million in internally developed capitalizable software during 2009 Lastly the Company recognized cash proceeds of $0.2 million from the sale of

building located in Australia

Cash used in investing activities during 2008 was approximately $108.9 million Approximately $97.3 million was used in the acquisitions of Orderman Quest

Hospitality EPoS and Jadeon net of cash acquired see Note to the consolidated financial statements In addition the Company recognized cash proceeds during

2008 of approximately $5.5 million from the sale of an undeveloped parcel of land and the execution of forward exchange contracts in conjunction with the Orderman

and Quest acquisitions Approximately $11.0 million was used to invest in property and equipment including $7.8 million was utilized to improve our infrastructure

through the implementation of an upgraded ERP system that was placed in service in the first quarter of 2010 Lastly the Company increased its investment in future

products by investing $4.0 million in internally developed capitalizable software during 2008

Cash used in investing activities during 2007 was approximately $6.8 million Approximately $2.6 million of cash was invested in property and equipment and $1.5

million was spent on the purchase of license to use patented technology In addition the Company continued to increase its investment in future products by investing

$2.7 million in internally developed capitalizable software

Cash used in financing activities during 2009 was approximately $34.3 million as compared to cash provided by financing activities of $78.2 million in 2008 Financing

activities included scheduled payments under the 1PM Credit Agreement and payments against the revolving loan facility and research and development notes

scheduled payments against the Companys capital lease obligations and the impact of tax benefits related to stock-based compensation expense In addition the

Company received cash proceeds from research and development note the exercise of stock options by employees and the purchase of shares issued under the

Employee Stock Purchase Plan

Cash provided by financing activities during 2008 was $78.2 million Financing activities during 2008 included cash received from borrowings under the JPM Credit

Agreement equal to $116.2 million net of financing costs These borrowings were used to fund the acquisitions of Orderman Quest Hospitality EPoS and Jadeon see

Note to the consolidated financial statements complete scheduled term loan payments under the JPM Credit Agreement of $4.0 million reduce the outstanding credit

revolver balance under the 1PM Credit Agreement by $14.9 million repay the outstanding balance of the term loan under the WFF Credit Agreement equal to $18.2

million and to pay various fees associated with the termination of the WFF Credit Agreement of $0.3 million In addition the Company received cash proceeds from

employees for the exercise of stock options of $1.7 million made scheduled payments under the promissory notes related to the MenuLink acquisition equal to $1.3

million and repaid the entire balance of the promissory note with the previous shareholders of Aloha Technologies Inc equal to $1.0 million

Cash used in financing activities during 2007 was approximately $4.2 million In 2007 financing activities mainly consisted of $6.5 million in repayments under

borrowings from the WFF Credit Agreement repayment of $1.3 million of promissory notes related to the MenuLink acquisition scheduled payments under the WFF

Credit Agreement of $5.9 million and $9.8 million related to cash proceeds and the related tax benefit received from employees for the exercise of stock options

The Company believes that its cash and cash equivalents funds generated from operations and borrowing capacity will provide adequate liquidity to meet its normal

operating requirements as well as to fund the above obligations for at least the next twelve months

The Company believes there are opportunities to grow its business through the acquisition of complementary and synergistic companies products and technologies We
look for acquisitions that can be readily integrated and accretive to earnings although we may pursue smaller non-accretive acquisitions that will shorten our time to

market with new technologies The Company expects the general size of cash acquisitions it would currently consider would be in the $5 million to $50 million range

Any material acquisition could result in decrease in the Companys working capital depending on the amount timing and nature of the consideration to be paid In

addition any material acquisitions of complementary or synergistic companies products or technologies could require that we obtain additional debt or equity

financing There can be no assurance that such additional financing will be available to us or that if available such financing will be obtained on favorable terms and

would not result in additional dilution to our stockholders
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Contractual Obligations

The Company leases office space equipment and certain vehicles under non-cancelable operating lease agreements expiring on various dates through 2017

Additionally the Company leases computer equipment under various capital lease agreements which expire on various dates through June 2013 Contractual obligations

as of December 31 2009 are as follows in thousands

Payments Due by Period

Less than -3 3-5 More than

Total Year Years Years Years

Capital leases 1536 925 595 16

Operating leases 24778 5561 9354 5138 4725

Other obligations

Revolving credit facility JPM Credit Agreement 42000 42000

Term loan facility JPM Credit Agreement 20000 000 12000 2000

Austrian research development loan 626 626

Estimated interest payments on credit facility and term notes 422 2421 992

Purchasecommitments3 10768 10453 315

Total contractual obligations 106130 25360 26256 49789 4725

This schedule includes the future minimum lease payments related to facilities that are being subleased The total minimum rentals to be received in the future

under subleases as of December 31 2009 are approximately $1.9 million in less than one year $3.0 million in one to three years and $0.1 million in three to five

years

For purposes of this disclosure we used the interest rates in effect as of December 31 2009 to estimate future interest expense See Note to the consolidated

financial statements for further discussion of our debt components and their interest rate terms

The Company has entered into certain noncancelable purchase orders for manufacturing supplies to be used in its normal operations The related supplies are to

be delivered at various dates through September 2010 Further explanation of these commitments is presented in Note 11 to the consolidated financial statements

At December 31 2009 the Company had $2.8 million reserve for unrecognized tax benefits which is not reflected in the table above Substantially all of this tax

reserve is classified in other long-term liabilities and deferred income taxes on the accompanying consolidated balance sheet
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Critical Accounting Policies and Procedures

General

the Company discussion and analysis of its financial condition and results of operations are based upon its consolidated financial statements which have been

prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States The preparation of these financial statements requires the Companys

management to make estimates and judgments that affect the reported amounts of assets liabilities revenues and expenses and related disclosure of contingent assets

and liabilities On an ongoing basis the Company evaluates its estimates including those related to customer programs and incentives product returns bad debts

inventories intangible assets income taxes and commitments and contingencies The Company bases its estimates on historical experience and on various other

assumptions that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances the results of which form the basis for making judgments about the carrying values of assets

and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources Actual results may differ from these estimates under different assumptions or conditions

Management believes the following critical accounting policies affect its more significant judgments and estimates used in the preparation of our consolidated financial

statements

Revenue Recognition

The Companys revenue is generated primarily through software and system sales support and maintenance and other services The Company recognizes revenue

using the guidance from FASB ASC Subtopic Software Revenue Recognition ASC 985-605 FASB ASC Subtopic 605-3 Revenue Recognition

Construction-Type and Production-Type Contracts ASC 605-3 and FASB ASC Subtopic 605-10 Revenue Recognition Overall ASC 605-10 Under these

guidelines the Company recognizes revenue when the following criteria are met persuasive evidence of an agreement exists delivery of the product has

occurred the fee is fixed or determinable collectibility is reasonably assured and remaining obligations under the agreement are insignificant Under

multiple element arrangements where each element is separately stated sold and priced the Company recognizes revenues for the various elements based on

vendor-specific objective evidence VSOE of fair value The Companys VSOE of fair value is determined based on the price charged when the same element is sold

separately If evidence of fair value does not exist for all elements in multiple element arrangement the Company recognizes revenue using the residual method

Under the residual method delivered element without VSOE of fair value is recognized as revenue if all undelivered elements have VSOE of fair value Sales tax

collected is recorded net and is not recognized as revenue and is included in accrued expenses on the accompanying consolidated balance sheets Revenue from the

Companys customers is generally attributable to individual countries based on the location of the related point of shipment

The Company sells its products which include both software licenses and hardware to both resellers and directly to end-users Revenue from software licenses and

system sales is generally recognized as products are shipped provided that no significant vendor obligations remain and that collection of the related receivable is

probable For those agreements that provide for significant services or custom development that are essential to the softwares functionality the software license and

contracted services are recognized under the percentage of completion method as prescribed by the provisions of ASC 605-3 Contracts accounted for on percentage

of completion basis under the provisions of ASC 605-35 are not considered complete until acceptance as determined by the customer agreement has been obtained

The Company offers its customers post-contract support in the form of maintenance telephone support and unspecified software enhancements Revenue from support

and maintenance is recognized ratably over the term of the agreement The Company also offers its customers subscription based software model for use of its

software maintenance telephone support and hosting services on monthly basis Revenue from subscription pricing is recognized ratably over the contract period

The Companys professional services revenue consists of fees generated from consulting custom software development installation and training Revenue related to

professional services performed by the Company is generally recognized on time and materials basis as the services are performed Under contracts where revenue is

recognized using the percentage of completion method under the provisions of ASC 605-3 the Company measures its progress-to-completion by using input

measures primarily labor hours The Company continually updates and revises estimates of its input measures If those estimates indicate loss will be incurred the

entire loss is recognized in that period In addition the Company offers its customers subscription pricing and hosting services for some of its products Under these

subscription based contracts revenue is recognized ratably over the contract period commencing generally when the product has been installed

Allowance for DoubifulAccounts

The Company maintains allowances for doubtful accounts for estimated losses
resulting

from the
inability of customers to make required payments Estimates are

developed by using standard quantitative measures based on historical losses adjusting for current economic conditions and in some cases evaluating specific

customer accounts for risk of loss The establishment of reserves requires the use ofjudgment and assumptions regarding the potential for losses on receivable balances

Though the Company considers these allowances adequate and proper if the financial condition of its customers were to deteriorate resulting
in an impairment of their

ability to make payments additional allowances may be required
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Stock-based Compensation Expense

On Januaiy 2006 the Company implemented the provisions of FASB ASC Topic 718 CompensationStock Compensation ASC 718 using the modified

prospective transition method ASC 718 requires companies to recognize the cost for employee services received in exchange for awards of equity instruments based

upon the grant-date fair value of those awards Using the modified prospective transition method of adopting ASC 718 the Company began recognizing compensation

expense for equity-based awards granted after Januasy 2006 based on the grant date fair value estimated in accordance with the provisions of ASC 718 plus

unvested awards granted prior to January 2006 based on the grant date fair value estimated in accordance with the original provisions of ASC 718 Under this

method of implementation no restatement of prior periods has been made

At December 31 2009 the Company had approximately 1.4 million unvested options outstanding with weighted-average grant-date fair value per share of $3.67 The

unvested options and restricted stock awards have total unrecognized compensation expense of approximately $4.0 million net of estimated forfeitures which will be

recognized over the weighted average period of 0.9 years

For the years ended December 31 2009 2008 and 2007 the Company recognized stock compensation expense of approximately $4.5 million $4.6 million and $3.8

million respectively Prior to the adoption of ASC 718 the Company applied the intrinsic value method set forth in Accounting Principles Board Opinion No 25

Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees to calculate the compensation expense for stock-based awards Historically the Companys general policy was to set the

exercise price for its stock options equal to the market value on the grant date As result the options had no intrinsic value on their grant dates and the Company did

not record any compensation expense unless the terms of the options were subsequently modified

The Company uses the Black-Scholes-Merton model to estimate the fair value of options granted The Black-Scholes-Merton model requires estimates of the expected

term of the option as well as future
volatility

and the risk-free interest rate

For options issued during the year ended December 31 2009 the Company estimated the weighted average grant-date fair value per share to be $1.80 The key

assumptions used to calculate these values are provided below

Year ended

December 31 2009

Expected volatility 69 70%

Expected life in years 3-4

Expected dividend yield 00%
Risk-free interest rate 1.6 2.2%

The assumptions made represent managements best estimate but they are highly subjective and inherently uncertain If management had made different assumptions

the calculation of the options fair value and the resulting stock-based compensation expense could differ perhaps materially from the amounts recognized in the

Companys financial statements

In addition to the assumptions used to calculate the fair value of the Companys stock options the Company is required to estimate the expected forfeiture rate of all

share-based awards and only recognize expense for those awards the Company expects to vest The stock-based compensation expense recognized in the Companys
consolidated statement of operations for the years ended December 31 2009 2008 and 2007 has been reduced for estimated forfeitures If management were to change

the estimate of forfeiture rates the amount of stock-based compensation expense could differ perhaps materially from the amount recognized in the Companys
financial statements

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or market value Cost is
principally

determined by the first-in first-out method The Company records adjustments to the

value of inventory based upon its forecasted plans to sell its inventories The physical condition e.g age and quality of the inventories is also considered in

establishing its valuation These adjustments are estimates which could vary significantly either favorably or unfavorably from actual requirements if future economic

conditions customer inventory levels or competitive conditions differ from expectations

Capitalized Software Development Costs

In accordance with FASB ASC Subtopic 985-20 SoftwareCosts of Software to Be Sold Leased or Marketed ASC 985-20 the Companys policy on capitalized

software costs determines the timing of recognition of certain development costs In addition this policy determines whether the cost is classified as development

expense or cost of license fees Capitalization of such costs begins when detail program has been produced as evidenced by the completion of design planning coding

and testing such that the product meets its design specifications and has thereby established technological feasibility Capitalization of such costs ends when the

resulting product is available for general release to the public Amortization of
capitalized software development costs is recorded on straight-line basis over the

estimated economic life of the software which the Company has determined is not more than five years Management is required to use its judgment in determining

whether development costs meet the criteria for immediate expense or capitalization Additionally management is required to use its judgment in the valuation of the

unamortized capitalized software costs in determining whether the recorded value is recoverable based on future product sales

Long-LivedAssets

The Company evaluates the recoverability of long-lived assets and finite-lived identifiable intangibles not held for sale whenever events or changes in circumstances

indicate that an assets carrying amount may not be recoverable Such circumstances could include but are not limited to significant decrease in the market value

of an asset significant adverse change in the extent or manner in which an asset is used or in its physical condition or an accumulation of costs significantly in

excess of the amount originally expected for the acquisition or construction of an asset The Company measures the carrying amount of the asset against the estimated

undiscounted future cash flows associated with it Should the sum of the expected future net cash flows be less than the canying value of the asset being evaluated an

impairment loss would be recognized The impairment loss would be calculated as the amount by which the carrying value of the asset exceeds the fair value of the

asset The fair value is measured based on quoted market prices if available If quoted market prices are not available the estimate of fair value is based on various

valuation techniques including the discounted value of estimated future cash flows
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Goodwill and Intangible Assets

The Company has significant intangible assets related to goodwill and other acquired intangibles In assessing the recoverability of goodwill and other intangible assets

the Company musi make assumptions regarding the estimated future cash flows and other factors to determine the fair value of these assets tf these estimates or their

related assumptions change in the future the Company may be required to record impairment charges against these assets in the reporting period in which the

impairment is determined For goodwill the impairment evaluation includes comparison of the carrying value of each reporting unit which houses goodwill to that

reporting units fair value The fair values of the reporting units are based upon the net present value of future cash flows including terminal value calculation The

assumptions used to derive these values are based on risk-adjusted growth rates and discount factors accommodating conservative viewpoints that consider the full

range of variability contemplated in the current economic situation The Company also assesses market-based multiples of other market-participant companies to

determine whether the Companys fair value assumptions appropriately align with market-participant valuation multiples If the fair value of any reporting unit is less

than its carrying value further analysis would be required to determine the amount of the impairment

For intangible assets this evaluation includes an analysis of estimated future undiscounted net cash flows expected to be generated by the assets over their estimated

useful lives If the estimated future undiscounted net cash flows are insufficient to recover the carrying value of the assets over their estimated useful lives the

Company will record an impairment charge in the amount by which the carsying value of the assets exceeds their fair value If the Company determines that there is an

impairment of intangible assets or goodwill the Company may be required to record an impairment charge in the reporting period in whieh the impairment is

determined which could have negative impact on earnings

Income Taxes

The Company has significant amounts of deferred tax assets that are reviewed for recoverability and valued accordingly These assets are evaluated by using estimates

of future taxable income the timing of reversals of temporary taxable differences and the impact of tax planning strategies Valuation allowances related to net deferred

tax assets could be impacted by changes to tax codes changes in statutory tax rates and the Companys future taxable income levels

The Company follows the guidance issued by the FASB related to accounting for uncertainty in income taxes This guidance included in FASB ASC Topic 740

Income Taxes ASC 740 addresses how tax benefits claimed or expected to be claimed on tax return should be recorded in the financial statements Under ASC

740 the Company must recognize the tax benefit from an uncertain tax position only if it is more likely than not that the tax position will be sustained on examination

by the taxing authorities based on the teclmical merits of the position The tax benefits recognized in the financial statements from such position are measured based

on the largest benefit that has greater than fifty percent likelihood of being realized upon ultimate resolution

Accounting Pronouncements

Recently Issued Standards

In October 2009 the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update ASU No 2009-14 ASU 2009-14 Software Topic 985 Certain Revenue Arrangements That

Include Soft-ware Elements consensus of the FASB Emerging Issues Task Force This ASU establishes that tangible products that contain software that works

together with the nonsoftware components of the tangible product to deliver the tangible products essential functionality are no longer within the scope of software

revenue guidance These items should be accounted for under other appropriate revenue recognition guidance We are required to adopt this ASU prospectively for new

or materially modified agreements as of January 12011 and concurrently with ASU 2009-13 which is described below Full retrospective application is optional and

early adoption is permitted at the beginning of fiscal year We are currently evaluating the impact of this ASU on our financial statements

In October 2009 the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update No 2009-13 ASU 2009-13 Revenue Recognition Topic 605 Multiple-Deliverable Revenue

Arrangements consensus of the FASB Emerging Issues Task Force This ASU amends the criteria for separating consideration in multiple-deliverable

arrangements which will as result separate multiple-deliverable arrangements more often than under existing U.S GAAP Additionally this ASU establishes

selling price hierarchy for determining the selling price of deliverable The ASH also eliminates the residual method of revenue allocation and requires that

arrangement consideration be allocated at the inception of the arrangement to all deliverables using the relative selling price method This guidance requires that

management determine its best estimate of selling price in manner consistent with that used to determine the price to sell the deliverable on stand alone basis This

ASU significantly expands the disclosures required for multiple-deliverable revenue arrangements with the objective of disclosing judgments related to these

arrangements and the effect that the use of the relative selling-price
method and changes in those judgments have on the timing and amount of revenue recognition We

are required to adopt this ASU prospectively for new or materially modified agreements as of Januasy 2011 and concurrently with ASU 2009-14 which is described

above Full retrospective application is optional and early adoption is permitted at the beginning of fiscal year We are currently evaluating the impact of this ASU on

our financial statements

Recently Adopted Standards

In August 2009 the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update No 2009-05 ASU 2009-05 Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures Topic 820 Measuring

Liabilities at Fair Value This ASU establishes that in circumstances in which quoted market price in an active market for an identical liability
is not available an

entity is required to measure fair value using the quoted price of an identical liability when traded as an asset or quoted prices for similar liabilities or similar liabilities

when traded as assets or another valuation technique consistent with the principles of Topic 820 We adopted the provisions of ASH 2009-05 as of September 30 2009

which had no material impact on the Companys financial position cash flows or results of operations

In June 2009 the FASB issued the FASBAccountingStandards Cod/Ication Codification or ASC which modifies the U.S GAAP hierarchy by establishing the

Codification as the single source of authoritative U.S GAAP recognized by the FASB applied by nongovernmental entities SEC rules and interpretive releases are also

sources of authoritative U.S GAAP for SEC registrants The Codification became effective July 2009 The Codification is not intended to change or alter existing

U.S GAAJ and accordingly it did not impact the Companys financial position cash flows or results of operations However historical U.S GAAP references in this

annual report and in our quarterly report for the period ending September 30 2009 have been adjusted and references in future filings will be adjusted to reflect

authoritative guidance in the Codification
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In September 2006 the FASB issued guidance included in ASC Topic 820 Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures ASC 820 and in February 2008 the FASB

amended this guidance ASC 820 defines fair value establishes framework for measuring fair value and expands disclosure of fair value measurements ASC 820 is

applicable to other ASC topics that require or permit fair value measurements except those relating to lease accounting and accordingly does not require any new fair

value measurements The provisions of ASC 820 are effective for financial assets and liabilities in fiscal years beginning after November 15 2007 and for

non-financial assets and liabilities in fiscal years beginning after November 15 2008 except for items that are recognized or disclosed at fair value in the financial

statements on recurring basis Our adoption of the provisions of ASC 820 on January 2008 with respect to financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value has

had no material impact on our fair value measurements or our financial statements In October 2008 the FASB issued additional guidance included in ASC 820 that

clarifies the application of fair value measurements in market that is not active These provisions of ASC 820 became effective immediately upon issuance and their

adoption did not have any effect on our financial statements We determine the fair value of our long-lived assets in accordance with ASC 820 when testing for

impairment ASC 820 was effective for fair value assessments as of January 2009 In April 2009 the FASB issued further guidance included in ASC 820 that

provides for estimating fair value when the volume and level of activity
for the asset or liability have significantly decreased These provisions also include guidance on

identifing circumstances that indicate transaction is not orderly This additional guidance is effective for interim and annual reporting periods ending after June 15

2009 and is applied prospectively The Company concluded that the adoption of these provisions of ASC 820 as of April 12009 had no impact on its financial

position cash flows or results of operations

In November 2008 the Emerging Issues Task Force reached consensus on guidance about accounting for defensive intangible assets that is included in ASC Topic 350

Intangibles-Goodwill and Other ASC 350 defensive intangible asset is an acquired intangible asset where the acquirer has no intention of using or intends to

discontinue use of the intangible asset but holds it to prevent competitors from obtaining any benefit from it The acquired defensive asset will be treated as separate

unit of accounting and the useful life assigned will be based on the period during which the asset would diminish in value This guidance is effective for financial

statements issued for fiscal years beginning after December 15 2008 and may impact any intangible assets we acquire in future transactions

In June 2008 the FASB issued guidance related to the computation of earnings per share amounts that is included in ASC Topic 260 Earnings Per Share ASC 260
ASC 260 stipulates that unvested share-based payment awards that contain nonforfeitable rights to dividends or dividend equivalents whether paid or unpaid are

participating securities and shall be included in the computation of earnings per share pursuant to the two class method This guidance is effective for fiscal years

beginning after December 31 2008 The Company concluded that the adoption of these provisions ASC 260 did not have material impact on its reported basic and

diluted earnings per share amounts

In April 2008 the FASB issued guidance related to determining the useful life of intangible assets that is included in ASC Topic 350 Intangibles-Goodwill and Other

ASC 350 This guidance amends the factors that should be considered in developing renewal or extension assumptions used to determine the useful life of

recognized intangible asset More specifically this guidance removes the requirement to consider whether an intangible asset can be renewed without substantial cost or

material modifications to the existing terms and conditions and instead requires an entity to consider its own historical experience in renewing similar arrangements

These provisions also require expanded disclosure related to the determination of intangible asset useful lives These provisions are effective for financial statements

issued for fiscal years beginning after December 15 2008 and may impact any intangible assets we acquire in future transactions

In March 2008 the FASB issued guidance included in ASC Topic 815 Derivatives and Hedging ASC 815 This guidance requires qualitative disclosures about

objectives and strategies for using derivatives quantitative disclosures about fair value amounts and gains and losses on derivative instruments and disclosures about

credit risk-related contingent features in derivative agreements These provisions are effective for fiscal years beginning after November 15 2008 As of December 31

2009 we have not entered into any derivative transactions

In December 2007 the FASB issued guidance included in ASC Topic 810 Consolidation ASC 810 This guidance requires non-controlling minority interests

be reported as component of stockholders equity net income attributable to the parent and to the non-controlling interest be separately identified in the

consolidated statement of operations changes in parents ownership interest while the parent retains its controlling interest be accounted for as equity transactions

any retained non-controlling equity investment upon the deconsolidation of subsidiary be initially measured at fair value and sufficient disclosures be provided

that clearly identif and distinguish between the interests of the parent and the interests of the non-controlling owners These provisions of ASC 810 are effective for

financial statements issued for fiscal years beginning after December 15 2008 and interim periods within those fiscal years The adoption of these provisions did not

have any impact on the Companys financial position cash flows or results of operations as we have no minority interests

In December 2007 the FASB issued guidance included in ASC Topic 805 Busines.s Combinations ASC 805 This guidance significantly changes the accounting

for business combinations ASC 805 requires an acquiring entity to recognize all assets acquired and liabilities assumed in transaction at the acquisition-date fair

value with limited exceptions This guidance changes the accounting treatment for certain specific acquisition-related items including expensing acquisition-related

costs as incurred valuing non-controlling interests at fair value at the acquisition date of controlling interest and expensing restructuring costs associated with

an acquired business The guidance also enumerated substantial number of new disclosure requirements These provisions of ASC 805 are to be applied prospectively

to business combinations for which the acquisition date is on or after January 2009 These provisions will have an impact on our accounting for any future business

combinations

In February 2007 the FASB issued guidance included in ASC Topic 825 Financial Instruments ASC 825 This guidance permits entities to choose to measure

many financial instruments and certain other items at fair value that are not currently required to be measured at fair value and establishes presentation and disclosure

requirements designed to facilitate comparisons between entities that choose different measurement attributes for similar types of assets and liabilities These provisions

of ASC 825 are effective for financial statements issued for fiscal years beginning after November 15 2007 We adopted these provisions of ASC 825 on January

2008

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

The Company does not have any material off-balance sheet arrangements as defined in the applicable regulations that have or are reasonably likely to have current

or future effect on the Companys financial condition changes in financial condition revenues or expenses results of operations liquidity capital expenditures or

capital resources
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ITEM 7A QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

Interest Rates

The Companys financial instruments that are subject to market risks are its cash and cash equivalents and long-term debt During 2009 the weighted average interest

rate on the Companys long-term debt was approximately 2.98% 0% increase in this rate would have increased interest expense by approximately $0.2 million

during 2009

Foreign Exchange

As more fully explained in Note 14 to the consolidated financial statements the Companys international revenues were approximately $46.6 million $42.5 million and

$33.5 million for the years ended December 31 2009 2008 and 2007 respectively The Companys international operations are subject to risks typical of an

international business including but not limited to differing economic conditions changes in political climate differing tax structures other regulations and

restrictions and foreign exchange rate volatility Accordingly the Companys future results could be materially adversely impacted by changes in these or other factors

See Item 1ARisk Factors Fluctuations in currency exchange rates may adversely impact our cash flows and earnings

Forward Exchange Contracts

The Company records derivatives namely foreign exchange contracts on the balance sheet at fair value The gains or losses on foreign currency forward contracts are

recorded in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations The Company does not use derivative financial instruments for speculative or trading purposes

nor does it hold or issue leveraged derivative financial instruments The Company recognized gains of approximately $0.8 million in each of the years ended

December 31 2008 and 2007 related to forward exchange contracts executed in conjunction with the acquisitions of Quest and Orderman Further explanation of this is

presented in Item Managements Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

ITEM FIIANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA

The following consolidated financial statements are filed with this Report

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

Consolidated Balance Sheets at December31 2009 and 2008

Consolidated Statements of Operations for the years ended December 31 2009 2008 and 2007

Consolidated Statements of Shareholders Equity for the years ended December31 2009 2008 and 2007

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the years ended December31 2009 2008 and 2007

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board of Directors and Shareholders of

Radiant Systems Inc

Alpharetta Georgia

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Radiant Systems Inc and subsidiaries the Company as of December 31 2009 and 2008 and the

related consolidated statements of operations shareholders equity and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31 2009 Our audits also

included the financial statement schedule listed in the Index at Item 15 These financial statements and financial statement schedule are the responsibility of the

Companys management Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial statements and financial statement schedule based on our audits

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board United States Those standards require that we plan

and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement An audit includes examining on test

basis evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles
used and significant

estimates made by management as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation We believe that our audits provide reasonable basis for our opinion

In our opinion such consolidated fmancial statements present fairly in all material respects the financial position of Radiant Systems Inc and subsidiaries at

December 31 2009 and 2008 and the results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31 2009 in conformity

with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America Also in our opinion such financial statement schedule when considered in relation to

the basic consolidated financial statements taken as whole presents fairly in all material respects the information set forth therein

We have also audited in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board United States the Companys internal control over

financial reporting as of December 31 2009 based on the criteria established in Internal ControlIntegrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring

Organizations of the Treadway Commission and our report dated March 11 2010 expressed an unqualified opinion on the Companys internal control over financial

reporting

/s/ DEL OIITE TOUCHE LLP

Atlanta Georgia

March 112010
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RADIANT SYSTEMS INC AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

DECEMBER 31 2009 AND 2008

In thousands except share data

December 31 December 31
2009 2008

ASSETS

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents 15521 16450
Accounts receivable net 42515 44024

Inventories 29662 31838

Deferred tax assets
5690 7982

Other current assets 4587 2628

Total current assets 97975 102922

Property and equipment net 24923 23031

Software development costs net
iisio 9278

Deferred tax assets non-current 1323

Goodwill 107819 115229

Intangible assets net
42428 51 628

Other long-term assets 2319 1454

Total assets 288597 303 542

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS EQUITY

Current liabilities

Current portion of long-term debt 6000 6081

Accounts payable 17724 17 521

Accrued liabilities 23462 17203

Customer deposits and unearned revenues 21157 19 714

Current portion of capital lease payments 842 825

Total current habihtses 69 185 61 344

Capital lease payments net of current portion 576 1287

Long term debt net of current portion 56626 92 385

Deferred tax liabilities non-current 4265 3066

Other long term liabilities 4602 129

Total liabilities 135254 163211

Commitments and contingencies see Note 11

Shareholders equity

Preferred stock no par value 000 000 shares authorized no shares issued

Common stock no par value 100000000 shares authorized 33239198 and 32498859 shares issued and outstanding at

December 31 2009 and 2008 respectively

Additional paid in capital 164769 157 930

Accumulated deficit retained earnings 9081 317

Accumulated other comprehensive loss 2345 17 916

Total shareholders equity 153343 140331

Total liabihtses and shareholders equity 288597 303 542

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements
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RADIANT SYSTEMS INC AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 312009 2008 AND 2007

In thousands except per share data

2009 2008 2007

Revenues

Systems 120507 155647 144608

Maintenance subscription and transaction services 132281 108 940 82 225

Professional services 34680 36989 26365

Total revenues 287468 301576 253198

Cost of revenues

Systems 63672 82 971 76 545

Maintenance subscription and transaction services 65141 62652 44391

Professional services 23136 26 891 20 125

Total cost of revenues 151949 172514 141061

Gross profit 135519 129062 112137

Operating expenses

Product development 22345 24794 23437

Sales and marketing 42331 36352 28.85

Depreciation of fixed assets 4789 4664 4147

Amortization of intangible assets 9265 7902 4301

General and administrative 35065 31403 28058

Impairment of goodwill Note 17008

Other charges and income net Note 5044 1633 67

Total operating expenses 135847 106748 88861

Loss income from operations 328 22314 23276

Interest income 66 33
Interest expense 2410 4887 2393

Other income expense net 94 377 218

Loss income from operations before income tax provision 2578 17083 20.665

Income tax provision 6820 6055 8822

Net toss income 939$ 11028 11843

Net loss income per share

Basic loss income per share ffi 034 38

Diluted loss income per share 0.33 0.36

Weighted average shares outstanding

Basic 32916 32293 31373

Diluted 32916 33 398 33 160

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements
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RADIANT SYSTEMS INC AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF SHAREHOLDERS EQUITY
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31 2009 2008 AND 2007

In thousands

Components of comprehensive income

Net income

Foreign currency translation adjustment

11843

1256 1256

Total comprehensive loss income 9.398 15571 6173

Exercisc of employee stock options 267 1332 1.332

Stock issued under Employee Stock Purchase Plan 31 229 229

Net tax benefits related to stock-based compensation 807 807

Restricted stock awards 442 1660 1.660

Stock-based compensation 2.811 2.811

BALANCE December31 2009 33239 164769 9081 2345 153343

Accumulated Accumulated
Additional Deficit Other

Common Stock Paid-in Retained
Comprehensive

Shares Amount Capital Earnings Income Loss Total

BALANCE January 12007 30924 13715 21667 487 115971

11843

Total comprehensive income
11843 1256 13099

Exercise of employee stock options 1003 7117 7117
Stock issued under Employee Stock Purchase Plan 121 121

Net tax benefits related to stock-based compensation 2670 2670
Stock-based compensation 3865 3865
Cumulative effect adjustment due to adoption of new income tax

standard 887 887

BALANCEDecember3l2007 31935 150924 10711 1743 141956

Components of comprehensive income

Netincome 11028 11028

Foreign currency translation adjustment 19659 19659

Total comprehensive income loss 11028 19659 8631
Exercise of employee stockoptions 232 1.657 1657
Stock issued under Employee Stock Purchase Plan 28 171 171

Net tax benefits related to stock-based compensation 543 543

Restricted stock awards 304 1.042 1042
Stock-based compensation 593 3593

BALANCEDecember3l2008 32499 157.930 317 17916 140331

Components of comprehensive income

Netloss 938 9398
Foreign currency translation adjustment 15571 15571

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements
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RADIANT SYSTEMS INC AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31 2009 2008 AND 2007

In thousands

2009 2008 2007

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACT WITIES

Net loss income 9398 11.028 11843

Adjustments to reconcile net loss income to net cash provided by operating activities

Depreciation and amortization 15996 13813 9202

Provision for deferred income taxes 2100 1265 4986

Impairment of goodwill see Note 17008

Stock-based compensation expense see Note 4465 4643 3795

Other charges and income net see Note 3201 1633 67

Changes in assets and liabilities net of the effects of acquisitions

Accounts receivable 1632 4.2 86 7261
Inventories 2643 2767 3861
Other assets 2590 4051 3938
Accounts payable 700 10883 5374

Accrued liabilities 8949 11.438 575

Customer deposits and unearned revenue 791 1085 3380

Other liabilities 677 5.069 1039

Net cash provided by operating activities 43420 17181 25201

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Purchases of property and equipment 6328 10952 2645
Capitalized software development costs 3998 4032 2667
Purchase of customer list 2000 2000
Proceeds from sale of building 216

Purchase price adjustment for Hospitality EPoS see Note 97
Proceeds from sale of land 3931

Acquisition of Hospitality EPoS net of cash acquired see NoteS 5953
Acquisition of Quest net of cash acquired see Note 52497
Acquisition of Jadeon net of cash acquired see Note 6990
Acquisition of Orderman net of cash acquired see Note 31819
Note receivable 250
Execution of forward contract 1664

Purchase of intangible assets 1500

Net cash used in investing activities 12207 108.898 6.812

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Proceeds from exercise of employee stock options 1332 1656 7.117

Proceeds from shares issued under Employee Stock Purchase Plan 229 171 122

Tax benefits related to stock-based compensation 809 483 2672

Principal payments on capital lease obligations 848 806 353
Principal payments on term loan under the JPM Credit Agreement see Note 6000 4.000

Proceeds from term loan under the JPM Credit Agreement 30000

Proceeds from revolving loan under the JPM Credit Agreement 23000 122600

Repayments of revolving loan under the JPM Credit Agreement 53000 50600
Proceeds from research and development notes payable 239 466

Repayment of research and development notes payable 81
Payment of financing costs related to the JPM Credit Agreement 664
Principal payments on notes payable to shareholders 2275 1.333

Principal payments on notes payable to bank 271
Principal payments on WFF Credit Agreement see Note 18.192 5905
Payment of fees to terminate WFF Credit Agreement 341
Proceeds from short-term debt facility see Note 9.100

Repayments of short-term debt facility 15.589

Net cash used in provided by financing activities 34320 78.227 4169

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents 2178

Decrease increase in cash and cash equivalents 929 13.490 14220

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 16450 29940 15.720

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 15521 16450 29940

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements
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RADIANT SYSTEMS INC AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31 2009 2008 AND 2007

In thousands

2009 2008 2007

SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURES OF CASH FLOW INFORMATION
Cash paid for interest 2367 5002 2525

Cash paid for income taxes net of refunds 1214 6622 998

SCHEDULE OF NON-CASH TRANSACTIONS
Assets acquired under

capital leases

Purchases of property and equipment

Purchase of customer list final payment completed in Qi 2009

Gain on forward exchange contract

Non-cash transactions related to acquisitions Note

Purchase price adjustment related to Hospitality EPoS

Purchase price adjustment related to Jadeon

Purchase price adjustment related to Orderman

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements
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RADIANT SYSTEMS INC AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

THREE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 312009

ORGANIZATION AND BACKGROUND

Headquartered in Aipharetta Georgia Radiant Systems Inc the Company or Radiant focuses on delivering site systems including point-of-sale POS
self-service kiosks mobile ordering and payment devices back-office systems site management technology and business services such as customer loyalty programs

electronic gift card management comprehensive reporting systems management electronic payment processing and centralized data management designed specifically

for the Companys two reportable segments Hospitality and iiRetail For selected financial information about our business segments see Note 14 to the

consolidated financial statements Radiants offerings include hardware and software products and services including maintenance and support consulting custom

development installations and electronic payment processing Each offering can be purchased independently or as suite of integrated products to address the

customers specific business needs These products and services enable our customers to drive top-line growth and improve bottom-line performance

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Principles of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Radiant Systems Inc and its wholly owned subsidiaries All intercompany transactions and balances have

been eliminated in consolidation

Use of Estimates and Assumptions

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America requires management to make

estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets liabilities revenues and expenses and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities The estimates

and assumptions used in the accompanying consolidated financial statements are based upon managements evaluation of the relevant facts and circumstances as of the

date of the financial statements Actual results could differ from those estimates and assumptions

Treasury Stock

The Company records treasury stock purchases at cost and allocates this value to additional paid-in capital

Although the Companys Board of Directors approved re-coniinencement of our share repurchase program for the period of November 2007 through November 2009

there were no repurchases of our stock during the years ended December 31 20092008 or 2007

Foreign Currency Translation

The financial statements of the Companys non-U.S subsidiaries are translated into U.S dollars for financial reporting purposes in accordance with FASB ASC

Subtopic 830-20 Foreign Currency MattersForeign Currency Transactions ASC 830-20 The assets and liabilities of non-U.S operations whose functional

currencies are not in U.S dollars are translated at the current rates of exchange at month-end while revenues and expenses are translated at the average exchange rate

for the month The cumulative translation adjustments are reflected in shareholders equity
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RADIANT SYSTEMS INC AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS.Continued

Revenue Recognition

The Companys revenue is generated primarily through software and system sales support and maintenance and other services The Company recognizes revenue

using the guidance from FASB ASC Subtopic Software Revenue Recognition ASC 985-605 FASB ASC Subtopic 605-3 Revenue Recognition

Construction-Type and Production-Type Contracts ASC 605-35 and FASB ASC Subtopic 605-10 Revenue Recognition Overall ASC 605-10 Under these

guidelines the Company recognizes revenue when the following criteria are met persuasive evidence of an agreement exists deliveiy of the product has

occurred the fee is fixed or determinable collectibility is reasonably assured and remaining obligations under the agreement are insignificant Under

multiple element arrangements where each element is separately stated sold and priced the Company recognizes revenues for the various elements based on

vendor-specific objective evidence VSOE of fair value The Companys VSOE of fair value is determined based on the price charged when the same element is sold

separately If evidence of fair value does not exist for all elements in multiple element arrangement the Company recognizes revenue using the residual method

Under the residual method delivered element without VSOE of fair value is recognized as revenue if all undelivered elements have VSOE of fair value Sales tax

collected is recorded net and is not recognized as revenue and is included in accrued expenses on the accompanying consolidated balance sheets Revenue from the

Companys customers is generally attributable to individual countries based on the location of the related point of shipment

The Company sells its products which include both software licenses and hardware to both resellers and directly to end-users Revenue from software licenses and

system sales is generally recognized as products are shipped provided that no significant vendor obligations remain and that collection of the related receivable is

probable For those agreements that provide for significant services or custom development that are essential to the softwares functionality the software license and

contracted services are recognized under the percentage of completion method as prescribed by the provisions of ASC 605-35 Contracts accounted for on percentage

of completion basis under the provisions of ASC 605-35 are not considered complete until acceptance as determined by the customer agreement has been obtained

The Company offers its customers post-contract support in the form of maintenance telephone support and unspecified software enhancements Revenue from support

and maintenance is recognized ratably over the term of the agreement The Company also offers its customers subscription based software model for use of its

software maintenance telephone support and hosting services on monthly basis Revenue from subscription pricing is recognized ratably over the contract period

The Companys professional services revenue consists of fees generated from consulting custom software development installation and training Revenue related to

professional services performed by the Company is generally recognized on time and materials basis as the services are performed Under contracts where revenue is

recognized using the percentage of completion method under the provisions of ASC 605-3 the Company measures its progress-to-completion by using input

measures primarily labor hours The Company continually updates and revises estimates of its input measures If those estimates indicate loss will be incurred the

entire loss is recognized in that period In addition the Company offers its customers subscription pricing and hosting services for some of its products Under these

subscription based contracts revenue is recognized ratably over the contract period commencing generally when the product has been installed
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RADIANT SYSTEMS INC AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTSContinued

Unearned Revenue

Unearned revenue represents amounts collected prior to complete performance of professional services customer support services software enhancements and

significant obligations under license agreements

Accounts Receivable and Allowance for Doubtful Accounts

summary of the Companys accounts receivable as of December 31 2009 and 2008 is as follows in thousands

2009 2008

Trade receivables billed 43220 47 047

Trade receivables unbilled 3127 1347

46347 48394

Less allowance for doubtful accounts 3832 4370

42515 44024

The Company maintains allowances for doubtful accounts for estimated losses that may result from the inability of customers to make required payments Estimates are

developed by using standard quantitative measures based on customer payment practices and history inquiries credit reports
fromthird parties and other financial

information If the financial condition of the Companys customers were to deteriorate resulting in impairment of their ability to make payments additional allowances

may be required Bad debt expense totaled approximately $0.4 million and $1.6 million for the years ended December31 2009 and 2008 respectively No bad debt

expense was incuned during the year ended December 31 2007

Inventory

Inventory consists principally of computer hardware and related components peripherals and software media and are stated at the lower of cost first-in first-out

method or market sunmiary of the Companys inventory as of December 31 2009 and 2008 is as follows in thousands

2009 2008

Raw materials 14451 17454

Work in process 375 816

Finished goods 14836 13568

29662 31838

45



RADIANT SYSTEMS INC AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTSContinued

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment are recorded at cost less accumulated depreciation and amortization Depreciation of property and equipment is recorded using the straight-line

method over estimated useful lives of one to ten years Leasehold improvements are amortized over the terms of the respective leases or useful lives of the

improvements whichever is shorter Maintenance and
repairs are charged to expense as incurred and the costs of additions and improvements are capitalized Any gain

or loss from the retirement or sale of an asset is credited or charged to operations

Property and equipment at December 31 2009 and 2008 are summarized as follows in thousands

2009 2008

Computers and equipment 23556 20978

Purchased software 11740 10729

ERIP system 10723 8052
Furniture and fixtures

8218 8098

Leasehold improvements 8170 7920

Building 1710 1578

Land 175 235

64292 57590

Less accumulated depreciation and amortization 39369 34559

24923 23031

The Company implemented new ERP system during 2008 and 2009 The costs incurred are associated with the related costs to purchase the software as well as

various consulting and implementation costs The Company launched this new system during the first quarter of 2010

Depreciation expense for the years ended December 31 2009 2008 and 2007 was approximately $5.2 million $4.9 million and $4.4 million respectively Depreciation

expense includes amortization of assets under capital leases in the amount of approximately $0.8 million $0.6 million and $0.4 million for the years ended

December 31 2009 2008 and 2007 respectively

Capitalized leased assets are amortized over the shorter of the term of the lease using the straight-line method or in accordance with practices established for similar

owned assets Amortization of capitalized leased assets is included with depreciation expense in the accompanying financial statements Included in property and

equipment are the following capitalized leases in thousands

2009 2008

Computers and equipment 3349 3194

Furniture and fixtures
1937 1937

5286 131

Less accumulated depreciation and amortization 3835 3015

1451 2116
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RADIANT SYSTEMS INC AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTSContinued

Goodwill and Intangible Assets

The Company applies the provisions of FASB ASC Topic 350 IntangiblesGoodwill and Other ASC 350 In accordance with ASC 350 the Company evaluates

the carrying value of goodwill as of January 1st of each year and between annual evaluations if events occur or circumstances change that would more likely than not

reduce the fair value of the reporting unit below its carrying amount Such circumstances could include but are not limited to significant adverse change in legal

factors or in business climate unanticipated competition or an adverse action or assessment by regulator When evaluating whether goodwill is impaired the

Company compares the fair value of the reporting unit to which the goodwill is assigned to its carrying amount including goodwill The fair values of the reporting

units are based upon the net present value of future cash flows including terminal value calculation The assumptions used to derive these values are based on

risk-adjusted growth rates and discount factors accommodating conservative viewpoints that consider the full range of variability contemplated in the current economic

situation The Company also assesses market-based multiples of other market-participant companies to determine whether the Companys fair value assumptions are

appropriately aligned with market-participant valuation multiples If each of the reporting units estimated fair values exceed the corresponding reporting units carrying

values no impairment of goodwill exists If the carrying amount of reporting unit exceeds its fair value then the amount of the impairment loss must be measured

The impairment loss is calculated by comparing the implied fair value of the reporting units goodwill to its carrying amount In calculating the implied fair value of

goodwill the fair value of the reporting unit is allocated to all of the other assets and liabilities of that unit based on their fair values The excess of the fair value of

reporting unit over the amount assigned to its other assets and liabilities is the implied fair value of goodwill An impairment loss would be recognized when the

carrying amount of goodwill exceeds its implied fair value The Companys annual evaluation of goodwill performed on January 12010 in accordance with ASC 350

resulted in an estimated impairment loss associated with the Quest reporting unit Based on the preliminary results of the second step of the impairment test we

estimated that goodwill associated with the Quest reporting unit was impaired Therefore we recorded non-cash goodwill impairment charge of approximately $17.0

million for the year ended December 31 2009 The estimated fair values of our other reporting units were sufficiently higher than their respective carrying values thus

indicating no impairment concerns See Note to the consolidated financial statements for additional information The Companys annual evaluation of goodwill

performed on January 2009 resulted in no impairment loss

For indefinite-lived intangible assets this annual evaluation includes an analysis of estimated future undiscounted net cash flows expected to be generated by the assets

over their estimated useful lives If the estimated future undiscounted net cash flows are insufficient to recover the carrying value of the assets over their estimated

useful lives an impairment charge in the amount by which the carrying value of the assets exceeds their fair value would be recorded The analysis completed on

January 2010 resulted in an impairment loss on certain intangible assets associated with the Quest reporting unit See Note to the consolidated financial statements

for additional information

Long-Lived Assets

The Company evaluates the recoverability of long-lived assets and finite-lived identifiable intangibles not held for sale whenever events or changes in circumstances

indicate that an assets carrying amount may not be recoverable Such circumstances could include but are not limited to significant decrease in the market value

of an asset significant adverse change in the extent or manner in which an asset is used or in its physical condition or an accumulation of costs significantly in

excess of the amount originally expected for the acquisition or construction of an asset The Company measures the carrying amount of the asset against the estimated

undiscounted future cash flows associated with it Should the sum of the expected future net undiscounted cash flows be less than the carrying value of the asset being

evaluated an impairment loss would be recognized The impairment loss would be calculated as the amount by which the carrying value of the asset exceeds the fair

value of the asset The fair value is measured based on quoted market prices if available If quoted market prices are not available the estimate of fair value is based on

various valuation techniques including the discounted value of estimated future cash flows

Capitalized Software Development Costs

Capitalized software development costs consist principally of salaries and certain other expenses directly related to the development and modification of software

products Capitalization of such costs begins when detail program has been produced as evidenced by the completion of design planning coding and testing such that

the product meets its design specifications
and has thereby established technological feasibility Capitalization of such costs ends when the resulting product is available

for general release to the public Amortization of capitalized software development costs is recorded on straight-line basis over the estimated economic life of the

software which the Company has determined is not more than five years For the years ended December 31 2009 2008 and 2007 amortization of
capitalized software

development costs was approximately $1.5 million $1.0 million and $0.5 million respectively

The Company evaluates the recoverability of capitalized software development costs on an annual basis or whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that

the carrying amount of the asset may be less than its net realizable value The Company measures the carrying amount of the asset against the estimated undiscounted

future cash flows associated with it Should the sum of the expected future net cash flows be less than the carrying value of the asset being evaluated an impairment

loss would be recognized The impairment loss would be calculated as the amount by which the carrying value of the asset exceeds the net realizable value of the asset

The Companys annual evaluation of capitalized software development costs on January 2010 resulted in no impairment The Companys annual evaluation of

capitalized software development costs on January 2009 resulted in an impairment charge of approximately $1.0 million See Note to the consolidated financial

statements for further explanation regarding this impairment charge
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RADIANT SYSTEMS INC AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTSContinued

Internally Developed Software Costs

The Company applies the provisions of the FASB ASC Subtopic 350-40 IntangiblesGoodwill and OtherInternal-Use Software ASC 350-40 ASC 350-40

requires all costs related to the development of internal use software other than those incurred during the application development stage to be expensed as incurred

Costs incurred during the application development stage are required to be capitalized and amortized over the estimated useful life of the software The Company

capitalized costs that were incurred during the application development stage for the years ended December31 2009 and 2008 equal to $3.1 million and $7.8 million

respectively No amortization expense was incurred during the years ended December31 2009 and 2008 related to these capitalized costs

Capitalized Customer Contract Costs

Costs associated with obtaining the customer contracts related to our Radiant Payment Services business have been capitalized and are being amortized over the life of

the related contract in most eases three years The Companys capitalized costs for the years ended December 31 2009 and 2008 were equal to approximately $3.2

million and $0.7 million respectively Amortization expense during the years ended December 31 2009 and 2008 related to these capitalized costs was equal to

approximately $1.2 million and $0.1 million respectively

Research Development and Engineering Costs

Expenditures for research development and engineering that are not capitalized are charged to operations as incurred See Note to the consolidated financial

statements for additional information

Financing Costs Related to Long-Term Debt

Costs associated with obtaining long-term debt are deferred and amortized over the term of the related debt The Company incurred financing costs in 2005 related to

the Wells Fargo Foothill Inc senior secured credit
facility the WFF Credit Agreement and other long-term debt agreements The costs were deferred and amortized

over three years Amortization of financing costs were approximately $0.1 million in 2007 The remaining financing costs were expensed in the first quarter of 2008 in

conjunction with the termination of the WFF Credit Agreement

The Company incurred financing costs in 2008 related to the credit agreement with JP Morgan Chase Bank N.A equal to approximately $1.2 million The costs were

deferred and are being amortized over five years Amortization of financing costs was approximately $0.3 million in 2009 and $0.4 million in 2008

Advertising Costs

Advertising costs are charged to expense as incurred Advertising expenses for fiscal years 2009 2008 and 2007 were $1.6 million $1.4 million and $0.6 million

respectively

Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation

The FASB issued guidance under FASB ASC Topic 718 CompensationStock Compensation ASC 718 that became effective January 2006 and requires us to

expense the fair value of grants made under our stock option plans over the vesting period of the option grants Under the guidance of ASC 718 we adopted the

Modified Prospective Application transition method which does not result in the restatement of previously issued financial statements Awards granted after

January 2006 are valued and non-cash share-based compensation expense is recognized in the consolidated statement of operations in accordance with ASC 718 In

addition non-vested awards that were granted before January 2006 also result in recognition of non-cash share-based compensation expense

The computation of the expected volatility assumption used in the Black-Scholes-Merton calculations for new grants is based on combination of historical and implied

volatilities When establishing the expected life assumption the Company reviews annual historical employee exercise behavior of option grants with similarvesting

periods The risk free interest rate is based on the U.S Treasury yield curve at the grant date using remaining term equal to the expected life of the option The total

expenses to be recorded in future periods will depend on several variables including the number of share-based awards that vest pre-vesting cancellations and the fair

value of those vested awards

Income Taxes

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the future tax consequences attributable to differences between the financial statement carrying amounts of existing

assets and liabilities and their respective tax bases Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using enacted tax rates expected to apply to taxable income in the

years in which those temporary differences are expected to be recovered or settled Income tax expense benefit is generally comprised of the tax payable receivable

for the period and the change in deferred income tax assets and liabilities during the period valuation allowance is established for deferred tax assets when their

realizability is not considered to be more likely than not

The Company follows the guidance issued by the FASB related to accounting for uncertainty in income taxes This guidance included in ASC Topic 740 Income Taxes

ASC 740 prescribes consistent recognition threshold and measurement attribute as well as clear criteria for subsequently recognizing derecognizing and

measuring such tax positions for financial statement purposes This guidance also requires expanded disclosure with respect to the uncertainty in income taxes The

Companys continuing practice is to recognize interest and/or penalties related to income tax matters in income tax expense
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RADIANT SYSTEMS INC AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTSContinued

Net Income Loss Per Share

Basic net income loss per common share is computed by dividing net income loss by the weighted-average number of shares outstanding In the event of net loss

dilutive loss per share is the same as basic loss per share Diluted net income per share includes the dilutive effect of stock options reconciliation of the weighted

average number of common shares outstanding assuming dilution is as follows in thousands

2009 2008 2007

Weighted average common shares outstanding 32916 32293 31 373

Dilutive effect of outstanding stock options 1105 1787

Weighted average common shares outstanding assuming dilution 32916 33 398 33 160

For the years ended December31 2009 2008 and 2007 options to purchase approximately 3.9 million 3.2 million and 1.7 million shares of common stock

respectively were excluded from the above reconciliation as the options were anti-dilutive for the years then ended

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The Company follows the guidance of FASB ASC paragraph 825-10-50-10 ASC 825-10-50-10 for disclosures about fair value of its financial instruments The

Company also follows the guidance of FASB ASC paragraph 820-10-35-37 ASC 820-10-35-37 to measure the fair value of its financial instruments ASC

820-10-35-37 establishes framework for measuring fair value in accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America U.S GAAP and expands

disclosures about fair value measurements To increase consistency and comparability in fair value measurements and related disclosures ASC 820-10-35-37

establishes fair value hierarchy which
prioritizes

the inputs to valuation techniques used to measure fair value into three broad levels The fair value hierarchy gives

the highest priority to quoted prices unadjusted in active markets for identical assets or liabilities and the lowest priority to unobservable inputs The three levels of

fair value hierarchy defined by ASC 820-10-35-37 are described below

Level Quoted market prices available in active markets for identical assets or liabilities as of the reporting date

Level Pricing inputs other than quoted prices in active markets included in Level which are either directly or indirectly observable as of the

reporting date

Level Pricing inputs that are generally observable inputs and not corroborated by market data

The following methods and assumptions were used to estimate the fair value of each class of financial instruments

Cash and equivalents accounts receivable and accounts payable The carrying amount of these items approximates fair value

Long-term debt Term loan To estimate the fair value of our term loan which is not quoted on an exchange the Company used those interest

rates that were currently available to it for issuance of debt with similar terms and remaining maturities At December 31 2009 the fair value of the

$20.0 million principal amount of the term loan under the 1PM Credit Agreement was approximately $19.5 million

Long-term debt Revolving credit loan To estimate the fair value of our revolving credit facility which is not quoted on an exchange the

Company used those interest rates currently available to it in conjunction with managements estimate of the amounts and timing of the repayment of

principal amounts and related interest At December 31 2009 the fair value of the $42.0 million principal amount of the revolving credit loan under

the 1PM Credit Agreement was approximately $40.4 million

Derivative Financial Instruments

The Company uses foreign exchange forward contracts to hedge certain
existing

and
anticipated foreign currency denominated transactions The terms of these foreign

exchange contracts are generally consistent with the timing of the foreign currency transactions

The Company records derivatives namely foreign exchange contracts on the balance sheet at fair value The gains or losses on foreign currency forward contracts are

recorded in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations The Company does not use derivative financial instruments for speculative or trading purposes

nor does it hold or issue leveraged derivative financial instruments The Company recognized gains of approximately $0.8 million in each of the years ended

December 31 2008 and 2007 related to forward exchange contracts executed in conjunction with the acquisitions
of Quest and Orderman

Cash Equivalents

The Company considers all highly liquid investments purchased with maturity of three months or less to be cash equivalents The Company maintains its cash

accounts with several banks around the world Cash balances are insured under various local deposit insurance programs similarto FDIC insurance in the United States

As of December 31 2009 the Company has cash balances on deposit that exceeded the insured balances in the amount of approximately $6.6 million

Concentration of Business and Credit Risk

Financial instruments which potentially subject the Company to credit risk consist principally of trade receivables and interest bearing investments The Company

performs on-going credit evaluations of its customers and generally does not require collateral The Company estimates the losses for uncollectible accounts based on

the aging of the accounts receivable and the evaluation of the likelihood of success in collecting the receivable The Company believes it maintains adequate reserves

for potential losses and such losses have been included in managements estimates

As of December 31 2009 and 2008 approximately 16% of the Companys accounts receivable were due from five customers

During the years ended December 31 2009 2008 and 2007 approximately 14% 16% and 19% respectively of the Companys revenues were derived from five

customers For the
years

ended December 31 2009 2008 and 2007 no individual customer accounted for more than 10% of the Companys total revenues
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Comprehensive Income Loss

The Company follows the guidance of FASB ASC Topic 220 Comprehensive Income ASC 220 This guidance establishes the rules for the reporting of

comprehensive income loss and its components The Companys comprehensive income loss includes net income loss and foreign currency translation

adjustments Total comprehensive income loss for the years ended December 31 2009 2008 and 2007 was approximately $6.2 million $8.6 million and $13.1

million respectively

New Accounting Standards

Recently Issued Standards

In October 2009 the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update ASU No 2009-14 ASU 2009-14 Software Topic 985 Certain Revenue Arrangements That

Include Software Elementsa consensus of the FASB Emerging Issues Task Force This ASU establishes that tangible products that contain software that works

together with the nonsoftware components of the tangible product to deliver the tangible products essential functionality are no longer within the scope of software

revenue guidance These items should be accounted for under other appropriate revenue recognition guidance We are required to adopt this ASU prospectively for new

or materially modified agreements as of January 2011 and concurrently with ASU 2009-13 which is described below Full retrospective application is optional and

early adoption is permitted at the beginning of fiscal year We are currently evaluating the impact of this ASU on our financial statements

In October 2009 the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update No 2009-13 ASU 2009-13 Revenue Recognition Topic 605 Multiple-Deliverable Revenue

Arrangementsa consensus of the FASB Emerging Issues Task Force This ASU amends the criteria for separating consideration in multiple-deliverable arrangements

which will as result separate multiple-deliverable arrangements more often than under existing U.S GAAP Additionally this ASU establishes selling price

hierarchy for determining the
selling price of deliverable The ASU also eliminates the residual method of revenue allocation and requires that arrangement

consideration be allocated at the inception of the arrangement to all deliverables using the relative selling price method This guidance requires that management

determine its best estimate of selling price in maimer consistent with that used to determine the price to sell the deliverable on standalone basis This ASU
significantly expands the disclosures required for multiple-deliverable revenue arrangements with the objective of disclosing judgments related to these arrangements

and the effect that the use of the relative selling-price method and changes in those judgments have on the timing and amount of revenue recognition We are required to

adopt this ASU prospectively for new or materially modified agreements as of January 2011 and concurrently with ASU 2009-14 which is described above Full

retrospective application is optional and early adoption is permitted at the beginning of fiscal year We are currently evaluating the impact of this ASU on our

financial statements

Recently Adopted Standards

In August 2009 the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update No 2009-05 ASU 2009-05 Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures Topic 820 Measuring

Liabilities at Fair Value This ASU establishes that in circumstances in which quoted market price in an active market for an identical liability is not available an

entity is required to measure fair value using the quoted price of an identical
liability

when traded as an asset or quoted prices
for similar liabilities or similar liabilities

when traded as assets or another valuation technique consistent with the principles of Topic 820 We adopted the provisions of ASU 2009-05 as of September 30 2009

which had no material impact on the Companys financial position cash flows or results of operations

In June 2009 the FASB issued the FASBAccountingStandards Codjfication Codification or ASC which modifies the U.S GAAP hierarchy by establishing the

Codification as the single source of authoritative U.S GAAP recognized by the FASB applied by nongovernmental entities SEC rules and interpretive releases are also

sources of authoritative U.S GAAP for SEC registrants The Codification became effective July 2009 The Codification is not intended to change or alter existing

U.S GAAP and accordingly it did not impact the Companys financial position cash flows or results of operations However historical U.S GAAP references in this

annual report and in our quarterly report for the period ending September 30 2009 have been adjusted and references in future filings will be adjusted to reflect

authoritative guidance in the Codification

In September 2006 the FASB issued guidance included in ASC Topic 820 Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures ASC 820 and in February 2008 the FASB

amended this guidance ASC 820 defines fair value establishes framework for measuring fair value and expands disclosure of fair value measurements ASC 820 is

applicable to other ASC topics that require or permit fair value measurements except those relating to lease accounting and accordingly does not require any new fair

value measurements The provisions of ASC 820 are effective for financial assets and liabilities in fiscal years beginning after November 15 2007 and for

non-financial assets and liabilities in fiscal years beginning after November 15 2008 except for items that are recognized or disclosed at fair value in the financial

statements on recurring basis Our adoption of the provisions of ASC 820 on January 2008 with respect to financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value has

had no material impact on our fair value measurements or our financial statements In October 2008 the FASB issued additional guidance included in ASC 820 that

clarifies the application of fair value measurements in market that is not active These provisions of ASC 820 became effective immediately upon issuance and their

adoption did not have any effect on our financial statements We determine the fair value of our long-lived assets in accordance with ASC 820 when testing for

impairment ASC 820 was effective for fair value assessments as of January 2009 In April 2009 the FASB issued further guidance included in ASC 820 that

provides for estimating fair value when the volume and level of
activity

for the asset or liability have significantly decreased These provisions also include guidance on

identiiing circumstances that indicate transaction is not orderly This additional guidance is effective for interim and annual reporting periods ending after June 15

2009 and is applied prospectively The Company concluded that the adoption of these provisions of ASC 820 as of April 2009 had no impact on its financial

position cash flows or results of operations
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In November 2008 the Emerging Issues Task Force reached consensus on guidance about accounting for defensive intangible assets that is included in ASC Topic 350

Intangibles-Goodwill and Other ASC 350 defensive intangible asset is an acquired intangible asset where the acquirer has no intention of using or intends to

discontinue use of the intangible asset but holds it to prevent competitors from obtaining any benefit from it The acquired defensive asset will be treated as separate

unit of accounting and the useful life assigned will be based on the period during which the asset would diminish in value This guidance is effective for financial

statements issued for fiscal years beginning after December 15 2008 and may impact any intangible assets we acquire in future transactions

In June 2008 the FASB issued guidance related to the computation of earnings per share amounts that is included in ASC Topic 260 Earnings Per Share ASC 260
ASC 260 stipulates

that unvested share-based payment awards that contain nonforfeitable rights to dividends or dividend equivalents whether paid or unpaid are

participating securities and shall be included in the computation of earnings per share pursuant to the two class method This guidance is effective for fiscal years

begimsing after December 31 2008 The Company concluded that the adoption of these provisions ASC 260 did not have material impact on its reported basic and

diluted earnings per share amounts

In April 2008 the FASB issued guidance related to determining the useful life of intangible assets that is included in ASC Topic 350 Intangibles-Goodwill and Other

ASC 350 This guidance amends the factors that should be considered in developing renewal or extension assumptions used to determine the useful life of

recognized intangible asset More specifically this guidance removes the requirement to consider whether an intangible asset can be renewed without substantial cost or

material modifications to the
existing terms and conditions and instead requires an entity to consider its own historical experience in renewing similar arrangements

These provisions also require expanded disclosure related to the determination of intangible asset useful lives These provisions are effective for financial statements

issued for fiscal years beginning after December 15 2008 and may impact any intangible assets we acquire in future transactions

In March 2008 the FASB issued guidance included in ASC Topic 815 Derivatives and Hedging ASC 815 This guidance requires qualitative disclosures about

objectives
and strategies for using derivatives quantitative disclosures about fair value amounts and gains and losses on derivative instruments and disclosures about

credit risk-related contingent features in derivative agreements These provisions are effective for fiscal years beginning after November 15 2008 As of December 31

2009 we have not entered into any derivative transactions

In December 2007 the FASB issued guidance included in ASC Topic 810 Consolidation ASC 810 This guidance requires non-controlling minority interests

be reported as component of stockholders equity net income attributable to the parent and to the non-controlling interest be separately identified in the

consolidated statement of operations changes in parents ownership interest while the parent retains its controlling interest be accounted for as equity transactions

any retained non-controlling equity investment upon the deconsolidation of subsidiary be initially measured at fair value and sufficient disclosures be provided

that clearly identif and distinguish between the interests of the parent and the interests of the non-controlling owners These provisions of ASC 810 are effective for

financial statements issued for fiscal years beginning after December 15 2008 and interim periods within those fiscal years The adoption of these provisions did not

have any impact on the Companys financial position cash flows or results of operations as we have no minority interests

In December 2007 the FASB issued guidance included in ASC Topic 805 Business Combinations ASC 805 This guidance significantly changes the accounting

for business combinations ASC 805 requires an acquiring entity to recognize all assets acquired and liabilities assumed in transaction at the acquisition-date fair

value with limited exceptions This guidance changes the accounting treatment for certain specific acquisition-related items including expensing acquisition-related

costs as incurred valuing non-controlling interests at fair value at the acquisition date of controlling interest and expensing restructuring costs associated with

an acquired business The guidance also enumerated substantial number of new disclosure requirements These provisions of ASC 805 are to be applied prospectively

to business combinations for which the acquisition date is on or after January 2009 These provisions will have an impact on our accounting for any future business

combinations

In February 2007 the FASB issued guidance included in ASC Topic 825 Financial Instruments ASC 825 This guidance permits entities to choose to measure

many financial instruments and certain other items at fair value that are not currently required to be measured at fair value and establishes presentation and disclosure

requirements designed to facilitate comparisons between entities that choose different measurement attributes for similar types of assets and liabilities These provisions

of ASC 825 are effective for financial statements issued for fiscal years beginning after November 15 2007 We adopted these provisions of ASC 825 on January

2008
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STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION

Radiant has adopted equity incentive plans that provide for the grant of incentive and non-qualified stock options and restricted stock awards to directors officers and

other employees pursuant to authorization by the Board of Directors The exercise
price of all options equals the market value on the date of the grant In addition

Radiant provides employees stock purchase rights under its Employee Stock Purchase Plan ESPP The ESPP permits employees to purchase Radiant common stock

at the end of each quarter at 95% of the market price on the last day of the quarter Based on these terms the ESPP will not result in any future stock compensation

expense The Company has authorized approximately 18.2 million shares for awards of stock options and restricted stock of which approximately 1.0 million shares are

available for future grants as of December 31 2009

The Company accounts for equity-based compensation in accordance with FASB ASC Topic 718 CompensationStock Compensation ASC 718 which requires

the Company to measure the cost of employee services received in exchange for all equity awards granted including stock options and restricted stock awards based on

the fair market value of the award as of the grant date The estimated fair value of the Companys equity-based awards less expected forfeitures is amortized over the

awards vesting period on straight-line basis The non-cash stock-based compensation expense from stock options and restricted stock awards was included in the

condensed consolidated statements of operations as follows in thousands

Year ended December 31

2009 2008 2007

Cost of revenues systems 131 85 163

Cost of revenues maintenance subscription and transaction services so 71 64

Cost of revenues professional services 286 255 231

Product development 235 370 550

Sales and marketing 725 746 1016

General and administrative 3008 3119 1771

Total non-cash stock-based compensation expense 4465 4646 3795
Estimated income tax benefit 1611 1707 1180

Total non-cash stock-based compensation expense net of tax benefit 2854 2939 2615

Impact on diluted net income loss per share 0.09 0.09 0.08

The Company capitalized less than $0.1 million in stock-based compensation cost related to product development in each of the years ended December 31 2009 2008

and 2007

Stock Options

The exercise price of each stock option equals the market price of Radiants stock on the date of grant Most options are scheduled to vest equally over three or

four-year period or when certain stock performance requirements are met These stock performance requirements include provision that allows for early vesting if

certain stock price targets are met The Company recognizes stock-based compensation expense using the graded vesting attribution method Outstanding options expire

no later than ten years from the grant date The fair value of each option grant is estimated on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes-Merton option pricing model

The weighted average assumptions used in the model for the years ended December 31 2009 2008 and 2007 are outlined in the following table

2009 2008 2007

Expected volatility 69 70% 50-61% 47 49%

Expected life in years 3.4 3.4 3.4

Expected dividend yield 0.00% 0.00% 0.00%

Risk-free interest rate 1.6- 2.2% 1.3- 3.3% 3.3-5.0%
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The computation of the expected volatility assumption used in the Black-Scholes-Merton calculations for new grants is based on combination of historical and implied

volatilities When establishing the expected life assumption the Company reviews annual historical employee exercise behavior of option grants with similar vesting

periods The risk-free interest rate is based on the U.S Treasuly yield curve at the grant date using remaining term equal to the expected life of the option The total

expenses to be recorded in future periods will depend on several variables including the number of stock-based awards that vest pre-vesting cancellations and the fair

value of those vested awards

summary of the changes in stock options outstanding under our stock-based compensation plans during the years ended December 31 2009 and 2008 is presented

below in thousands except per share data

Weighted-

Average

Weighted- Remaining

Average Contractual Aggregate

Number of Exercise Term Intrinsic

Shares Price in years Value

Outstanding at December 31 2007 5798 10.34 4.01 42886

Granted 927 11.92

Exercised 232 7.13

Forfeited or cancelled 134 11.68
__________ _____________

Outstanding at December 31 2008 6359 10.66 3.25

Granted 538 3.68

Exercised 267 4.98

Forfeited or cancelled 755 17.78
__________ _____________

Outstanding at December31 2009 5875 9.37 3.30 14656

Vested or expected to vest at December31 2009 5818 9.39 3.28 14416

Exercisable at December31 2009 4455 51 98 10 278

Exercisable at December 31 2008 4385 10.58 3.11

The weighted average grant-date fair value of options granted during the years ended December31 2009 2008 and 2007 was $1.80 $4.57 and $4.59 respectively The

total intrinsic value the difference between the exercise price and the market price on the date of exercise of options exercised was approximately $1.5 million during

each of the years ended December31 2009 and 2008 and $7.5 million for the year ended December31 2007 The total fair value of options that vested during the

years ended December31 2009 and 2008 was approximately $3.6 million and $2.8 million respectively At December31 2009 2008 and 2007 the Company had

approximately 1.4 million 2.0 million and 1.8 million respectively unvested options outstanding with weighted-average grant-date fair value of $3.67 $5.86 and

$3.56 respectively None of the 1.4 million options that were unvested at December 31 2009 had vesting period based on stock performance requirements and of the

2.0 million options that were unvested at December 31 2008 there were 0.1 million options that had vesting period based on stock performance requirements The

unvested options have total unrecognized compensation expense of approximately $1.5 million at December 31 2009 net of estimated forfeitures which will be

recognized over the weighted average period of 0.9 years The Company recognized stock-based compensation expense related to employee and director stock options

equal to approximately $2.8 million $3.6 million and $3.8 million for the years ended December31 2009 2008 and 2007 respectively Cash received from options

exercised was approximately $1.3 million $1.7 million and $7.1 million during the years ended December 31 2009 2008 and 2007 respectively

Restricted Stock Awards

The Company awarded approximately 0.5 and 0.3 million shares of restricted stock to employees under the Amended and Restated 2005 Long-Term Incentive Plan for

the years ended December 31 2009 and 2008 respectively These restricted stock awards vest at various terms over three-year period from the date of grant The

weighted average grant-date fair value of restricted stock awards at December 31 2009 and 2008 was $3.91 and $12.20 per share respectively The Company

recognized stock-based compensation expense related to restricted stock awards equal to approximately $1.7 million and $1.0 million for the years ended December 31
2009 and 2008 respectively The unvested restricted stock awards had total unrecognized compensation expense as of December 31 2009 and 2008 equal to

approximately $2.5 million and $2.6 million respectively which will be recognized over 1.7 and 1.9 years respectively
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PRODUCT DEVELOPMENT EXPENDITURES

Product development expenditures for the years ended December 31 2009 2008 and 2007 are summarized as follows in thousands

2009 2008 2007

Total development expenditures 26347 28882 26173

Less amounts capitalized 4002 4088 2736

Product development expense 22345 24794 23437

The activity in the capitalized software development account during the years ended December 31 2009 and 2008 is summarized as follows in thousands

2009 2008

Balance at beginning of period net 9278 7231

Capitalized software development costs 4002 4088

Amortization expense 1470 1021
Impairment write-off 1020

Balance at end of period net 11810 9278

Amortization of capitalized software costs is included in system sales cost of revenues in the accompanying statements of operations
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ACQUISITIONS

Each of the acquisitions discussed below was accounted for using the purchase method of accounting as required by FASB ASC Topic 805 Business Combinations

ASC 805 Management concluded that the acquisitions of Orderman Jadeon and Hospitality EPOS were not considered material acquisitions under the provisions

ofASC 805

Acquisition of Orderman

On July 2008 the Company acquired Orderman GmbH Orderman one of the leading manufacturers of wireless handheld ordering and payment devices for the

hospitality industry Headquartered in Salzburg Austria Orderman has provided innovative mobile solutions since 1994 Orderman distributes its solutions through

reseller network of partners that have deployed their handheld devices predominately in Europe The total purchase price was approximately $33.0 million The

operations of the Orderman business have been included in the Companys consolidated results of operations and financial position from the date of acquisition The

results of these operations are reported under the Hospitality segment

The intangible assets acquired were valued by the Company utilizing customary valuation procedures and techniques The following is summary of the estimated fair

values of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed as of the date of the Orderman acquisition in thousands

Current assets 7797

Property plant and equipment 1750

Identifiable intangible assets 19 147

Goodwill 14763

Other assets 94

Total assets acquired 43551

Current liabilities 742

Long-term liabilities 4817

Total liabilities assumed 10

Purchase price 32992

As result of the Orderman acquisition goodwill of approximately $14.8 million was recorded and assigned to the Hospitality segment This includes subsequent

changes related to purchase price adjustments in which goodwill increased from the date of acquisition by approximately $1.6 million The goodwill is deductible for

tax purposes over period of 15 years The following is summary of the intangible assets acquired and the weighted-average useful life over which they will be

amortized in thousands

Weighted-

Purchased Average

Assets Useful Life

Core and developed technology 10 171 years

Reseller network 7086 years

Trademark 1890 Indefinite

Total intangible assets acquired 19147
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Acquisition of Jadeon

On May 2008 Radiant acquired substantially all of the assets of Jadeon Inc Jadeon wholly-owned subsidiary of innuity Inc and one of the Companys
resellers in California Headquartered in Irvine just

outside Los Angeles Jadeon had been delivering and supporting Radiants hospitality point-of-sale solutions since

2001 The total purchase price was approximately $7.3 million The operations of the Jadeon business have been included in the Companys consolidated results of

operations and financial position from the date of acquisition The results of these operations are reported under the Hospitality segment

The intangible assets acquired were valued by the Company utilizing customary valuation procedures and techniques The following is summary of the estimated fair

values of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed as of the date of the Jadeon acquisition in thousands

Current assets 1368

Property plant and equipment 117

Identifiable intangible assets 1795

Goodwill 7766

Other assets 185

Total assets acquired 11231

Total liabilities assumed all of which were considered current 3967

Purchase price 7264

As result of the Jadeon acquisition goodwill of approximately $7.8 million was recorded and assigned to the Hospitality segment This includes subsequent changes

related to purchase price adjustments in which goodwill increased from the date of acquisition by approximately $0.8 million The goodwill is deductible for tax

purposes over period of 15 years The following is summary of the intangible asset acquired and the weighted-average useful life over which it will be amortized in

thousands

Weighted-

Purchased Average

Asset Useful Life

Customer relationships 1795 10 years

Total intangible asset acquired 1795
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Acquisition of Hospitality EPoS

On April 2008 the Company acquired Hospitality EPoS Systems Ltd Hospitality EP0S technology supplier to the U.K hospitality market since 1992

Headquartered in Kent England just outside London Hospitality EPoS provided capabilities
for sales implementation and support services and represented Radiants

suite of Aloha products The total purchase price was approximately $6.1 million The operations of the Hospitality EPoS business have been included in the

Companys consolidated results of operations and financial position from the date of acquisition The results of these operations are reported under the Hospitality

segment

The intangible assets acquired were valued by the Company utilizing customary valuation procedures and techniques The following is summary of the estimated fair

values of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed as of the date of the Hospitality EPoS acquisition in thousands

Current assets 486

Property plant and equipment 1672

Identifiable intangible assets 2250

Goodwill 3099

Total assets acquired 507

Current liabilities 1564

Long term liabilities 821

Total liabilities assumed 2385

Purchase pnce 122

As result of the Hospitality EPoS acquisition goodwill of approximately $3.1 million was recorded and assigned to the Hospitality segment This includes subsequent

changes related to purchase price adjustments in which goodwill increased from the date of acquisition by approximately $0.1 million The following is summary of

the intangible asset acquired and the weighted-average useful life over which it will be amortized in thousands

Weighted-

Purchased Average

Asset Useful Life

Direct customers 250 10 years

Total intangible asset acquired 2250
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Acquisition of Quest

On January 2008 the Company acquired Quest Retail Technology Pty Ltd Quest privately held company based in Adelaide Australia Quest is global

provider of point-of-sale and back office solutions to stadiums arenas convention centers race courses theme parks and various other industries The total purchase

price was approximately $53.4 million The operations of the Quest business have been included in the Companys consolidated results of operations and financial

position from the date of acquisition The results of these operations are reported under the Hospitality segment

The intangible assets acquired were valued by the Company utilizing customary valuation procedures and techniques The following is summary of the estimated fair

values of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed from the Quest acquisition in thousands

Current assets 2959

Property plant and equipment 448

Identifiable intangible assets 17797

Goodwill 37430

Other assets 285

Total assets acquired 58919

Current liabilities 5211

Long-term liabilities 317

Total liabilities assumed 528

Purchase price 53391

As result of the Quest acquisition goodwill of approximately $37.4 million was recorded and assigned to the Hospitality segment This includes subsequent changes

related to purchase price adjustments in which goodwill decreased from the date of acquisition by approximately $2.6 million The following is summary of the

intangible assets acquired and the weighted-average useful lives over which they will be amortized in thousands

Weighted-

Purchased Average

Assets Useful Lives

Core and developed technology 033 years

Reseller network 4208 15 years

Trademarks and tradenames 997 Indefinite

Customer list 4471 10 years

Backlog 88 months

Total intangible assets acquired 17797

The two schedules and commentary above do not reflect the write down of goodwill and certain intangible assets associated with Quest as further explained in Note

to the consolidated financial statements During the year ended December 31 2009 the Company recognized non-cash charges of approximately $17.0 million and $3.9

million related to the impairment of Quests goodwill and trademarks/tradenames respectively These charges are not reflected above since these schedules represent

the purchase price allocation on the date of acquisition reflecting only subsequent purchase accounting adjustments
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GOODWILL AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS

In accordance with FASB ASC Topic 350 IntangiblesGoodwill and Other ASC 350 we c1assi purchased intangibles into three categories goodwill

finite-lived intangible assets subject to amortization and indefinite-lived intangible assets Goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible assets are not amortized As

required by ASC 350 these assets are reviewed for impairment on at least an annual basis as further described in Note to the consolidated financial statements under

the caption Goodwill and Intangible Assets

Goodwill

Goodwill is recognized when the consideration paid for business acquisition exceeds the fair value of the assets acquired including tangible and intangible assets The

Companys annual impairment analysis completed on January 2010 indicated that the estimated fair value of our Quest reporting unit was less than the carrying

amount at that time The estimated fair values of the Companys other reporting units were sufficiently higher than their respective canying values thus indicating no

impairment concerns We proceeded with the second step of the impairment analysis to estimate the hypothetical purchase price allocation of Quests assets and

liabilities based on the estimated fair value The canying value of certain intangible assets were then adjusted down to reflect the estimated fair value per the

hypothetical purchase price allocation

The residual amount of goodwill that resulted from this hypothetical purchase price allocation was then compared to the cariying amount of goodwill to estimate the

amount of the goodwill impairment Based on the preliminary results of our analysis we estimated the impairment to be approximately $17.0 million However this

amount could change when the valuation analysis is completed This non-cash charge has been reflected in the consolidated financial statements for the year ended

December 31 2009 and it does not affect our income taxes cash flows liquidity or compliance with our debt covenants

The Companys annual impairment analyses completed on January 2009 and 2008 indicated no impairment and accordingly there were no goodwill impairment

charges for the years ended December31 2008 and 2007

Changes in the carrying amount of goodwill for the years ended December 31 2009 and 2008 are as follows in thousands

hospitality Retail Total

Gross goodwill 40003 28555 68558

Accumulated impairment losses 2252 3920 6172

BALANCEDecember3l2007 37751 24635 62386

Goodwill resulting from acquisitions see Note 62993 62993

Adjustment related to revaluation of intangible assets see Note 2981 2.98

Adjustments related to change in contingent liabilities see Note 3929 3.929

Adjustments related to change in deferred income tax liabilities of acquisitions see Note 5283 5283
Currency translation adjustments related to acquisitions 10.849 928 11.777

Gross goodwill 93774 27627 121401

Accumulated impairment losses 2.252 3920 6172

BALANCEDecember3l2008 91522 23707 115229

Impairment charge for Quest 17008 17.008
Purchase price adjustments related to Orderman Hospitality EPoS and Jadeon see Note 217 217
Currency translation adjustments related to acquisitions 8801 1.014 9.815

Gross goodwill 102358 28641 130.999

Accumulated impairment losses 19260 3.920 23180

BALANCE December 312009 83098 24721 107819
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fntaiigibk Assets

Intangible assets recorded in connection with business acquisitions are stated at their fair value determined as of the date of acquisition less accumulated amortization

if applicable These assets consist of finite-lived and indefinite-lived intangibles including core and developed technology customer relationships noncompete

agreements and trademarks and tradenames Amortization of finite-lived intangible assets is recognized on straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives As

described within the Goodwill caption above the carrying value of certain indefinite-lived intangible assets associated with our Quest reporting unit was in excess of

the estimated fair value per the estimated hypothetical purchase price allocation We therefore recorded an estimated impairment charge of approximately $3.9 million

for the year ended December 31 2009 This amount is subject to change when the valuation analysis is completed The non-cash charge has been reflected in the

consolidated financial statements and it does not affect our income taxes cash flows liquidity or compliance with our debt covenants There were no impairment

charges associated with the Companys intangible assets during the years ended December 31 2008 and 2007

summary of the Companys intangible assets as of December 31 2009 and 2008 is as follows in thousands

December 31 2009 December 312008
Weighted

Average Gross Gross

Amortization Carrying Accumulated Carrying Accumulated

Lives Value Amortization Value Amortization

Core and developed technology Hospitality 3.8 years 25798 15862 25021 13691
Reseller network Hospitality 12.4 years 19866 5553 18906 3775
Direct sales channel Hospitality 10 years 3600 2145 3600 1785
Covenants not to compete Hospitality 3.8 years 1750 1655 1750 1600
Trademarks and tradenames Hospitality Indefinite 4220 6928

Trademarks and tradenames Hospitality years 300 254 300 194
Customer list and contracts Hospitality 7.6 years 13825 4606 12782 2274
Backlog Hospitality months 92 92 92 92
Core and developed technology Retail

years 3800 3800 3800 2850
Reseller network Retail

years 5200 3467 5200 2600
Subscription sales Retail years 1400 1400 1400 1050
Trademarks and tradenames Retail

years 700 467 700 350
Other 7.8 years 2021 843J 2021 611

Total intangible assets 82572 40144 82500 30872

Amortization expense related to intangible assets was approximately $9.3 million $7.9 million and $4.3 million for the years ended December 31 2009 2008 and

2007 respectively

The table below summarizes the approximate amortization expense assuming no future acquisitions dispositions or impairments of intangible assets for the following

12-month periods subsequent to December 31 2009 in thousands

2010 8915

2011 7619

2012 5370

2013 4414

2014 4058

Thereafter 7832

38208
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DEBT

Prior to January 2008 the Company had senior secured credit facility with Wells Fargo Foothill Inc the WFF Credit Agreement The WFF Credit Agreement

provided for extensions of credit upon satisfaction of certain conditions in the form of revolving loans in an aggregate principal amount of up to $15 million and term

loan facility in an aggregate principal amount of up to $31 million The revolving loan amount available to the Company was derived from monthly borrowing base

calculation using the Companys various accounts receivable balances The amount derived from this borrowing base calculation was further reduced by the total

amount of letters of credit outstanding Loans under the WFF Credit Agreement bore interest at the Companys option at either the London Interbank Offering Rate

LIBOR plus two and one half percent or the prime rate of Wells Fargo Bank N.A

The WFF Credit Agreement was scheduled to expire on March 31 2010 however it was refinanced on January 2008 upon the execution of the credit agreement

with JPMorgan Chase Bank N.A as arranger and JPMorgan Chase Bank N.A SunTrust Bank Bank of America Guaranty Bank and Wachovia Bank NA as

lenders the JPM Credit Agreement The JPM Credit Agreement and subsequent amendments thereto provide for extensions of credit upon satisfaction of certain

conditions in the form of revolving loans in an aggregate principal amount of up to $80 million and term loan
facility

in an aggregate principal amount of up to $30

million The Company has the right to increase the revolving credit commitment by up to $25 million subject to the terms and conditions set forth in the JPM Credit

Agreement As of December 31 2009 aggregate borrowings under this facility totaled $62.0 million comprised of $42.0 million in revolving loans and $20.0 million

in term loan facility borrowings As of December 31 2009 revolving loan borrowings available to the Company were equal to $38.0 million

The JPM Credit Agreement is guaranteed by the Company and its subsidiaries and is secured by the assets of the Company and its subsidiaries The maturity date of the

1PM Credit Agreement is January 2013 Interest accrues on amounts outstanding under the loan
facility at the Companys option at either LIBOR plus margin

ranging between 1.25% and 2.00% based upon the Companys consolidated leverage ratio as defined or the higher of the administrative agents prime rate or

one-half of one percent over the federal funds effective rate plus margin ranging between 0.25% and 1.00% based on the Companys consolidated leverage ratio as

defined The JPM Credit Agreement contains certain customary representations and warranties from the Company It also contains customary covenants including use

of proceeds limitations on liens limitations on mergers consolidations and sales of the Companys assets and limitations on related party transactions In addition the

JPM Credit Agreement requires the Company to comply with various financial covenants including maintaining leverage and fixed charge coverage ratios as defined

The leverage ratio covenant limits the Companys consolidated indebtedness to multiple of three times its consolidated earnings before interest taxes depreciation

and amortization EBITDA as determined on pro forma basis over the prior four quarters The fixed charge coverage ratio requires the Company to maintain the

ratio of its consolidated EBITDA as determined on pro forma basis less capital expenses to its fixed charges which includes regularly scheduled principal payments
consolidated interest expense taxes paid or payable in accordance with GAAP and restricted payments to at least 1.2 to for periods ending in 2008 1.3 to for

periods ending in 2009 and 1.35 to thereafter The 1PM Credit Agreement also contains certain customary events of default including defaults based on events of

bankruptcy and insolvency nonpayment of principal interest or fees when due subject to specified grace periods breach of specified covenants change in control and

material inaccuracy of representations and warranties The Company was in compliance with its financial and non-financial covenants as of December 31 2009

Borrowings and repayments under the Companys revolving credit facility for the years ended December 31 2008 and 2007 previously presented erroneously on net

basis in the consolidated statements of cash flows have been corrected and are presented on gross basis in the accompanying consolidated statements of cash flows in

order to conform with ASC 230-10-45-9 formerly FASB Statement No 95 Statement of Cash Flows The correction to present borrowings and repayments on our

revolving credit facility on gross basis was not material to our financial statements and had no impact on our previously reported net income changes in shareholders

equity financial position or net cash flows from financing activities

In the third quarter of 2008 the Company assumed research and development loans with the Austrian govermnent in the amount of $0.1 million in conjunction with the

acquisition of Orderman bearing interest at approximately 2.50% which were repaid in the third quarter of 2009 In the fourth quarter of 2008 the Company entered

into an additional research and development loan with the Austrian government in the amount of $0.7 million bearing interest at approximately 2.50% As of

December 31 2009 $0.6 million had been drawn on this loan This loan matures on March 31 2013

In the second quarter of 2008 the Company assumed approximately $0.3 million for two promissory notes in conjunction with the acquisition of Hospitality EPoS The

notes were held by the Bank of Scotland and the interest was approximately 7.50% The notes were paid in full during the fourth quarter of 2008

In the fourth quarter of 2005 the Company issued approximately $4.1 million in notes payable related to the acquisition of MenuLink The interest on the notes was

calculated based on the prime rate and payments for both principal and interest were made in equal installments over 36-month period The notes were paid in full

during the fourth quarter of 2008

In the second quarter of 2005 the Company entered into an amended and restated promissory note in the amount of $1.5 million with the previous shareholders of

Aloha Technologies Inc acquired by the Company in January 2004 During the fourth quarter of 2005 the Company modified the amended promissory note by

reducing the $1.5 million principal amount to approximately $1.0 million The decrease was the result of agreed upon purchase price adjustments The principal on this

note was originally agreed to be paid over the course of the third and fourth quarters of 2008 and the first quarter of 2009 but was paid in full during the first quarter of

2008 in conjunction with the execution of the 1PM Credit Agreement
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The folloo ing ic summary af long Leirn debt and the related balances of December 31 3009 and 7008 in thowands

Description of Debt 2009 2008

Revolving credit loan under the 1PM Credit Agreement bearing interest at LIBORIprime rate plus the applicable margin as defined 1.81% as

of December 31 2009 maturing on January 2013
42000 72000

Term loan under the 1PM Credit Agreement bearing interest at LIBOR plus the applicable margin as defined 1.81% as of December 31

2009 maturing on January 2013 20000 26000

Research and development loans from the Austrian government bearing interest at approximately 2.50% maturing on various dates through

December31 2013 626 466

Total 62626 98466

Less Current portion of long-term debt 6000 6081

Long-term debt net of current portion 56626 92385

Approximate annual maturities of notes payable that were outstanding at December31 2009 are as follows in thousands

2010 6000

2011 6000

2012 6000

Thereafter 44626

Balance December31 2009 62626
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OTHER CHARGES AND INCOME

Impairment Charge for Acquired Intangible Assets

During the fourth quarter of 2009 the Company recorded non-cash impairment charge of $3.9 million to write off portion of certain indefinite-lived intangible assets

associated with the January 2008
acquisition

of Quest Since the acquisition was completed poor economic conditions have led to decline in Quests revenues and

future growth is now expected to be slower than originally anticipated The write off amount is based on an estimate and could change when our valuation analysis is

completed The determination of the charge followed the Companys annual review of its goodwill for impairment as described further in Note to the consolidated

financial statements

Impairment Charge for Cap italized Soft ware

The Company evaluates the recoverability of capitalized software development costs on an annual basis or whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that

the canying amount of the asset may be less than its net realizable value The Companys annual evaluation of capitalized software development costs on January

2009 resulted in an impairment charge of approximately $1.0 million during the fourth quarter of 2008

Write-off of Third-Party Software Licenses

During the first quarter of 2009 the Company determined that it would not use certain third-party software licenses and recorded write-off charge of $0.5 million as

result

Severance and Restructuring Charge

During the first quarter of 2009 the Company recorded charge of $0.7 million related to severance costs and restructuring of the organization During the fourth

quarter of 2008 the Company recorded charge of $0.4 million related to severance and restructuring of the organization These charges resulted from efforts to align

the Companys cost structure with its revenues in light of the severe economic downturn that began in the second half of 2008

Sale of Land

During the fourth quarter of 2008 the Company sold an undeveloped parcel of land containing 16.7 acres for approximately $4.2 million The sale resulted in cash

proceeds equal to approximately $3.9 million and the recognition of net gain of $1.4 million

Sale of Building

During the first quarter of 2009 the Company sold building for cash proceeds of approximately $0.2 million net gain of approximately $0.1 million was recognized

as result of this transaction

Lease Restructuring Charges Brookside II Building Alpharetta Georgia

During the third quarter of 2008 Radiant amended sublease agreement for certain facilities located in Alpharetta Georgia in order to reduce future operating costs In

accordance with FASB ASC Topic 420 Exit or Disposal Cost Obligations ASC 420 the Company recorded lease restructuring charge based on the fair value

of the remaining lease payments at the amendment date less the estimated sublease rentals that could reasonably be obtained from the property The restructuring

charges were not attributable to any of the Companys reportable segments

This amendment resulted in restructuring charge of approximately $2.1 million in the third quarter of 2008 which consisted of $1.3 million for construction allowance

and $0.4 million of lease restructuring reserves and $0.4 million of sub-lease commissions associated with the amendment to the sublease As of December 31 2009

approximately $0.4 million related to the lease commitments remained in the restructuring reserve to be paid The Company anticipates the remaining payments will be

made by the first quarter of 2013 lease expiration The table below summarizes the activity
in the

restructuring reserve in thousands

Short-Term Long-Term Total

Balance December 312008 847 401 248

Construction allowance payments 625 625
Payments charged against restructuring reserve 39 168 207

Balance December 312009 183 233 416
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Lease Restructuring charges Alexander Building Alpharetta Georgia

During the third quarter of 2005 the Company decided to consolidate certain facilities located in Alpharetta Georgia in order to reduce future operating costs This

resulted in the abandonment of one facility
which formerly housed the Companys customer support call center The

restructuring charges were not attributable to any

of the Companys reportable segments In accordance with ASC 420 the Company recorded lease restructuring charge based on the fair value of the remaining lease

payments at the abandonment date less the estimated sublease rentals that could reasonably be obtained from the property

This consolidation resulted in restructuring charge of approximately $1.5 million in the third quarter of 2005 which consisted of $1.2 million for facility

consolidations and $0.3 million of fixed asset write-offs associated with the facility consolidation As of December 31 2009 approximately $0.2 million related to the

lease commitments remained in the
restructuring reserve to be paid The Company anticipates the remaining payments will be made by the fourth quarter of 2010 lease

expiration The table below summarizes the activity in the restructuring reserve in thousands

Short-Term Long-Term Total

Balance December 31 2008 182 154 336

Payments charged against restructuring reserve 154 156

Balance December 312009 180 180

Financing Costs Related to Long-Term Debt

Costs associated with obtaining long-term debt are deferred and amortized over the term of the related debt The Company incurred financing costs in 2005 related to

the Wells Fargo Foothill Inc senior secured credit facility the WFF Credit Agreement and other long-term debt agreements The costs were deferred and were

being amortized over thiee years In conjunction with the termination of the WFF Credit Agreement as described in Note write-off of the remaining financing costs

and early termination penalties resulted in charge of approximately $0.4 million in the first quarter of 2008

Forward Exchange Contracts

The Company records derivatives namely foreign exchange contracts on the balance sheet at fair value The gains or losses on foreign currency forward contracts are

recorded in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations The Company does not use derivative financial instruments for speculative or trading purposes

nor does it hold or issue leveraged derivative financial instruments The Company recognized gain during the second quarter of 2008 of approximately $0.5 million

related to forward exchange contract in conjunction with the acquisition of Orderman The Company recognized gain during the first quarter of 2008 of

approximately $0.3 million related to foreign exchange contract in conjunction with the acquisition of Quest The Company recognized gain of approximately $0.8

million during the fourth quarter of 2007 related to forward exchange contract in conjunction with the acquisition of Quest

Due Diligence Costs

During the second quarter of 2007 the Company wrote off $1.2 million in accounting tax and legal due diligence fees in connection with the termination of proposed

acquisitions The Company determined that such acquisitions would not take place

ACCRUED LIABILITIES

The components of accrued liabilities at December 31 2009 and 2008 are as follows in thousands

2009 2008

Accrued wages benefits and related taxes 2748 2802

Accrued professional services 2669 2251

Bonus and externallinternal commissions payable 9900 6291

Other accrued liabilities 8145 5859

23462 17203
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10 INCOME TAXES

The following summarizes the components of the income tax provision in thousands

Year ended December 31

2009 2008 2007

Current taxes

Federal 3132 2093 317

State 790 707 339

Foreign 798 1990 480

Deferred taxes 2100 265 4986

Income tax provision 6820 6055 8822

Our domestic and foreign loss income from continuing operations before income taxes is as follows in thousands

Year ended December 31

2009 2008 2007

U.S 24357 11661 19093

Foreign 26935 5.422 1572

2578 17083 20665

The total tax provision is different from the amount that would have been recorded by applying the U.S statutory federal income tax rate to income from continuing

operations before taxes Reconciliation of these differences is as follows

2009 2008 2007

Statutory federal tax rate 35% 35% 35%

State income taxes net of federal tax benefit 20.3 1.9 1.9

Foreign taxes 25.2 4.3 1.0

Meals and entertainment 5.1 1.1 0.5

Valuation allowance on deferred tax assets 244.4 2.3 0.2

Rate change 2.2 0.1 1.5

Increase in tax contingencies 2.2 0.1 0.3

Goodwill impairment 28.1 0.0 0.0

Research and development 1.9 0.0 0.0

Foreign expenses 6.1 0.0 0.0

Manufacturing deduction 12.2 0.0 0.0

Prior period items 8.0 0.0 0.0

Incentive stock option compensation 0.9 .2

Other to
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The components of the defewed income tax assets and liabilities as of Decernbct 31 2009 and 2008 are as follows in thousands

December 31

2009 2008

Deferred income tax assets

Inventory reserve 1995 2256

Allowance for doubtful accounts 1520 1733

Depreciation 555 1250

ASC 718 expense non qualified options 4447 3050

Accrued expenses 1431 852

Deferred rent 732 838

Net operating loss carryforward 1901 938

Research credit 972

State credit 374 391

Foreign tax credit 577 465

Alternative minimum tax credit 281

Quest goodwill and intangible asset impairment 5650

Other 2244 3270

Gross deferred income tax assets 21426 16 296

Valuation allowance 7623 1022

Total deferred mcome tax assets net 13803 15 274

Deferred income tax liabilities

Goodwill and intangible assets 11055 10 358

Net deferred income tax asset 2748 4916

Our deferred income tax assets and liabilities at December 31 2009 and 2008 are included in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets as follows in thousands

December 31

2009 2008

Current deferred income tax assets 5690 7982

Deferred income tax assets non-current 1323

Deferred income tax liabilities non-current 4265 30
Net deferred income tax assets 2748 4916

At December 31 2009 the Company had state net operating loss canyforwards of approximately $8.2 million and foreign net operating loss carryforwards of

approximately $6.3 million At December 31 2008 the Company had state net operating loss carryforwards of approximately $8.9 million and foreign net operating

loss carsyforwards of approximately $2.0 million Certain tax loss carryforwards ifnot utilized against taxable income expire from 2013 to 2028 Certain other net

operating losses carryforward indefinitely

In addition the Company has research and development state foreign and alternative minimum tax credits available to offset future taxes payable The amounts at

December 31 2009 totaled approximately $1.0 million $0.4 million $0.6 million and $0.5 million respectively The amounts at December 31 2008 included research

and development state foreign and alternative minimum tax credits totaling approximately $3.1 million $0.4 million $0.5 million and $0.5 million respectively The

research and development tax credits expire between 2012 and 2014 The state tax credits and foreign tax credits expire between 2010 and 2011 and 2012 and 2013

respectively The alternative minimum tax credits canyforward indefinitely

The Company uses the with-and-without or incremental approach for ordering tax benefits derived from the share-based payment awards Using the

with-and-without approach actual income taxes payable for the period are compared to the amount of tax payable that would have been incurred absent the deduction

for employee share-based payments in excess of the amount of compensation cost recognized for financial reporting As result of this approach tax net operating loss

cariyforwards and other deferred tax assets not generated from share-based payments in excess of cost recognized for financial reporting are considered utilized before

the current periods share-based deduction

The Company has excess tax benefits related to current and prior year stock option exercises subsequent to the adoption of ASC 718 of approximately $14.7 million of

which approximately $4.6 million and $5.5 million have not been recorded as deferred tax asset as of December 31 2009 and 2008 respectively as the amounts have

not yet resulted in reduction in current taxes payable The benefit of these deductions will be recorded to additional paid-in-capital at the time the excess tax benefit

results in reduction of current taxes payable

valuation allowance is recorded when it is more likely
than not that some portion or all of the deferred tax assets will not be realized The ultimate realization of the

deferred tax assets depends on the ability of the Company to generate sufficient taxable income of the appropriate character in the future and in the appropriate taxing

jurisdictions As of December 31 2009 and 2008 the Companys valuation allowance established for the tax benefit that may not be realized totaled approximately

$7.6 million and $1.0 million respectively At December 31 2009 the valuation allowance related to state and foreign tax credit canyforwards of approximately $0.4

million and $0.6 million respectively and $6.6 million of valuation allowance related to the amortization and impairment of Australian intangibles and goodwill At

December 31 2008 the valuation allowance related to foreign tax credits and amortization of Australian intangibles of approximately $0.5 million each
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U.S income and foreign withholding taxes have not been provided for cumulative undistributed earnings of foreign subsidiaries and equity investees The Company

intends to reinvest these earnings for the foreseeable future If these amounts were distributed to the U.S in the form of dividends or otherwise or if the shares of the

relevant foreign subsidiaries were sold or otherwise transferred we would be subject to additional U.S income taxes subject to an adjustment for foreign tax credits

and foreign withholding taxes Determination of the amount of unrecognized deferred income tax liability related to these earnings or investments is not practicable

The Company adopted the alternative transition method provided in FASB ASC Subtopic 718-740 CompensationStock CompensationIncome Taxes ASC
718-740 for calculating the tax effects of stock-based compensation The alternative transition method includes simplified methods to establish the beginning balance

of the additional paid-in capital pool APIC pool related to the tax effects of employee stock-based compensation and to determine the subsequent APIC pool and

consolidated statement of cash flows of the tax effects of employee stock-based compensation awards that were outstanding upon adoption of ASC 718-740 Using this

methodology we had no beginning balance in the APIC pool

Including the cumulative effect increase at the end of 2009 the Company had approximately $2.3 million of total gross unrecognized tax benefits The Company does

not expect that the amount of unrecognized tax benefits will change significantly within the next 12 months The total amount of unrecognized tax benefit that if

recognized would affect the effective tax rate is approximately $1.6 million $1.4 million and $1.5 million including interest and penalties for the periods ended

December 31 2009 2008 and 2007 respectively

The following reconciliation summarizes the total gross unrecognized tax benefits in thousands

Year ended December 31

2009 2008 2007

Beginning Balance 2424 2291 2291

Gross change tax positions of current period 198

Gross change for tax positions of prior year

Settlements with taxing authorities

Lapse of statute of limitations

Ending balance 2344 2424 2291

The Company and its subsidiaries are subject to U.S federal income tax as well as income tax of multiple state and foreign jurisdictions For U.S federal and most state

jurisdictions tax years 1997 and after are open for examination primarily due to net operating losses and other tax attribute carryforwards Foreign tax years are open

for examination as follows Austria 2006 and after Australia 2005 and after China 2008 Luxembourg 2008 and the United Kingdom 2008 The Company is

not currently under examination by any income taxing jurisdiction

The Companys continuing practice is to recognize interest and/or penalties related to income tax matters in income tax expense The Company has accrued

approximately $0.5 million and $0.4 million in interest associated with uncertain tax positions for the periods ended December 31 2009 and 2008 respectively
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11 COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

Leases

The Company leases office space equipment and certain vehicles under noncancelable operating lease agreements expiring on various dates through 2017 Total rent

expense under operating leases was approximately $5.1 million $5.4 million and $4.8 million for the years ended December 31 2009 2008 and 2007 respectively The

Company leases various equipment under capital leases that expire on various dates through December 2012 Aggregate future minimum lease payments under the

capital leases noncancelable operating leases in effect as of December 31 2009 and noncancelable operating leases which commenced subsequent to December 31
2009 are as follows in thousands

Capital Operating

2010 925 5561
2011

449 4640
2012 146 4714
2013 16 2721
2014

2417
Thereafter

4725

Total
1536 24778

Less Amount representing interest 118

Net present value of minimum lease payments 1418

Less Current portion of capital lease 842

Long term portion of capital lease obligation 576

The schedule above includes the future minimum lease payments related to facilities that are being subleased The total minimum rentals to be received in the future

under noncancelable subleases as of December 31 2009 are approximately $1.9 million in 2010 $1.5 million in 2011 $1.5 million in 2012 and $0.1 million in 2013

Employment Agreements

The Company has certain contractual obligations related to individuals who are employees of the Company and/or its subsidiaries summary of these obligations is as

follows

All regular non-U.S personnel are employed under written contracts as is customary in the countries where we have operations outside the U.S

Five individuals in the U.S have written employment agreements that expire at various dates through mid-2011 Termination prior to the expiration

of such agreements may depending on the reason for termination require the Company to incur severance expenses related to the termination

Four individuals outside the U.S have non-standard employment agreements that expire in mid-2010 The special provisions of these agreements

stipulate that neither the Company nor the employee will terminate employment prior to their expiration

Legal Mailers

Radiant is and has been involved in legal proceedings arising in the normal course of business Management is of the opinion based upon presently available

information and the advice of counsel concerning pertinent legal matters that any resulting liability should not have material adverse effect on the Companys
financial position results of operations or cash flows

Purchase Commitments

The Company has entered into certain noncancelable purchase orders for manufacturing supplies to be used in its normal operations The aggregate anticipated

payments related to these purchase orders are approximately $10.8 million in 2010
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12 SHAREHOLDERS EQUITY

Treasury Stock

Over the course of the history of the Company the Board of Directors has authorized stock repurchase program This program has been renewed several times by the

Board of Directors and the Company has repurchased and subsequently retired approximately 4.1 million shares of its common stock for total consideration of

approximately $35.0 million under the repurchase program In 2007 the Board of Directors of the Company authorized re-commencement of the Companys stock

repurchase program authorizing the repurchase of up to 1.0 million shares at price not to exceed $25.00 per share through November 2009 The Company did not

repurchase any shares under its repurchase program during the years ended December 31 2009 2008 or 2007

Preferred Stock

In January 1997 the Company authorized 5000000 shares of prefeffed stock with no par value The Companys Board of Directors has the authority to issue these

shares and to fix dividends voting and conversion rights redemption provisions liquidation preferences and other rights
and restrictions
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13 EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

Stock-Based Compensation Plans

Employee Stock Purchase Plan

During 1998 the Companys Board of Directors adopted with shareholder approval the 1998 Employee Stock Purchase Plan the ESPP Under the ESPP the

Company is authorized to issue up to 2500000 shares of Radiants common stock to its qualified employees who originally were eligible to purchase shares at 85% of

the appropriate market price every six months Originally the purchase price of the stock was the lower of the market price in effect on the day the offering started or

the day the offering terminated The ESPP was suspended on December 31 2005 in an effort to reduce future stock compensation expense The Company reinstated the

ESPP during 2006 on terms that permit employees to purchase Radiant common stock at the end of each quarter at 95% of the market price on the last day of the

quarter Based on these terms the reinstated ESPP will not result in any future stock compensation expense

In 2009 2008 and 2007 the Company issued approximately 31000 shares 28000 shares and 9000 shares under the ESPP at an average price of $7.36 $6.16 and

$14.15 per share respectively As of December 31 2009 there were approximately 932000 shares available for future issuance under the ESPP

Directors Stock Option Plan

During 1997 the Companys Board of Directors adopted with shareholder approval the Non-Management Directors Stock Option Plan the Directors Plan for

non-management directors of the Company under which the Company could grant options to purchase up to 150000 shares of Radiants common stock to

nonemployee directors of the Company Options were granted at an exercise price not less than fair value as referenced to quoted market prices Initial grants to new

directors were exercisable over three years while annual grants were exercisable six months after the grant date Options granted under the Directors Plan expire ten

years from the date of grant During 2002 the Directors Plan was amended to increase the number of options available for grant to 300000 shares as well as to

increase the grant to non-employee director upon initial appointment to 25000 from 15000 and the annual grant to 10000 from 5000 The Company has not granted

any options under this plan during the last three years As of December 31 2009 the Company has granted approximately 335000 options under the Directors Plan of

which 37500 have been exercised and 62500 have been cancelled This plan was replaced with the Amended and Restated 2005 Long-Term Incentive Plan described

below

1995 Stock Option Plan

The Companys 1995 Stock Option Plan the 1995 Plan as amended was approved by shareholders and authorized the issuance of up to 13000000 incentive and

nonqualified stock options to key employees Options were granted at an exercise price not less than fair value as determined by the Board of Directors and became

exercisable as determined by the Board of Directors generally over period of four to five years Options granted under the 1995 Plan expire ten years from the date of

grant This plan was replaced with the Amended and Restated 2005 Long-Term Incentive Plan described below

Amended and Restated 2005 Long-Term Incentive Plan

Effective April 25 2005 the Amended and Restated 2005 Long-Term Incentive Plan LTIP was adopted by the Companys Board of Directors and subsequently

approved by shareholders The LTIP replaced both the 1995 Plan and the Directors Plan and became the only plan for providing stock-based incentive compensation to

directors and employees of the Company other than the ESPP which remains in effect Options previously granted under the 1995 Plan and the Directors Plan remain

exercisable in accordance with the terms of the respective plans The LTIP provides for the grant of incentive stock options non-qualified stock options stock

appreciation rights restricted stock performance units and phantom stock The LTIP previously authorized the issuance of up to 2500000 shares of the Companys

common stock and the maximum that may be granted in the form of stock options and stock appreciation rights to any one employee in any calendar year is 250000

During 2008 the LTIP was amended to increase the number of shares available for issuance under the LTIP to 4500000 shares No grants may be made under the

LTIP subsequent to April 24 2015 As of December 31 2009 the Company has granted awards for the issuance of 3750881 shares under the LTIP of which 44251

have been exercised and 213382 shares have been cancelled

Employee Savings Plan

The Company has 401k profit-sharing plan the 401k Plan available to all employees of the Company who have attained age 21 The 401k Plan includes

salary deferral arrangement pursuant to which employees may contribute minimum of 1% and maximum of 80% of their salary on pretax basis up to $16500 in

2009 If an employee is age 50 or older they may be eligible for catch-up contribution of up to $5500 in 2009 The Company may make both matching and additional

contributions at the discretion of the Companys Board of Directors The Company made contributions of approximately $0.1 million $1.6 million and $1.4 million

during 2009 2008 and 2007 respectively Effective January 2009 the Company temporarily suspended its matching contributions to the 40 1k Plan in an effort to

reduce operating costs
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The following table sets forth the range of exercise prices number of shares weighted average exercise price and remaining contractual lives by groups of similar price

and grant date for stock options outstanding as of December 31 2009 in thousands except weighted average price
and remaining contractual life

Options Outstanding Options Exercisable

Weighted

Weighted Average Weighted

Average Remaining Average

Number of Exercise Contractual Number of Exercise

Range of Exercise Price Shares Price Life Years Shares Price

$325 $466 1553 399 510 941 444

$5.23 -$9.33 1469 7.26 2.74 1454 7.24

$935 $1294 1179 1163 286 857 1160

$13.00 -$14.38 1297 13.86 2.49 830 13.60

$1527 $4558 377 1720 216 373 1721

Total 5875 9.37 4455 9.51

Securities Authorized for Issuance Under Equity Compensation Plans

The following table provides information for all equity compensation plans as of the fiscal year ended December 31 2009 under which the equity securities of the

Company were authorized for issuance in thousands except weighted average price

Number of Securities

Remaining Available

Number of Securities to Weighted-Average for Future Issuance

be Issued Upon Exercise Exercise Price of Under Equity

of Outstanding Options Outstanding Options Compensation Plans

Equity Compensation Plans

Approved by Shareholders

1995 Stock Option Plan 2923 8.21

1997 Non-Management Directors Stock Option Plan 235 9.66

1998 Employee Stock Purchase Plan 932

2005 Long-Term Incentive Plan 2717 10.59 999

Not approved by shareholders

Total 5875 9.37 1931
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14 SEGMENT REPORTING DATA

The Companys reportable segments were identified based on the manner in which management reviews operating results and makes decisions regarding the allocation

of the Companys resources Each segment focuses on delivering site management systems including point-of-sale self-service kiosk and back-office systems

designed specifically
for each of the core vertical markets The Companys segments derive revenues from the sale of products including system software and

hardware and services including customer support maintenance training custom software development hosting and implementation services

The Company operates in two primary segments Hospitality and iiRetail The Companys chief executive officer makes operating decisions based on information

for these two segments The accounting policies of the segments are substantially the same as those described in the summary of significant accounting policies

Management evaluates the performance of the segments based on net income or loss before the allocation of certain central costs summary of the key measures for

the Companys reportable segments is as follows in thousands

Revenues

Amortization of intangible assets

Product development

Net income before allocation of central costs

Goodwill

Other identifiable assets

For the year ended December 31 2007

Hospitality Retail All Other Total

Revenues 170512 80518 2168 253198

Amortization of intangible assets 2000 2283 18 4301

Product development 13632 4410 18042

Net income before allocation of central costs 35607 17087 52694

Goodwill 37751 24635 62386

Other identifiable assets 58190 36817 1169 96176

For the year ended December 31 2009

Hospitality Retail All Other Total

215716 68771 2981 287468

6504 2529 232 9265

14647 3825 18472

16738 15142 81 31961

83098 24721 107819

116990 19948 1296 138234

For the year ended December 31 2008

Hospitality Retail

Revenues 225014 73053

Amortization of intangible assets 5350 2317

Product development 16707 4413

Net income before allocation of central costs 36762 10549

Goodwill 91 522 23 707

Other identifiable assets 105666 23729

All Other Total

3509 301576

235 7902

21120

47311

115229

1340 130735
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The reconciliation of product development expense allocated to reportable segments to total product development expense for the years ended December 31 2009 2008

and 2007 is as follows in thousands

December 31

2009 2008 2007

Product development expense for reportable segments 18472 21120 18042

Indirect product development expenses unallocated 3873 3674 5395

Product development expense 22345 24 794 23 437

The reconciliation of net income before the allocation of central costs from reportable segments to net income loss for the years ended December 312009 2008

and 2007 is as follows in thousands

2009 2008 2007

Net mcome for reportable segments 31961 47 311 52 694

Central corporate expenses unallocated 41359 36283 40851

Net loss mcome 9.39 11 028 11 843

The reconciliation of other identifiable assets to total assets as of December 31 2009 and 2008 is as follows in thousands

December 31

2009 2008

Other identifiable assets for reportable segments 138234 130735

Goodwill for reportable segments 107819 115229

Central corporate assets unallocated 42544 57578

Total assets 288597 303542

Revenues not associated with the Companys Hospitality and Retail segments are comprised of revenues from hardware sales outside the Companys segments

The Company distributes its technology both within the United States of America and internationally Revenues derived from within the United States of America were

approximately $240.9 million $259.1 million and $219.7 million for the years ended December 31 2009 2008 and 2007 respectively The Company currently has

international offices in Australia Austria China Czech Republic Singapore Spain and the United Kingdom We have more than 600 international resellers who

market and support one or more of our product lines in Africa Asia Australia Europe Latin America the Middle East and South America Geographic revenue

information is based on the location of the
selling entity Revenues derived from international sources were approximately $46.6 million $42.5 million and $33.5

million for the years ended December 31 2009 2008 and 2007 respectively At December 31 2009 and 2008 the Company had international identifiable assets

including goodwill of approximately $101.6 million and $107.7 million respectively of which approximately $72.3 million and $82.0 million respectively are

long-lived assets

The segment reporting data presented above may not reflect actual performance and actual asset balances had each segment been stand-alone entity Furthermore the

segment information may not be indicative of future performance
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15 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

As result of the Synchronics acquisition which occurred in the first quarter of 2006 the Company entered into fiveyear lease agreement for property located in

Memphis Tennessee which was the headquarters of Synchronics with Jeff Goldstein Investment Partnership Mr Goldstein was the previous owner of Synchronics

and was employed by the Company On April 30 2007 the Company terminated Mr Goldsteins employment This termination of employment was on mutual basis

As result all subsequent transactions occurring between the Company and Mr Goldstein are no longer considered related party transactions

16 SUPPLEMENTARY QUARTERLY FINANCIAL INFORMATION Unaudited

The following tables set forth certain unaudited financial data for each of the Companys last eight calendar quarters The information has been derived from unaudited

consolidated financial statements that in the opinion of management reflect all adjustments consisting only of normal recurring adjustments necessary for fair

presentation of such quarterly information The operating results for any quarter are not necessarily indicative of the results to be expected for any future period Net

income loss per share is computed independently for each of the quarters presented As such the summation of the quarterly amounts may not equal the total net

income loss per share reported for the year Results for 2008 include the results of Quest Hospitality EPoS Jadeon and Orderman from the related dates of acquisition

in thousands except per share data

Quarter ended

Mar31 June30 Sep30 Dec31
2009 2009 2009 2009

Total revenues 67603 71132 70940 77793

Gross
profit 31907 34463 33196 35953

Net income loss 1029 3179 3421 17027

Net income loss per share

Basic 003 010 010 051
Diluted 0.03 0.09 0.10 0.51

Quarter ended

Mar 31 June 30 Sep 30 Dec 31
2008 2008 2008 20082

Totalrevenues 70159 73772 82354 75291

Gross
profit 30608 32132 34937 31385

Net mcome 420 4046 645 917

Net income per share

Basic 11 13 005 006

Diluted 0.10 0.12 0.05 0.06

The Company recognized non-cash impairment charge of approximately $20.9 million $0.63 per basic common share related to the goodwill and certain

intangible assets associated with our Quest acquisition in the fourth quarter of 2009

The Company recognized gain on the sale of land of approximately $1.4 million $0.04 per diluted common share in the fourth quarter of 2008 This gain was

offset by charge of approximately $0.4 million $0.01 per diluted common share related to severance and restructuring of the organization and charge of

approximately $1.0 million $0.03 per diluted common share related to impairment of capitalized
software project
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ITEM CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AN FINANCIAL DISCLOSURES

Not applicable

ITEM 9A CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

The Company has established disclosure controls and procedures to ensure that material information relating to the Company including its consolidated subsidiaries is

made known to the officers who certify its financial reports
and to other members of senior management and the Companys board of directors

Based on their evaluation as of December 31 2009 the principal
executive officer and principal fmancial officer of the Company have concluded that the Companys

disclosure controls and procedures as defined in Rules 3a-1 5e and 5d-1 5e under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 are effective to ensure that the information

required to be disclosed by the Company in the
reports

that it files or submits under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 the Act is recorded processed

summarized and reported within the time periods specified in SEC rules and forms Disclosure controls and procedures include without limitation controls and

procedures designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed by the Company in the reports that it files or submits under the Act is accumulated and

communicated to the Companys management including its principal executive and principal financial officers or persons performing similar functions as appropriate

to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure

Manacements Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

The Companys management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting as such term is defined in Exchange Act

Rule 3a- 15f The Companys management including its principal executive officer and principal financial officer conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of its

internal control over financial reporting based on the framework in Internal ControlIntegrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations

of the Treadway Commission The scope of managements assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting includes all of our businesses

Based on its evaluation under the framework in Internal ControlIntegrated Framework the Companys management concluded that the Companys internal

control over financial reporting was effective as of December 31 2009

The Companys independent registered public accounting firm Deloitte Touche LLP has issued its report on the effectiveness of the Companys internal control

over financial reporting

During the year ended December 31 2009 there were no changes in the Companys internal control over financial reporting that have materially affected or are

reasonably likely to materially affect the Companys internal control over financial reporting
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accountjne Firm

To the Board of Directors and Shareholders of

Radiant Systems Inc

Aipharetta Georgia

We have audited the internal control over financial reporting of Radiant Systems Inc and subsidiaries the Company as of December31 2009 based on criteria

established in Internal Control Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission The Companys

management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial

reporting included in the accompanying Managements Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the

Companys internal control over financial reporting based on our audit

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board United States Those standards require that we plan and

perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects Our audit

included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting assessing the risk that material weakness exists testing
and evaluating the design and

operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances We
believe that our audit provides reasonable basis for our opinion

companys internal control over financial reporting is process designed by or under the supervision of the companys principal executive and principal financial

officers or persons performing similar functions and effected by the companys board of directors management and other personnel to provide reasonable assurance

regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting

principles companys internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that pertain to the maintenance of records that in reasonable

detail accurately and
fairly

reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as

necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles and that receipts and expenditures of the company

are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company and provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or

timely detection of unauthorized acquisition use or disposition of the companys assets that could have material effect on the financial statements

Because of the inherent limitations of internal control over financial reporting including the possibility of collusion or improper management override of controls

material misstatements due to error or fraud may not be prevented or detected on timely basis Also projections of any evaluation of the effectiveness of the internal

control over financial reporting to future periods are subject to the risk that the controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions or that the degree of

compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate

In our opinion the Company maintained in all material respects effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31 2009 based on the criteria

established in Internal Control Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission

We have also audited in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board United States the consolidated fmancial statements and

financial statement schedule as of and for the year ended December 31 2009 of the Company and our report dated March 11 2010 expressed an unqualified opinion on

those financial statements and financial statement schedule

/s/DELOITTE TOUCHE LLP

Atlanta Georgia

March 11 2010
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DIRECTORS REGISTRAR AND TRANSFER AGENT

Alon Goren Computershare Investor Services LLC

Chairman 250 Royall St

Chief Technology Officer Canton MA 02021

John Heyman
Director INDEPENDENT AUDITORS
Chief Executive Officer

Deloitte Touche LLP
James Balloun

Atlanta GA
Director

Retired Chairman and

Chief Executive Officer

Acuity Brands Inc
LEGAL COUNSEL

Alexander Douglas Jr
Smith Gambrell Russell LLP

Director Atlanta GA

President of Coca-Cola North America

The Coca-Cola Company

FORM 10-K
Michael Kay

Director
Copies of the Companys Form 10-K filed with the Securities and

Retired President and Chief Executive Officer

Exchange Commission are available without charge upon request to
LSG Sky Chefs

Investor Relations

William Clement
Radiant

Systems Inc
Director

3925 Brookside Parkway
President and Chief Executive Officer

Alpharetta GA 30022-4429
Atlanta Life Financial Group wwradiantsystems.com

Donna Lee

Director

Retired Chief Marketing Officer Business Markets
ANNUAL MEETING

ellSouth Corp
The Annual

Meeting
of Stockholders of Radiant Systems Inc will be

Member of the Audit Committee held on May 272010 1000 a.m at the offices of Radiant Systems

Member of the Compensation Committee Inc 3925 Brookside Parkway Alpharetta GA 30022

Member of the Nominating and

Corporate Governance Committee

DIVIDEND POLICY

EXECUTIVE OFFICERS
The Company currently anticipates that all of its earnings will be

retained for development of the Companys business and does not
John Heyman

Chief Executive Officer
anticipate paying any

cash dividends in the foreseeable future Fu

ture cash dividends if any will be at the discretion of the Companys

Board of Directors and will depend upon among other things the
Mon Goren

Companys future earnings operations capital requirements
and

Chief
Technology Officer

surplus general financial condition contractual restrictions and such

other factors as the Board of Directors may deem relevant
Andrew Heyman
Chief

Operating Officer

Mark Haidet

Chief Financial Officer



lgPIfthIjJ1b1ikPA


